INSCRIPTION ON WINDOW

On September the 22d, 1788, a large company of Kentuckians, headed
by Col. Patterson and John Filson, crossed the Ohio River and were
met by Judge Symmes, Israel Ludlow and Matthias Denman, who
came from Limeston on what is now the public landing. They dedi-
cated the city by the name of Losantiville with appropriate ceremonies.
On January 2d, 1790, Governor St. Clair arrived and made Losantiville
the county town, naming it Cincinnati, after the newly founded
society of that name.






N2, D2N
MAY 8 1903

Copyright, 1902
by
NATIONAL CASH REGISTER COMPANY
Dayton, Ohio

Ta18 BOOK WA8 ILLUBTRATED,
ARRANGED AND PRINTED BY
Tae WINTEROP PRESS, 32 AND
34 LAFPAYETTE PLACE, NEW
York, U. 8. A. DECORATIVE
DEesigNs BY Davis ScCHWARTZ,
Dayron, OmRI0O : : : : :




7
P27
jA°T

“ THERE is a moral and philosophical respect for our
ancestors which elevates the character and improves
the heart. Next to the sense of religious duty and moral
feeling, I hardly know what should bear with stronger
obligation on a liberal and enlightened mind than a con-
sciousness of an alliance with departed worth.”

Daniel Webster.




FOREWORD

B) F our petitions sometimes read “ From
the offenses of our forefathers, good
Lord deliver wus,” the antithesis
-should also not be absent—* Of the
virtues of our forefathers, Lord make
us not unmindful.” That phantas-
mal influence called noblesse oblige
v has held more than one young man
to the stern and unexpected demand of dyty when noth-
ing else could, and no legacy is so stimulating to send down
to the third and fourth generations as the record of pure
living, high thinking and deeds of self sacrifice. That we
in America' have .been, until lately, so careless of family
history, is a reproach that we are slow in wiping out.

This book is an attempt to set forth the plain history of
a double family line, whose representatives, both past and
present, belong to what Plato calls “the treasure honor-
able of hereditary worth.” As such, it is dedicated to
the two youngest inheritors of the name,

FrREDERICK BECK PATTERSON
AND

DoroTrEY FORSTER PATTERSON,
with the hope that they will remember that

‘ He who to ancient wreaths can bring no more
From his own worth, dies bankrupt on the score.”

1x
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INTRODUCTION

HE diversified character of the subject-
4 matter in this book, dealing, as it
does, with two sets of family names,
makes anything like literary unity im-
possible. There were two grandfathers,
one an Indian fighter and one an Indian
D sympathizer, whose life histories are here
. written for the interest of their descendants.
While not renowned in a national sense, for statesman-
ship or generalship, they certainly had, each of them, a share
in shaping the history of the Great Northwest. One,
with indomitable courage, pursued through campaign after
campaign in Kentucky, Ohio and Illinois the aboriginal race
that blocked the way of civilization; the other, by his
careful judgment, saved the United States the wasting of
both money and blood, and foresaw future conditions with
unerring vision.
1




2 CONCERNING THE FOREFATHERS

In the preparation of this book, the Patterson and John-

ston memoirs, as found in personal narrative and correspond-
ence, have been supplemented and verified by wills and
court records and by such historical and genealogical litera-
ture as the Libraries, both East and West, could furnish.
The only absolutely reliable source of biographical material
is personal narrative, and the Patterson family may be con-
gratulated that it possesses in comparative completeness
the actual story of each grandfather.
e The material from which the four chapters relating to the
Johnstons are compiled comes largely from. a paper read
by John Johnston in his old age before the Ohio His-
torical Society at Cincinnati, in which he relates the cir-
cumstances of his journey to America and of his public
service; and from the recollections of his daughter, Julia
Johnston Patterson, transcribed at her dictation shortly before
her death, at the instance of her son, John Henry Patterson,
for the benefit of his children. Colonel Johnston was a con-
tributor to Cist’s Miscellany, published in Cincinnati in 1830,
and his papers therein found are full of valuable records of
his experience in early Ohio days. He contributed also to
Howe’s History of Ohio, of deserved local renown. His com-
munications to the War Department as found in the Ohio
Archives have yielded much of interest relating to his
attempts to solve the Indian problem in Ohio from 1818
to 1842.

The chapters relating to the Pattersons are from widely
scattered memoranda. Col. Robert Patterson in 1816 wrote
a sketch of his life for his son-in-law, Rev. Dr. James Welsh,
who intended preserving in proper form the record of so
remarkable a career. Had he done so, this book, it is need-
less to say, would have been a rich storehouse of experience.
But Dr. Welsh moved to Indiana and the work stopped,
leaving only fragments of narrative such as Patterson’s
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journey up the Ohio River when he was wounded by the
Indians; his part in George Rogers Clark’s- Illinois Cam-
paign; the Dunmore War; the Logan and Bowman Miami
Campaigns, and the purchase and founding of Cincinnati.

No one now living knows what became of the original
life sketch. Some ten years later, when Robert Patterson
was confined to his home with the beginning of what was
his last illness, he re-wrote the sketch in part. It is from
portions of the first sketch copied in an old memorandum
book owned by John Patterson of Shaker Village (a cousin
who wished to add it to his own memories), and from copies
made of the second sketch by Harriet Nisbet and Dr. Hug-
gins, that the most intimate of these chapters are written.
Culbertson Patterson, son of Shaker John Patterson, kept the
old book and in the early forties Henry L. Brown borrowed
it and made copies, adding thereto the narrative of his
mother, Catherine Patterson Brown. All of these papers are
now in the possession of her grandson, Ashley Brown, and
have been largely used in the compilation of this volume.

Pennsylvania Historical Notes, Western Annals and
Biographical Sketches show how Robert Patterson served
on the danger line for twenty-five years, with loaded rifle
in ready reach night and day for instant service. The
brothers John, Francis and William are found enrolled in
the Pennsylvania and Virginia reserves for the entire period
of the Revolution, William at the age of sixty participating
in the battle of the Cowpens under Colonel Morgan; Francis
aged sixty-two, and John, sixty-five, being in emergency
camps.

Evidence of the services of the elder Pattersons and
their sons in Colonial and Revolutionary times, was gathered
by Robert Patterson on the advice of his friend and attor-
ney, Henry Clay, and, with additional evidence, was filed
by Mr. Clay in the War Office at Washington in support

A



4 CONCERNING THE FOREFATHERS

of Colonel Patterson’s appeal for a grant of land. Kenton,
Boone and others made similar efforts for recognition of
their services and achievements. This influenced Congres-
sional action in passing an enabling measure in April, 1806.

At the outbreak of the War of 1812 a pension was
granted Colonel Patterson of three hundred dollars a year,
but this having been allowed only from date of application,
he at once filed a claim for arrears, involving a repetition of
the tedious work of gathering evidence, as the original claim
and papers had been destroyed by the British in the burning
of Washington in 1814.

To secure additional evidence as to his services in the
years 1770 to 1775, Colonel Patterson encouraged one of his
sons, Robert L. or Jefferson, in 1824 or ’25, to visit among
relatives in Virginia and Pennsylvania, calling also on such
army associates as he might direct, to secure the desired
testimony. Statements were gotten from Colonel Shepherd,
who lived near Wheeling; Col. Joseph Tarance (Torrence or
Lawrence), of near Connellstown, Pa., and from others in
Bedford and Lancaster counties. The sworn statements of
Gen. George Rogers Clark, Simon Kenton and others as
to Robert Patterson’s services in the Dunmore expedition
to the Pickaway Plains were sent to Mr. McClain in the
fall of 1826 with certified copy of portions of young Pat-
terson’s diary on the trip, and are now to be found among
the old records at Washington.

Ashley Brown says:— -

“ Harriet Nisbet and Doctor Huggins agreed in understandmg that it
was in 1825 or 26 that one of the Colonel’s sons, presumably Jefferson,
made the horseback trip for evidence in support of the pension claim
filed by Senator McClain in 1828, and that the journey ‘covered several
wonths, crossing through Zanesville to Wheeling, up the Ohio River to
Pittsburg, thence to Ligonier and Bedford, spending much time around
his grandfather Patterson’s old home farm at head of the Big Cove, fifteen
or twenty miles southeast of Bedford. Carrying letters from Captain

e mam ——
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Nisbet he called upon Gen. William Young, one and a half miles out of
Chambersburg, Mrs. Young and Captain Nisbet being first cousins. He
met many of his mother’s relatives in Franklin County, Pa., then
crossing Maryland, forded the Potomac into Virginia to visit among
descendants of his grand-uncle, William Patterson.’

“Returning via Lancaster County, he visited the Patterson relatives
on ‘Sweet Arrow ’ farm. The information gathered upon this trip the
Colonel transmitted to his daughter, Catherine Patterson Brown, and his
cousin, John (Shaker) Patterson, and it forms the basis of the early
story of the Pattersons. '

“In preparing this application for arrears and the affidavits necessary,
the Colonel was assisted by his son-in-law, Rev. James Welsh, who, be-
ginning in 1816, did the necessary corresponding until his removal from
Dayton. He collected and compiled the facts of early Patterson history,
beginning with preparations for leaving Ireland, the landing of John and
Robert at or near New London, Connecticut, slow journey South, final
settlement in Pennsylvania, then the scattering of the family as the boys
and girls grew up.

“Many of these valuable papers have been destroyed, but those that
remained after the death of Colonel Patterson and of James Welsh came
into the possession of Catherine Patterson Brown, who added to them by
recording many reminiscences which she had heard her father narrate, and
also her own recollection of the home in Lexington, the moving to Dayton
in 1804, and the family life at Rubicon Farm.”

Mrs. Julia J. Patterson remembered that the pension

.claim was allowed, and the treasury draft for something

over eighteen hundred dollars was received by the executors
of Colonel Patterson’s will and distributed among the heirs.

The late Dr. R. D. Huggins, of West Alexandria, into
whose hands as executor under the will of Dr. Robert Pat-
terson Nisbet passed the papers in the estates of William
and Captain Nisbet, and who also possessed the Patterson
papers left by William Nisbet, had been reared in the Nisbet
family, practised medicine with Dr. Nisbet, and was very
familiar with Patterson history. He also contributes in-
teresting details.

William Nisbet, above referred to, was a boy friend and
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neighbor of Robert Patterson in Pennsylvania, the executor
of his will and father of Elizabeth Patterson’s husband. His
associations with the Patterson family reached back to the
years at Sweet Arrow Farm in Lancaster County and at
the Bedford Spring home under Cove Mountain. He told
of Robert’s boyhood and marriage and the trip West; his
son Captain Nisbet wrote the story.down, and it was preserved
by Harriet Nisbet. These also are among the Henry L.
Brown papers.

Copies of many papers which were destroyed by fire in
Washington were lent by the late Jefferson Patterson to
Lyman C. Draper of Madison, and are preserved in the
Wisconsin Historical Society Library and have been carefully
examined. Among them the memoranda left by Jefferson
Patterson, of his father’s statement of the family names and
number of children in the different branches, being com-
pared with records of the Pattersons in County Donegal,
Ireland, help to fix the descent from families on the other
side.

The Court House records at Lexington, Kentucky, yielded
much information in regard to the land which Robert
Patterson pre-empted, his father’s will, and various straight-
enings-out of family relationships.

Litigation was the bread of life to those early settlers,
and the records and old letters are full of it. Robert
Patterson had sometimes six lawsuits on his hands at
once, lasting from two to twenty years. The cases were
almost without exception disputes about land boundaries.
Upon a correct title to his land depended all the fortune
a settler had, and his prospects for his children. A row of
blazed trees marked the first claim, and if the claimant’s
blazed trees ran across the defendant’s blazed trees, that
meant a lawsuit. The Court Houses of every State in the
Middle West contain volumes of the proceedings in equity
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of the early courts, and all on the allimportant, ever-de-
batable land question.

It was from depositions made by Robert Patterson that
facts were learned of the deponent’s life in Kentucky from
1775 to 1804, such as his pre-emption of land for himself
and his father, the date of the removal of his father and
step-mother and their younger children to the frontier, and
the death of his father in 1801. The lawsuit was between
Francis Patterson and John Bradford, “the Benjamin Frank-
lin of the West,”” as he is called in the histories, and the
depositions are recorded in the old Lexington Court House.

The best sources of original information to the historian
are old family letters. As they are the most valuable, so
they are the most difficult to deal with, and require large
patience and research. The Pattersons were wise in their
painstaking preservation of family correspondence. Nine
bulky scrap-books were furnished the writer to use as seemed
best in the compilation of this history. It seemed a gold
mine . at first sight; but investigation was discouraging.
In the first place, everything had been kept; not only old
letters, but party invitations, wedding cards, bills of lading,
recipes for eye water, notices of stray cows, receipts for pew
rent, newspaper clippings that had little to do with the
Pattersons above ground or below, and directions how to
keep moths out of woolens. These were fastened in by pins
that clung fast to the pages with rust forty years old.

Some of the old letters would make a purist weep. A
legislative friend writes to Robert Patterson from Virginia
that “ The Assembly are still setting.”” Other correspondents
write of “shuggar trees,”” “Divine grase” and a “cegg
of butter.” They inclined to spell general and gentleman
with a “j” and journey with a “g.” Proper names suf-
fered the same uncertainty. Daniel Boone spelled his name
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as often without as with the final “e.” Kentucky school
boys who are now old men know that there used to be
a tree near Jonesboro which bore the inscription cut with a
jack-knife—“D. Boon cilled bar here.” The name of the
state was Kantucke, Kaintucke, Cantucky or Caintuckky,
indifferently. “Battertart” turns out to be Boutetourte and
“Dady” was Governor Shelby’s way of alluding tohis father.
Orthography was an independent process, owing no alle-
giance to any school or method. The best one could say
of the pioneers in this respect was that they shot straighter
than they spelled, which, after all, was the fundamental
necessity in those days.

The pioneers made their own ink. The wonder is that
it yields up anything after one hundred and twenty-five
years. Paper was scarce and high priced. A sheet had to
hold all it could and leave place for the sealing wax to
tear its way through the third page. We search up and
down these cramped and closely written pages to find some
details of every-day life that would serve to rehabilitate
for their descendants the lives of these forefathers and
foremothers. We begin at the top left-hand corner and
find “Respected Sir” squeezed in a space an inch long.
The signature tells us that this is a brother writing to a
brother; a son to a father. Surely we shall find here
some family affairs; some incidents in these lives that to
us are surrounded by a sort of halo. We dig out word
by word all down the first page,—and the second,—and the
third, to find,—what? Why, their views on Eternal Punish-
ment or the Trinity. The state of Infant Damnation occu-
pies a large part of many of these early letters. Perhaps
after three pages of close-writ theological dialectics we may
find interpolated as an afterthought, “On Sunday morning
last my dear Rebecca (or Catherine or Margaret, as the
case might have been) presented me with a fine son.”



T e S -

INTRODUCTION 9

This does not prove that these men were hard hearted or
indifferent to household affection. On the contrary, they
were devoted to their wives and babies; but whether it
was the fact that custom forbade much expression of emo-
tion, or that the arrival of another son in a Patterson family
was of such frequent occurrence, it did certainly seem that
what was happening to the new-comer on earth was of
less moment than his destiny in the great Beyond.

No apology seems necessary for introducing so largely
into this book the narratives word for word as they flowed
from the quill pens of the old people who wrote them. If
the writers sometimes rambled or told things twice, we still
assume that their homely diction gives a dignity to the story
which the language of a mere historian could never do.
And it must be remembered that the audience on the
other side of the foot-lights is not the general reading
public (literary critics with sharpened pencils on the front
row), but an audience of loving grandchildren unto the
fourth and fifth generation, to whom every personal touch
is precious,—the ego of the buried yet living dead.

* * * * * * *

The published sources of information in regard to the
Patterson and Johnston families were found in the follow-
ing books: Pioneer Biography, McBride; Life Among the
Indians, J. B. Finley; American Archives; History of the
Presbyterian Church in Kentucky, Davidson; The Filson
Society Publications; The Choir Invisible, James Lane Allen;
Bradford’s Notes on Kentucky; The Virginia Calendar;
History of Fayette County, Kentucky; American Ancestry;
Archseologia Americana; Historical Sketch of the Shawanee
Indians, Eggleston; Life and Times of Lewis Cass; Rem-
iniscences of Bishop Philander Chase; Magazine of American
History; Colling’ History of Kentucky; Ranck’s History of
Lexington, Kentucky; American Pioneers, Vol. II; Cincin-
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nati, by Charles Cist; Cist’s Miscellany ; Land Owners of
Great Britain; Surtee’s Society Publications; Douglass’ Peer-
age of Scotland; New Statistical Account of Scotland;
Genealogical Account of the Family of Johnstons; His-
torical Families of Dumfriesshire and the Border Wars;
Pennsylvania Magazine; Cincinnati’s Beginning; Romance
of Western History; Cyclopedia of American Biography;
Magazine of Western History; Munsell’s Genealogical Rec-
ord; Roosevelt’s Winning of the West; Lyman C.. Draper’s
Collection, Wisconsin Historical Society Library; Virginia
State Papers; Lexington, Ky., Court Records.

Thanks are due to Col. R.. T. Durrett of Louisville,
Ky., for the generous use of his library; to A. A. Thomas,
Esq., of Dayton; to Miss Electra C. Doren, of the Dayton
Public Library; to Mr. W. H. Polk, of Lexington, Ky.; to
Mr. G. M. Whicher, of New York, and to Mr. Frederic K.
Conover, of Madison, Wis., for valuable advice and assist-
ance in the preparation of the book.

Dayton, Ohio, January, 1902, C. R. C
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MRS. JULIA JOHNSTON PATTERSON AND HER ANCESTORS

“ Within the bounds of Annandale
The gentle Johnstons ride;
They have been here a thousand years,
And a thousand more they’ll abide.”

OLp SoNa.

N May twenty-ninth, 1897, there
passed away a woman the record
of whose life will bear exceeding
interest, not only for her immediate

descendants, but for many people in

Dayton and elsewhere. A character of
great strength, she stands for a type rapidly
disappearing in the more complex elements of modern
society; one which it is well to recall and dwell upon.
The eighty-six years of Julia Johnston Patterson’s life
stretched over the pioneer period of Ohio’s history to the
later social life of Dayton. She saw the procession of hu-
manity pass from the log cabin in the stockade fort to
the stately and beautiful homes of to-day; from the forest
wilderness to paved city streets; from the primitive hard-
ships of farm life half a century ago, to the present exist-
ence of luxurious comfort. She saw Indian wars and the
great Rebellion; the industrial development of this country
revealed itself, year by year, before her eyes, and she
who had been born in a stockade fort and studied at a ‘““dame
13 .
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school” in a log cabin, lived to see her grandsons in a uni-

versity. Her first journeys were on horseback through the

trackless Ohio 'woods; her latest, in a Pullman vestibuled

train through the State of New York. The carpets she

played on when a child were woven in a hand loom at home;

the lights were dipped candles, and the fabrics were spun

on a wheel, woven in a loom, and finished with thimble and

thread. From these primitive ways

and manners she lived to enjoy

the highest products of scientific

machinery and skilled labor.

She saw the introduction of

modern farming implements,

sewing machines, steam en-

gines, gas, electricity, street

and steam cars, the bicycle,

the telegraph, the ocean

cable, the long-distance tele-

phone, and the phonograph.

Mrs. Patterson was an in-

teresting talker and loved to

dilate upon these contrasts in her

life and to repeat anecdotes and

reminiscences. Her physiognomy

was a striking one, carrying with it the impression of strong

character. She wore a cap according to the lovely old

fashion when age was not ashamed to confess itself, and the

eyes under it were commanding eyes which spoke with

authority. Her white hair, soft as silk and bright as satin

gloss, framed a face which was more beautiful with the

lines of old age than many a younger one. She had the

manner of a grande dame and stood as the head of the

family to her last days; another good old fashion now
gone out.

" MRS. J. J. PATTERSON
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Those who knew Mrs. Patterson well loved to recall her
personality, her vivacity, her interest in all that pertained
to life, especially to her own family history and connec-
tions. Whether she is remembered through the stretch of
years at the farm, where her open doors and bountiful table
made good cheer for her friends and her children’s friends;
or during the later years in her city home, where she
accepted her increasing age as did the patriarchs of old,
with dignity and serenity, Mrs. Patterson will be a beau-
tiful memory ; for she was a fine gentlewoman, a devoted and
generous mother, a firm friend and a true Christian.

During the closing moments of her last illness, when
already separated in soul from the present time and sur-
roundings, Mrs. Patterson’s mind went back to the days
of her childhood in Piqua. She lost count of the years
lying between, and was a little girl again in the block-
house with her mother. Raising herself upon one arm, she
exclaimed, “The Indians! The Indians! they are coming

to the Fort.”
* * * * * * *

Since the chronicle of her life is for the benefit of her
grandchildren, and will be, in the end, not only a biog-
raphy but a family history, it is necessary to begin with
the earlier generations of the family to which Mrs. Patter-
son belonged and to trace the lineal descent of this re-
markable woman.

The parish of Johnston in Annandale lies in the County
of Dumfriesshire on the extreme southern border of Scot-
land. It is six miles long and three broad. The River
Annan makes its eastern boundary and all around it is
begirt with woodland ridges of the Cheviot Hills and
washed by the waters of Solway Firth.

This spot of land, embedded between English and Scotch
territory and soaked with the history of both, was the home
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of the Johnstons as far back as tradition goes. They were,
as the Peerage of Scotland tells us, one of the chief
Scottish clans and “a race of brave and warlike men of
great authority and power on the border.”” They were
distinguished for their constant warfare with the English
Douglasses and a rival Scotch family, the Maxwells of
Nithesdale. The Scotch Johnstons, the ‘“bare-legged John-
stons,” have been called in ballad verse “sons of the
mist and morass’’; their vigor and bravery are the sub-
jects of many a legend of more or less authentic value.
The first Johnston was Sir John de Johnston, Chevalier
_of Annandale, 1296." In 1590, another Sir John had the
honor of knighthood conferred upon him at the Queen’s
coronation. He was murdered by John, eighth Lord Max-
well, and “fell much regretted, being a gentleman full of
wisdom and very well inclined.” These fatal compliments
were exchanged from time to time between the Maxwells
and the Johnstons. Few of either family lived to old age:
for the most part they died with their boots on, in the honored
fashion of the border. During the reign of Elizabeth, Sir
James Johnston was knighted and made ‘“warden of the
west marshes,” an office held more than once by the family
in the successive reigns of the sixteenth century. . _
An account of the parish of Johnston written in 1834 *

says that at that time there were only two families in the
parish—that of Johnston numbering one hundred and nine
souls, and of Halliday numbering forty-six. It further says:
“In this very populous rural parish, we have neither public
house, nor meeting house, nor resident surgeon, nor post office,
nor prison, nor lawyer, nor beggar,—specialties we humbly
conceive not to be found united in any parish of smaller
dimensions in Great Britain and which are daily prized by
us as distinguished blessings.” This goes to prove that the

* Statistical Account of Scotland.
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Johnstons of that century, in the old country at least,
inherited as firm a grip on their own ways of doing things
as their ancestors had upon their sword. hilts, and we shall
find that they have not lost that characteristic in later
days and domiciles.

During the earlier generations of Johnstons their crest
was a winged spur with a motto which expressed the same
idea in different words according to the branch of the
family which carried it. In some records we
find “Semper Paratus” (Ready? Aye, ready).
In others, it reads “Nunquam non Paratus”
(Never Unready). The latter motto is borne
by the present sons of Annandale, the Hope-
Johnstons. The legend respecting the crest
borne by this family is that the chief John-

ORIGINAL

ston, while at the Scotch court, hearing of an igrus or TaE
English king’s treachery in endeavoring to get  SCOTTISH

rid of Bruce in favor of Baliol, who was at that '*" o o>

time in the English court, sent him a spur with a feather
tied to it to indicate ‘flight with speed.” Bruce acted on
the hint, and afterwards, when King of Scotland, conferred
upon Johnston this crest.

But the “gentle Johnstons” did not all bide in Annan-
dale. In the latter part of the seventeenth century, two
brothers, James and Stephen Johnston, left the hills and
morasses of Dumfriesshire and followed King William to
Holland. In the year 1690 they again changed their abiding-
place, to take certain lands and titles in Ireland which were
granted to them by William III in consideration of their
gallant services at the battle of the Boyne. In John John-
ston’s papers after his death was found this item:

‘“ James Johnston, named in the following commission, was my great
great grandfather, came from Scotland into Ireland in the Royal
Army, and was the founder and head of our family in Ireland.”
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[Copy]

“ By the Lords Justices General of His Majesty’s Kingdom of Ireland,
Grafton Gallway to our Trusty and well beloved James Johnston, Gentle-
men, We reposing special trust and confidence as well in the care, diligence
and circumspection, as in loyalty, courage and readiness to do his Majesty
good and faithful service, have nominated and appointed said James
Johnston to be Quartermaster to Col. Morwyn Archdales Troop of
Dragoons, &c., &c. .

Given at His Majesty’s Castle of Dublin, second day of Nov.,
1715, &c., &c.”

(Signed)
CHAS. ELAFAGE.

Upon an island in a strait some miles in length con-
necting the Upper with the Lower Lough (Lake) Erne in
Fermanagh County is the town of Enniskillen. It is not
a very old town as age goes in the old country, having
been founded in the reign of King James the First. In
this parish, and four miles from the town, lived the two

ENNISKILLEN, IRELAND
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brothers Johnston, when after their continental military
adventures they found themselves landed gentlemen.

To James Johnston were given the Manor and lands
of Droumsluice, his crest being an outstretched arm
encased in armor and displaying the hand. To Stephen
Johnston, his brother, were given the lands of Goblusch.
The elder of these brothers; James Johnston, was the
direct ancestor of the Patterson family on the side of
Julia Johnston Patterson.

The annals of the parish of Enniskillen are full of John-
stons, for the brothers had large families; but the records
are scant in detail. We find in James’s line, three great-
grandsons, Stephen, John and Francis Johnston, Stephen
living at Ithe old manor of Droumsluice, four miles from Ennis-

PORTE HOTEL DE VILLE DE LA FERTE BERNARD

killen in the County of Fermanagh, Northwest Ireland.
This Stephen was the father of Col. John Johnston and the
grandfather of Mrs. Julia Johnston Patterson.

Either Stephen must have changed his residence later
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than this record, or John Johnston was mistaken in his
reminiscences, for the latter says (in Appleton’s Cyclopedia
Am. Biog., foot-note) that he (John) was born in Bally-
shannon, County Donegal, Ireland. At any rate the locali-
ties are so near as to be almost identical.

Stephen Johnston’s wife was Elizabeth

Bernard, a girl of French descent, of a

rich and influential family, and of liberal

education for those days. Her grand-

parents, having emigrated from France to

Ireland, settled in a home not far from

ARMS OF THE  Bgllintra and left her at their death a.

BERNARD FAMILY

fortune of ten thousand pounds sterling.
This marriage, an exceptionally happy one, was blessed
with six children, five boys and a girl, named respectively,
James, Francis, Stephen, William, Jokn, and Mary. John,
the fifth child and the subject of this sketch, was born in
March, 1775.

On June fourteenth, 1791, Stephen Johnston brought his
family to the United States, the son John having preceded
the family some time before. They left their estates of
Droumsluice and landed at Philadelphia on August twenty-
ninth, after a voyage of forty-four days. Stephen settled in
Pennsylvania near Tuscarora Creek, Mifflin County, where
he afterward died, and was buried in the latter part of the
last century. »

The widow, Elizabeth Bernard Johnston, with those
children yet unmarried, moved from Pennsylvania to Piqua,
Ohio, where she died at the ripe old age of ninety-three,
much beloved and respected. Her children married as fol-
lows: Stephen, to Mary Caldwell of Ohio; William, to Mary
Shaw of Kentucky; Francis, to Elizabeth Elliott of Penn-
sylvania; James, to Mary Adams of Pennsylvania; John,
father of Mrs. Patterson, to Rachel Robinson of Philadel-

e ———— — o ——
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phia. From now on, it is with the life and family of Col.
John Johnston, the fifth son of this Irish-French alliance,
that we have the greatest concern.
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CHAPTER 11

COL. JOHN JOHNSTON

“A good man’s character is the world’s common
legacy.”

OHN JOHNSTON was born, as he

has written, in Ballyshannon, County

Donegal, Ireland, in March, 1775,

leaving there when eleven years of

age to come to America. From a

brief summary of his career as a

citizen of the United States, we find him to have been,
from first to last, these several things: A clerk
in the War Department; Indian Agent for thirty-
one years; Canal Commissioner for Ohio for eleven years;
Paymaster and Quartermaster throughout the War of
1812; President of the Historical and Philosophical Society
of Ohio; author of the article on ‘“Indian Tribes
Ohio”;* founder of the first Sunday-school in Miami
County; first Lay Reader in the Southern Ohio Diocese of
the Episcopal Church; one of the founders of Kenyon Col-
lege; Trustee of Miami College in Oxford, and member of the
Visiting Board at West Point. He was also an accepted

*5th Vol. of American Antiquarian 8oc. Col.
25
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authority on all Indian affairs; he was familiar with their
language, religion, and war habits, and his articles con-
tributed to the Archzologia Americana and to Cist’s Mis-
cellany in 1845 contain much valuable material relative to
this decaying race.

His character may be conceived from words which he
penned more than fifty years ago and which are, in this
form, a lesson applicable to the more distant generation of
his descendants. Speaking of the members of the Johnston
family who had fought in the Revolutionary War under
General Washington, he says: ‘

“I humbly trust, as their blood flows in my veins, that the spirit
which guided them has still an abiding-place in my affections; for my
rule throughout a long life of more than four score years, in peace and
war, has invariably been to go for our country, no matter who might
govern it, and this lesson has been instilled into the minds of my children,
and so it was with their excellent mother who trained them up for God
and their country.”

Again,
his two
gallant
sons, who
perished
in the
Mexican
War, he
fortified
at  their
departure
with these

.words:

“You are

to know

nothing of

party or party men. Be faithful to your flag, and always
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- remember that the first and last duty

of a soldier is to keep a shut mouth
and obey orders.” .

The leading facts of John John-

ston’s life, briefly told, are these:*

He left Ireland when he was eleven

years of age in the company and nom-

inal care of a kind priest, a trusted

friend of the family and private tutor

to the children. There seems to have

been some objection on the part of the

mily to the young son’s taking so long a

urney, but his mother, knowing that he

as determined to go and having placed

m in so good hands, made no objection.

/1 manpowriting His father, mother, four brothers and one
sister remained for a time in Ireland.

John Johnston obtained a position in the War Depart-
ment at Philadelphia, under Henry Dearborn, the first Secre-
tary of War, through the assistance of his clerical patron,
and it was also said that his own beautiful handwriting was
a means to this end. The story is told that the priest took
the young boy John to the War Office in the hope of secur-
ing him a copyist’s desk, and introduced him to a Mr. Bird,
then in charge of the office. Mr. Bird directed the boy to
go to a desk near by and leave a sample of his handwriting.
Johnston did as he was bidden and was told to call th«
next day to learn the result. He did so and was de
lighted to find that he was himself to occupy that
desk in the future.

A proof that he made himself valuable to the
Department lies in the fact that later in life, when he
had been for many years out of the employ of the

*Compiled largely from the recolleotions of Colonel Johnston, and of his daughter,
Mrs. J. J. Patterson, ek
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Government, he was appointed United States Factor and
Indian Agent, where he continued to serve his country in
a clerkly capacity for many years. '

. Five years after John Johnston’s establishment in Amer-
ica, the remainder of the family followed him, and settled
_in Tuscarora County, Pennsylvania. Here, in 1795, the
father, Stephen Johnston, died, and the daughter married.
In the meantime, young John Johnston was meeting all sorts
of experiences to fit him for his later career. Several years
of his life were spent at Carlisle, Pennsylvania, where, in
the mercantile establishment of Judge John Creigh, which
was both a store and a recruiting office for the Indian wars,
he learned much that was to be valuable to him in the
future. Following the lamentable defeat of General St. Clair,

another army, under the gal-
lant General Wayne, wasbeing
recruited and sent out; Col.
Thomas Butler, who had been
wounded in the defeat of St.
Clair, and other officers who had
survived that bloody battle,
were stationed at Carlisle; and it
was most nat .t ural that their
descriptions of . the forests,
rivers and plains “.. of the far-dis-
tant Ohio Valley, - and of their
thrilling experi ences with the
savages, should have fired the
imagination of young Johnston

and made him long to have a hand in making the history
of his country.

An opportunity soon occurred. Saniuel Creigh was pre-
paring to go West with a stock of goods for sale to the tribes,
and Johnston begged to be allowed to accompany him. The
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journey from Carlisle to Pittsburg was made

entirely on foot, walking beside the loaded
wagons. It is appropriate here to make

use of a biographical sketch by this pioneer

- officer and gentleman of the early Ohio
civilization. It was written for the Pioneer «
Association of Cincinnati and read by him,
then a venerable man of eighty-two years,

on October eleventh, 1857. Colonel
Johnston’s own account of this expe- (/
rience is so much better than any
revised version, that we shall give it
verbatim for the edification of his great-
grandsons, none of whom will ever have to walk fifteen
miles a day, through winter snow, as a prelude to his set-
tlement in life:

“] was then in my seventeenth year, and the journey, performed in
the depth of winter, fifteen miles a day for loaded wagons, was considered
a good day’s work. The average for the whole trip per day would fall
short of that, such was the wretched condition of the roads in 1792.
There was not, at that period, a single mile of good turnpike in the State
of Pennsylvania. The mountain region was so thinly populated that the
local labor was entirely inadequate to keep the roads in any kind of repair.
The settlers west of the mountains transported their supplies of salt, iron
and other necessaries on packhorses. I have often seen fifty horses thus
loaded in one party at a time passing over those rugged steeps. No salt
oriron was then made in the West. The present generation could scarcely
conceive the difficulties under which the early settlers of those days
labored while working in the fields. Some had to watch against the ap-
proach and surprise of the Indians. In after years I had prisoners among
my Indians taken from near Redstone Old Fort (now Brownsville), and
many from the adjacent parts of Virginia. Some were taken in infancy
and too young to enable us ever after to trace up their paternity or find
the place of their capture. Many such distressing cases fell under my
observation during my long agency for Indian affairs in the Northwest.

“It may not now be out of place in a narrative of this kind to state
that the Hon. Lewis Cass, now Secretary of State of the United

\

\A
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States, first crossed the mountains on foot at a somewhat later period
than myself. The year I have forgotten. Although very young at the
time, he carried in his knapsack all that he possessed. We were among
the early adventurers of the Northwest, long and intimately associated
together in the management of Indian affairs. While Governor of Michi-
gan, he superintended the department in which I was the senior agent.
More fortunate than myself, he has attained to high honors and great
wealth, while the evening of my life finds me in possession of a bare com-
petence.

“We finally reached Pittsburg, then a small, unimportant place, with-
out, I think, a single brick building. The town consisted of a string of
log houses along the banks of the Monongahela River. There were still
some of the remains of the ancient French Fort Duquesne at the junction
of the Allegheny and Monongahela Rivers. The magazine, which was
bombproof, was still perfect. Fort Fayette, erected under the authority
of the United States and for protection only against the Indians and for
the sure keeping of the public property, stood on the east bank of the
Allegheny about half a mile above the forks of the river. It was a stock-
ade fort of the usual kind, with a blockhouse at the angle. There was
no settlement of the whites west of the Allegheny River. The Indian
War was raging and men were often waylaid and murdered by the savages
and their mutilated bodies brought to the town for interment.

“While the army remained here previous to its going into quarters at
Legionville, about twenty miles below on the right bank of the Ohio,
several desertions took place. It became necessary to make an example
by a public execution. A Sergeant Trotter deserted in the night; was
pursued and taken next morning; brought into camp; a drumhead
court-martial was called; he was tried, sentenced and taken out and shot
at two o’clock in full view of the whole army. The unfortunate man was
not more than twenty-five years old, tall and well-proportioned—a fine-
looking soldier. Such examples, although terrific in their character, be-
came necessary to preserve the army from dissolution. Three others were
shot for a similar crime after the army reached Hobson’s Choice, at Cin-
cinnati. Subsequently, two other soldiers were ordered for execution,
but they were pardoned at the instance of the lady of General Wilkinson
—the deserters having wives.

“The army remained at Legionville from the spring of 1793 until
September of the same year, at which time it reached Hobson’s Choice.
Later in October, General Wayne, with his army, reached Greenville and

to winter quarters. In the same month, Lieutenant Lowry and
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Ensign Boyd, with a command of nearly one hundred men, were attacked
and defeated near Fort St. Clair. Both of these gallant young officers
and many of their men perished in the conflict.

“On the thirtieth of June, 1794, Major McMahon, with his command,
had a hard-fought battle with the Indians under the walls of Fort Re-
covery, the ground of St. Clair’s disaster. The savages were repulsed with
a loss on our part of Major McMahon, Captain Hartshorn and Lieutenant
Craig killed, and fifty officers and soldiers wounded. I happened to be at
Greenville at the time. The firing of the cannon was distinctly heard, Fort
Recovery being only fifteen miles distant. The force of the enemy being
unknown, it was deemed imprudent to detach a force for the relief of the
garrison. Captain Gibson, who defended Fort Recovery, kept his post
with great skill and courage. The enemy was disappointed and repulsed,
but our loss was severe.

“In the summer of 1794, Colonel Elliott, one of the contractors of
the army, was killed by the Indians while on his way from headquarters
at Greenville to Fort Washington and near to where Pittman’s tavern
afterward stood on the Hamilton Road. The soldier who accompanied
him escaped by the fleetness of his horse and made his way safe to Fort
Washington. Captain Pierce, then in command, sent out a detachment
next day to recover the remains and bring them in for interment. The
servant-soldier of Elliott accompanied the party to identify the place of
the murder. Arriving at the spot and in searching among the under-
growth bushes for the body, the Indians, being still in ambush, shot the
unfortunate soldier. His body, with that of his master, which was most
barbarously mutilated, was brought in and buried at the old graveyard
at the corner of Fourth and Main streets, Cincinnati. The name and his-
tory of the soldier is unknown—and so it is always; the common soldier
does the hard fighting and seldom receives any of the glory. Hundreds
of their remains lie scattered throughout the Northwest, who have never
had a grave to cover them. Many of the remains of those killed near
Fort Wayne were thus exposed and gathered together for burial in my
time.

“We of Ohio should ever highly esteem our privileges; for that noble
country which it is our happy lot to enjoy was purchased by an immense
sacrifice of blood and treasure. How grateful should be our feelings and
attachments, like hooks of steel, to Washington and the Federal Govern-
ment, who sustained and sent forth armies after so many defeats, until
the enemy was conquered and brought to submit to our terms by the
Treaty of Greenville of 1795. Nor is our debt of gratitude less due to
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our neighbor, chivalrous Kentucky, who after conquering and expelling
from her own soil, without aid or assistance from the Federal Government,
the hordes of savages, North and South, came voluntarily to our assist-
ance and never ceased coming at our call until we rested in peace and
security. The s0il of Ohio has been drenched with some of the best blood
of Kentucky. The Indian wars, as well as the second war for independ-
ence in 1812, testified how

‘“‘ Her heroes then arose, who, scorning coward self, for others lived,
Toiled for their ease and for their safety bled.’

“1t is the high reward of those who have risked their lives in defense
of their country that their names are sweet in the mouths of men, and
every age shall know their actions. Ohio should evermore remember
Kentucky as her best friend in time of need.

‘At the Treaty of Greenville, in 1795, and at every subsequent con-
vention and treaty with the Commissioners of the United States, the dis-
tinguished Indian chief named Little Turtle contended manfully for the
rights and interests of his people. The boundary line proposed by him
to General Wayne was the Great Miami River of Ohio, and this turned
out to be in accordance with the instructions of President Washington and
his Cabinet, but General Wayne would never consent to this, as it would
cut off all his fortified posts, except Fort Hamilton, which was on the
west bank of the Miami. The line was finally established to run due
north from the mouth of the Kentucky River. This saved the posts of
Fort St. Clair,Jefferson,Greenville,Laramie and Piqua,and satisfied the mil-
itary character and honor of Mad Anthony Wayne. That treaty put an end
to the Indian War and opened out the fertile soil of the Northwest terri-
tory to thousands of American citizens who flocked from all parts of the
Union to possess it long before the surveys were made and the Land Office
at Cincinnati opened. Squatters innumerable had settled on choice spots
throughout the country. This gave rise to the preémption system—to
secure to the settler the value of his labor. All the acts of the Federal
Government referring to the disposal of the national domain,show a sacred
regard to the providing of farms and homes for men of limited means.

The original plan was to sell by whole sections of six hundred
and forty acres only, but General Harrison, when in Congress,

4 who was evermore the poor man’s friend, had the Land Law
altered so that a quarter section of one hundred and sixty
acres could be purchased; and now that every human being can
ossess his ground in fee simple, the quantity on sale is reduced
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to eighty and forty-acre tracts. What more could be done

for the poor white man than to enable him to possess a com- ff
fortable home for the paltry sum of fifty dollars? And even

for a less sum a forty-acre tract of canal land can be had in
Northern Ohio. We can hardly sympathize with those who
are clamoring for bread in the large cities, with the foregoing facts,
which are everywhere accessible to all. '

“Of the first settlers known to me and remembered of Cincin-
nati and the Miami valley are the following: Griffin Yeatman
was in 1793 the agent of the Commissary Department, or rather, |
assistant, Edward Day being the principal—the yellow house on
the river bank being the principal storehouse and office; Captain Pierce,
of the infantry, commanded Fort Washington in the fall of 1794, when I
left the country. Of the merchants, settlers and traders, the following
are remembered: Samuel Creigh, with whom I came to the West in 1792;
Oliver Ormsby; Mr. Bustard; McConnell; Tait; Bullock; Wilson; James
Ferguson, who continued a resident of Cincinnati until his decease a few
years ago; and T. Gibson, who was, I think, in after years first Auditor
of the State of Ohio. The firm of Jesse and Abijah Hunt were the most
extensive merchants in the country. There were others more transient,
who came with goods and provisions, who sold out by wholesale and"
went away; but the foregoing names embrace the principal traders who
followed the army. There were some mechanics. Patrick Dicky, a tailor,
is remembered. Col. John Riddle carried on the blacksmith business.
His shop was on the levee, not far from the old Miami Exporting Com-
pany Bank. Levi Munsell, who had retired from the army, kept the
best house of entertainment. I boarded with him in 1794. About this
time the town began to show the direction of several streets. There was
occasional preaching in a rough frame on the site of the Presbyterian
Church, corner Fourth and Main streets. I remember the name of
Arthur, a Scotchman, who preached there. The chaplain of the army
was Jones, a Baptist, a near neighbor of General Wayne, from Chester
County, Pa. His station was headquarters, Greenville.

“I am under the impression that it was Gen. William Henry Harrison,
then a lieutenant in the army, who commanded the party ordered to inter
the bones of those who fell in St. Clair’s defest, as stated by Doctor Ferris.
The settlers at Columbia had sufficient to do at that time to defend them-
selves from the attacks of the Indians and could illy spare a part of the
male population to go so far off as the battleground. Besides this, there
was, of the regular troops, sufficient to spare at Fort Washington to be
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detailed for the purpose of burying the remains, and I think it was they
who performed that duty under the gallant Harrrison.

“Of the first settlers on the road north from Cincinnati were the
Whites at White’s Station; the Ludlows at Ludlow’s Station; Mclntires
at the Tan-yard (now called Mechanicsburg, eighteen miles on the Dayton
Road); Beattys at the crossing of the Lebanon and Hamilton Roads;
Doctor Holds at Hold’s Creek; and Newcom at Dayton. The first set-
tlers on the Piqua Road, north, were Morrisons at Honey Creek; the
Garrards, Blues and Felix at Staunton; Hilliards at Lower Piqua; and
James Flynn and Shadrack Hudson at Upper Piqua (afterward the resi-
dence of my family). Hudson had been in the army and planted the
first corn on the place. He told me his manner of doing this. He broke

up the prairie ground with two yoke of oxen. The sod, being

fresh turned over, could not be scored out in the usual manner,
so he drove his wagon over the ground, marking the rows by
the wheels; then crossing the same at right angles and
planting his seed at the points crossed. He was late in plant-
ing, but had a fair crop. Matthew Caldwell, another of the

first settlers, sowed his wheat on Christmas Day and had a

good crop. The climate then was milder than at present.
The fall and Indian summer extended far into December.
I have encamped in the woods often in that month without fires,
:cept for the purpose of cooking. The great flood in the Ohio, of

}, overspread the entire lower plat of the city to the depth of at

ir feet. The Indians often affirmed to me of a much higher

rise in that river within their recollection. = Among the incidents of the
flood of 1793 was that of Peter Wals, the barber, going in a scow to dress
the heads of some of the officers of the army-—the officers and men
wearing their hair long and using hair powder, the former requiring
the services of a barber daily. The soldiers who mounted guard for the
day were only required to be powdered. It was a very troublesome
and inconvenient custom. After the death of General Wayne and on
Wilkinson’s attaining to the command of the army, a general order
was issued requiring all officers and non-commissioned officers to have
the hair cut short. As may readily be imagined, the order was unpopular
with many. It was, however, generally complied with. Col. Thomas
Butler resisted and was brought to court-martial for disobedience. How
the matter ended in his case, I have forgotten. He soon after left the
army and settled in the Mississippi territory. This officer was wounded
in St. Clair’s defeat. He was a brother to Gen. Richard Butler, who fell

e N
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in that battle. The family had signalized itself in the wars of the country,
three or four brothers having borne commissions in the Western army.
- The youngest Captain Butler was the last commander of Fort Laramie,
fourteen miles north of my Indian agency at Upper Piqua.

“I left Fort Washington in the fall of 1794, and ascended the Ohio
to Wheeling in a small pirogue purchased by a party of nine, who clubbed
for the cost and the common stock of provisions for the trip. We or-
ganized for defense against the Indians, who often waylaid the river,
attacking and capturing the boats. We chose John Ward, afterward
Clerk of the Court at Steubenville, for our captain. The river was low
and the passage tedious. One man of the party was always out on shore
to guard against surprises from the Indians, and this duty was performed
alternately by all the party, the captain excepted. We never made any
fire at night. We cooked our supper in the afternoon, then pushed our
craft on until night set in. We then sought some quiet nook, when we
landed and lay down to sleep, one of the party keeping awake and acting
as sentinel. We often lodged on islands, and sometimes on the north
and other times on the south shore. Thus we baffled the savages, if any
were in pursuit. We reached Wheeling in safety after a passage of more
than twenty days. A large party which started with us and from which
we purposely-separated, lost two men killed and a woman wounded by
the Indians. In passing up, we saw several remains of boats that had been
captured and destroyed by the Indians; the unfortunate occupants being
either killed or taken into captivity by the savages. My relative, Charles
Johnston, of Botetourt, Va., was thus taken in 1792 on the Ohio, his
boat being decoyed ashore by a base white man under pretense of being
a prisoner escaped from the Indians. Mr. May, the principal owner of
the boat and cargo, was shot through the head, dead, while holding up
an emblem of surrender. Johnston, after being taken to the Wyandotte
village on the Sandusky River, was ransomed by a humane trader named
Francis Duchaquet, who was, for many years, my interpreter in the
Shawanoese Nation. His Indian name was So-wagh-quo-the, or
‘The Fork.’"’ -

Again Colonel Johnston writes:

“In the summer of 1794, I witnessed the arrival of the
Kentucky volunteers at Cincinnati, under the command of |
General Scott, said to be twelve hundred strong, on their way °*
to headquarters at Greenville to co-operate with General Wayne in |§
the campaign against the Indians. They made a martial appearance.
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Their dress was a hunting-shirt and leggings, with the equipments—rifle,
tomahawk, knife, pouch and powder-horn. It was understood that there

COL. JOHN JOHNSTON

was not a drafted man in the whole com-
mand. All were volunteers. In those
times, the men of Kentucky thirsted for
an opportunity of being revenged on the
savages, for it would be difficult to find
in the whole of that State a family who

"had not suffered the loss of some of its

members by the inroads of the Southern
and Northern Indians.

“T spent the winter of 1795 at Bour-
bon Court House, having an uncle at that
time a resident of that county; William
Garrard, son of Governor Garrard, an early
friend and acquaintance, who had received
his education at Dickinson College, Carlisle,
Pa., resided a few miles from the court
house. This made my sojourn there agree-

able. I there made the acquaintance of the
celebrated Daniel Boone, who was brought
to the place by a Mr. Owings, as well as I
can recollect, for the purpose of tracing up
some land lines and titles. I slept four or
five nights in the same room with Boone.
He was a modest, retiring person, of
medium size; of few words, scarcely speak-
ing unless spoken to. His age at that
time might have been fifty years. Although
in midwinter, he was poorly attired, his
garments all, or nearly all, being linen. In
the earlier period of his life he was a
prisoner among my Shawanoese Indians
and, as such, often trod the ground of
Upper Piqua, for so many years my home
and seat of my agency for Indian affairs
in the Northwest.”

MRS. RACHEL ROBINSON
JOHNSTON AS A BRIDE

At the age of twenty-seven, John Johnston fell in love with
Miss Rachel Robinson, of Philadelphia, a young Quakeress,
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gixteen years old, in whose father’s family he at one time
boarded. Her parents refused their consent to the marriage
on account of their daughter’s youth, so the young people
took matters into their own hands and eloped to Lancaster,
Pennsylvania, where they were married on the fiffeenth
of July, 1802, by the Rev. Peter Muhlenberg.

All the Quaker records in Philadelphia have been searched
in vain to find any account of the Robinson family. Mrs.
Patterson said that her grandmother was Rosanna Robin-
son and that she was buried in the Arch Street burying
ground at Philadelphia. But the records show no such
name. As Rachel married “out of meeting” and against
parental authority, it is not to be wondered at that we can-
not find her name on any of the books of the Friends’ Society.
She was dead to her Order when she left Philadelphia to
join John Johnston at Lancaster. From Dr. Muhlenberg’s
house the young bride and groom, mounting their horses,
started on their wedding trip over the Pennsylvania moun-
tains. This journey, now accomplished in fifteen hours in a
vestibuled train, must have been a wearisome undertaking
to the gently-reared Philadelphia girl; a thousand miles on
horseback, through the trackless forests, living on game and
what they could carry in the saddle bags, sleeping under
the stars, unprotected from the cold and storms,—what a
wedding journey! And what courage and faith and love
that could take a girl, who ought to have been safe in her
mother’s home or in the dormitory of a boarding-school,
through such an experience! Just a century later, her great-
grand-daughter writes of it:

“But love laughs at fears and accomplishes wonders; and so she came
full of faith in her husband and in his ability to care for her. Nor was she
disappointed. In the midst of dangers they were ever protected.”’*

The young wife, who so bravely undertook to share the

* Margaret C. Johnston in the ‘‘ Early History of Piqua.”’
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vicissitudes of the pioneer life at that distant outpost of
civilization at Fort Wayne, never regretted her choice. Forty
years later, her husband referred to her as “My dearest
wife, the choice of my youth, endowed with so many excellent
qualities and endeared to me as the mother of my children.”

The best of a love story, if it is of the right kind, is the
end of it.

“Grow old along with me;

The best is yet to be;
The last of life, for which the first is made.”

What a pioneer was in those days is best learned from
the words of a pioneer himself. The Hon. I. D. G.
Nelson delivered an address before the Pioneer Association
of Indiana on August fourteenth, 1886, a.part of which
reads as follows:

“ Preparers of the way, indeed, were we. The roads we built, the log
bridges we threw across the streams we did not destroy, but left for those
who were to come after us. The pioneer was unselfish. He cared not
whether friend or foe was behind him; if he could make his way any
more easy, he was glad of it. He felt that he was in partnership with the
world—‘a fellow-feeling made him wondrous kind.” He was the ad-

vance guard of an army—countless in numbers, irresistible in its
power—an army that knew no such word as fail, and listened
to no order for retreat.

' “The pioneer was the child of progress. He looked up, and
not down; forward, and not back.. Behind him was the past,
before him the future. He felt that the wise men came from -
the East, and took courage. The needle of his compass always
pointed westward, and he followed it.

“Qur pioneer dreamed dreams and saw visions. He dreamed
of the old home, of gray-haired father and mother, watching from the low
doorway the departing children, or perchance sleeping in the village church-
yard; perhaps of smaller green mounds covering his John or Kate—or
of the country church, where theologic dust knocked from the pulpit
cushion in the good old orthodox way had so often closed his eyes and
ears on drowsy Sunday afternoons—or of the spelling-bee or singing-
school, where he first met the country lass,
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‘ Who, tying her bonnet under her chin,
Had tied the young man’s heart within,’

and kept it tied forever after. His dreams were of yesterday. His visions
were of to-morrow. He foresaw hard work and hard times, backache
and heartache, blue days and weary nights,

but he saw, to00, in the dim future

the town, the village, the city,

the county, the state, an em-

pire of itself; he saw thou-

sands of homes and hundreds

of thousands of owners, happy,

prosperous people; he saw

schools and churches, factories

and fertile fields, institutions

of science and learning; he

saw capital and labor, brain

and body, mind and muscle, all

employed in the advancement of

civilization and the permanent improve- FORT WAYNE IN 1798
ment of mankind. And of all this he

was to be a part and parcel. What visions were these! Do you wonder
that the pioneer was a pioneer brave, cheerful and faithful?’’

The first important appointment of John Johnston by
the Government, was that of United States Factor, and he
was stationed at Fort Wayne, Indiana. Here, four chil-
dren, Stephen, Rebecca, Elizabeth and Rosanna, were born
to him. His duties as Factor consisted of looking after the
Agency and distributing Government supplies of food, cloth-
ing and weapons to the Indians. The Surgeon of the fort,
a certain Dr. Elliott, was a dissipated man, and often
was entirely unfitted, by his bad habits, to attend to busi-
ness. John Johnston had learned some simple surgery,
and ‘gradually took upon himself a good deal of Elliott’s
work. This acceptance of new responsibility resulted in
his being appointed Assistant Surgeon at Fort Wayne.
The incident serves to show not only an aptitude for
varied service, but a willingness to undertake it, which
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seems to be always one of the necessdry elements of suc-
cess in life.

Colonel Johnston relates some interesting experiences with
the Indians while stationed at Fort Wayne.

“ Among the Indians of my agency, who were distinguished for their
oratorical powers, were Buckingchilas, of the Delawares; Meshequanagh-
qua, or the Little Turtle, of the Miamis; Cufewukasa, or Black Hoof, of
the Shawanoese; and Togwane, or John, of the Senecas. Of all these,
The Turtle was by far the most eloquent and the ablest Indian diplomatist

and statesman.

' “]I was often the guest of Little Turtle at his home on Eel River, a
branch of the Wabash, about twenty miles from Fort Wayne. He lived
in good style for an Indian; had two wives—one an old woman, the choice
of his youth; the other, a young girl of eighteen years. Both appeared
to live in great peace and harmony. On my first visit to this chief, accom-
panied by some officers of the army and ladies of the garrison, we were
greeted with a very splendid British flag flying at the public square and
in front of the council house. In my remarks to the Indians, I told
them that we could not permit that flag to be displayed on American
ground; that it belonged to the English and not to us; that in all nations
a flag was the emblem of sovereignty; that they, the Indians, were the
subjects of the United States, residing far within our territorial limits,
and that hereafter no English flag should be displayed on our soil. In
reply, the chief stated that they had no flag but the one they exhibited;
that if I would furnish them with an American flag, they would use it and
no other. I accordingly wrote to the War Department and received
flags sufficient for all the tribes of my agency.

“The Turtle received a compensation from the English government
of one hundred guineas a year, and this was continued to him long after
the United States assumed the jurisdiction. High living destroyed the
health of this chief, who died at Fort Wayne, not quite sixty years old,
of a confirmed case of the gout. - He was buried by order of the command-
ing officer, with military honors.

“During the presidency of Washington, the Miami Indians sent a
deputation to Philadelphia, at that time the seat of government, The
Turtle being of the party and chief orator. They were graciously received
by the President and by General Knox, the Secretary of War, and on
their return home made a very favorable report to their nation. The
celebrated patriot, Kosciusko, happened to be in Philadelphia at the time
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of their visit. He sent for the Indians to visit him at his lodgings, he
. being sick and unable to go abroad. He addressed the chief to contend
manfully for their rights and never submit to a foreign yoke. At parting,
he presented The Turtle with his favorite pistols, saying, ‘These I have
used in defense of the rights and liberties of my native land, and I charge
you to keep and use them for the same purpose. If any man comes to
deprive you of your rights and your country, shoot him dead with these
pistols.” 1 have often handled these precious relics when in possession of the
Indian chief. They were of the finest workmanship—silver-mounted with
gold touch-holes. After The Turtle’s death, the Miamis possessed no one
of equal abilities to occupy his place. The tribe degenerated into dissi-
pation and lost its rank and influence in the confederacy of the North-
west tribes. The rapid increase in our population compelled them to
abandon their favorite home on the Wabash and seek a new home south-
west of the Missouri, and from the accounts I have of their bad habits and
management, they doubtless soon will become extinct; and this fate, I
fear, awaits most of the tribes who migrated from Ohio, Indiana and
Michigan.”

Of all the trading houses owned by the United States
at the commencement of the War of 1812, the one at Fort
Wayne, of which Col. John Johnston had direction, yielded
the most profit—about ten thousand dollars in all. Colonel
Johnston aimed at being just to the Indians and loyal to
his Government—a combination of purpose not without its
difficulties. He had trouble in procuring the proper kinds
of supplies to issue to his pensioners, and again great diffi-
culty in getting to the markets the furs which they brought
in. He complained to the War Department that the mili-
tary were always unfriendly to the trading posts and hin-
dered them in all possible ways. The soldiers did not con-
sider it a part of their business to furnish transportation and
erect buildings. Once Colonel Johnston lost in Lake Erie
twenty-three hundred dollars worth of furs through the care-
lessness of a drunken non-commissioned officer who had charge
of the boats. His opinion was constantly expressed that
the Government should leave the trade open to individual
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enterprise and encourage American citizens to embark
in it. In a letter to the Secretary of War, he says: “Every
British trader among the Indians is a political partisan
sowing seeds of distrust and dislike against the American
Government.” It was through this description of people
that plans for the Indian Wars were made and matured.
In another letter he advises that resident agents be placed
in each tribe to watch their designs; that large tribes should
be broken up into smaller agencies, preventing coalition and
sedition; that agents should not press the Indians to sell
their land and move West. He says: “As game becomes
scarce, they will go of their own accord. All coercion is
irritating. . . . Each Indian Agency should be furnished
with several large National flags.”’*

It is undoubted that had these suggestions of Colonel
Johnston been carried out, much expense and trouble of all
kinds would have been saved to the Government.

In all these experiences Rachel Robinson was her hus-
band’s right hand, aiding him in all he did and encouraging
all his hopes. It has been written of this pioneer couple:

“Do not let us think they had passive natures because they lived at
peace with the red men of the forest. It required dignity, justice and
courage to manage the savage. Kind, brave and wise, Mrs. Johnston was
a fit helpmate for her pioneer husband. In the garrison at Fort Wayne

her gentle kindliness won for her the love of all, although her stern recti-
tude led her many times to be a living reproof to careless associates.”’t

* Am. Archives, Vol. VII. t History of Early Piqua.
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CHAPTER 1II
COL. JOHN JOHNSTON (CONCLUDED)

‘“It 18 enough,” he said. ‘‘Go, children; the
anger of the Manitou 18 against us; the palefaces
are masters of the earth, and the time of the red
man has not yet come again.”

LasT OF THE MOHICANS.

éUST at the breaking out of the War of 1812,

Col. John Johnston was appointed by President

Madison to the office of Indian Agent for Ohio,

and removed to Piqua. Under his control were

the following seven powerful tribes, comprising

mn all over six thousand * Indians: Shawanoese,

tawatamies, Wyandottes, Senecas, Muncies, Miamis

and Delawares. In this position he received a salary of

twelve hundred dollars a year, besides house rent and two
servants.

At this time the town of Piqua consisted of an Indian
village belonging to the tribes of Miamis and Shawanoese, the
log fort of the United States Government and a half dozen
log cabins of the white settlers. The whole of Miami County
is rich in traditions of these two tribes, who believed that they
had been created out of the soil of the Miami Valley. Colonel

oti the ber as high as ten thousand.

* Some acoounts say seven th d; oth

45
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Johnston’s fine residence, which is still standing in Upper

Piqua, marks the site of the original Indian village. The

position of the ancient Fort Piqua could be traced by the

outline of the river bastions as late as 1847, but it is now

obliterated. Few spots on the soil of the Buckeye State

have more - history of their own than the territory sur-

1 burying-ground in Up-

“Piqua” signifies in

. tongue, “man formed

out of the ashes,”’ and

the first warrior of

the Shawanoese tribe

was said to have

sprung full formed

out of the embers of

a camp fire. Miami

County is full of

bloody history. Near

the Johnston farm,

where Swift Run

crosses the St. Mary’s

Pike, was fought in

1763 a severe engage-

THE PIQUA BURYING GROUND ment* between the English

JOHNSTON TOMBS and French forces. _Corn

Stalk, Chief of the Shawanoese, once pointed out the exact

spot to Colonel Johnston and told him that the battle was
fought throughout a whole June day, from sunrise to dark.

In 1786 another battle was fought at Fort Piqua. Com-

posing the army commanded by Gen. George Rogers Clark,

were about nine hundred men whom he had enrolled in

Kentucky (among them Robert Patterson, of Kentucky),

a tribe of Miamis and some French.t For many years after

* Described later in this ol , by Col. John Johnston.
+ This battle will be de. in'the chapter devoted to Colomel Patterson.
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the Johnston farm had been cleared, bullets, arrow-heads and
bayonets were unearthed. Mrs. Julia Johnston Patterson
wrote: “This battle put an end to the continued depreda-
tions of the Miami Indians and, as a consequence, the fort
became comparatively safe and settlers began to go in.
Their log cabins were built close together to protect them
from the Indians. The blockhouse and stockade were for
additional safety, the former being built of heavy logs, with
no windows and surrounded by strong pickets. The stockade
had a huge gate which was locked with a padlock as largeas a
dinner plate. When there was alarm, the people lived in the
blockhouse.” )

The treachery and hostility of the Indians are an old story
in the record of early settlements in America. It took men
of great diplomacy to bring about the friendly conditions
that eventually made the State of Ohio a safe abiding-place
for wives and children. Colonel Johnston’s own words are:
“I arose many mornings with but little hope of living until
night, and was warned repeatedly by the friendly chiefs of
my danger.” He must have been eminently qualified for his
position, as he was held in great esteem and trust by the
savages; for, even while hostilities were actually going on, he
received many proofs of the fidelity of some of the friendly
chiefs. His brother, Stephen Johnston, however, fell a vic-
tim to the hate of the savages, being shot from ambush on
the night of August twenty-eighth, 1812.

The Early History of Piqua says: “Too much cannot be
said of Colonel Johnston’s influence with the Indians in
keeping them from going over to the British and in pro-
tecting the white settlers from their molestations.” He was
of great service in inducing the various tribes to maintain
peaceable relations. Numerous councils were held from time
to time, where the dusky leaders in moccasins met the pale-
faced leaders from Washington and discussed measures of

v

Ve
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policy. On the one side were Tecumseh, Little Turtle, Corn
Stalk, Black Hawk, Bright Horn and Buckingchilas; and
on the other side Gen. Lewis Cass, Charles Hammond,
General Meigs, United States Senator Jeremiah Monroe,
Robert Kelly, Thomas Worth-

ington and John John-

ston. While the leaders

smoked and talked in

solemn council, the white

boys and the young

Indians held wrestling

matches, foot races and

dances, and the smoke of

INDIANS PLAYING BALL the camp ﬁr% ﬁl]ed the
woods with haze. At these councils no figure was more
prominent than that of Little Turtle, the Miami chieftain.
As he and Colonel Johnston had much to do with one another
in the council chamber and around the camp fire, we quote a
description of him from a contemporary authority:

“Little Turtle was one of the most celebrated Indian chiefs
ever known to white men. His character is well remembered
by the old residents among the Indians, and from the ac-
counts which have been given of him, we find but few names
on record in the history of Indian chiefs that can be com-
pared with his. His character will contrast advantageously
with those of King Philip, Pontiac and Tecumseh.”

The influence which Little Turtle possessed over the In-
dians appears to have been unbounded. Under these cir-
cumstances it is to be regretted that all the facts connected
with his life and character have not been preserved. He is
the same chief whom Volney describes as having met in
Philadelphia in the year 1798. From the abstract left by
this traveler of the conversations which he had with Little
Turtle and with his interpreter, Captain Wells, we are led to
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form a high opinion of the sound philosophy and excellent
judgment possessed by this chieftain. Of his military talents
we can entertain no doubt, since it is well ascertained that to
him is chiefly to be ascribed the success which the Indians
met with in 1791 and 1792.

Like King Philip, Tecumseh and others, Little Turtle is
said to have entertained at one time the hope of forming an
extensive coalition among the Indians, with a view to re-
trieving the soil of which they had been so unjustly deprived;
but meeting with difficulties which he probably foresaw
would be invincible, he, with more acumen than any of
those chiefs, soon discovered that the day for such measures
had long since passed away, and that the only advisable
course which remained for his Nation to adopt was to make
peace with the invaders, and to endeavor to profit by their
superior intelligence.

In this manner he succeeded in rescuing his brethren from
that destruction to which King Philip and Tecumseh were
hurrying their people at the time when they themselves be-
came victims to the wars which they had been instrumental
in producing. Doubtless his great spirit flattered itself with
the hope that, by an advancement in the arts of civilized
life, the Indians would regain that importance which they
seemed to be on the point of losing forever. His mind had
predicted the awful consequences of the approach of white
men. ‘“No wonder,” said he, “the whites drive us every
year further and further before them, from the sea to the
Mississippi. They spread like oil on a blanket; and we
melt like snow before the sun. If things do not greatly
change, the Red Men will disappear very shortly.” How
rapidly this prediction has been verified, let every reader of

“history and the experience of every traveler to the West
bear witness.

Keating, in his ‘‘ Historical Miscellanies,” thus estimates
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the significance of the loss of this chieftain to his own Nation
and that of his adoption.

“Little Turtle died in the year 1804 or 1805, and his death at that
time is very much to be regretted, as the attachment which he had con-
tracted for the American nation had become so great that it is presumed
he would have used his influence, which was very great, to prevent the
Indians of that vicinity from joining the British during the war which
followed; and no doubt can be entertained that a peaceful policy, if sup-
ported by a man of his weight, would have prevailed.”

He is buried in the vicinity of John Johnston’s first home
at Fort Wayne, on the west bank of the river. The grave
was first marked by a small tree; now no trace of it remains.
An archeological party once sought to disinter and carry off
for scientific purposes Little Turtle’s skull, but they were
prevented by the Miami tribe of Indians.

As a result of the councils, ten thousand Indians were col-
lected in the spring of 1813, under Colonel Johnston’s care
at Piqua, and kept by the United States Government. This
was intended as a peace measure and to keep them from the
influence of the hostile tribes. It was not altogether success-
ful, as from time to time outbreaks occurred, caused as fre-
quently by the whites as by the Indians. Mrs. Patterson
says: ‘“At one time a party of friendly Indians were out on
a hunting expedition and carried a white flag to show their
peaceful intentions. They were attacked by Major Wolver-
ton’s company, several killed and some taken prisoner.
They made no resistance and were sent to Colonel Johnston
at Piqua. His sense of justice led him to make the best
reparation in his power, and he restored the captive Indians
to their own camp. He was unable to obtain soldiers for the
+ captives, 8o he took his life in his own hands and went alone
on this perilous trip among savages who were justifiably in-
censed against the whites. He restored his charges to their
friends, saluted the chieftain, remounted his horse and rode
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home, thirty miles, alone, un-
harmed.” '
learn, was r
by Logan,
Mingo chief
been call
“the bes
specimen of
humanity
ever met
with, either
white, red
or black.”*
When lives
were in
danger
from an
attack
on Fort
Wayne,
after the surrender of Detroit had left the frontier unpro-
tected, Colonel Johnston requested that the women and
children of that place be brought to Piqua for safety.
Logan answered the demand with a company of volunteer
warriors who acted as escort and piloted his white charges
safely through a country swarming with foes. Logan is de-
scribed as “a man of splendid appearance, over six feet high,
straight as a spear-shaft, with a countenance as open as it
was brave and manly.” +

Colonel Johnston had at least two qualities in common
with George Washington: executive ability and method in
detail. His papers, prepared for the inspection of the Gov-
ernment, show exquisite care and neatness. All accounts of

* Am, Pioneer, Vol. I, p. 189. t Loudon’s Indisn Narrative, Vol, II, p. 223.

THE OLD SPRING HOUSE AT THE PIQUA FARM
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provisions issued to the Indians, of presents made to them
and of articles purchased for the Indian Department, are
written in a round, legible hand, and can be verified to the
smallest item.

In appearance Colonel Johnston is described as fine-look-
ing—*six feet and more in height, very erect in his bearing,
and he had a blond complexion inclined to be ruddy.” Good
digestion was a quality upon which he prided himself, and
he looked down upon people of capricious appetites. He
was wont to say that he “had no patience with people
who couldn’t eat anything.” Dignified and affable, he was
extremely fond of children, especially in the latter part of
his life, when he would get them all about him and tell
them stories of the Indians. Henry Howe, in his valuable
work, “The History of Ohio,” gives us this interesting pen
picture:

“I remember as if yesterday my first interview with Col. John John-
ston at Upper Piqua. He was a tall, dignified man, of the blond type,.
then seventy-one years of age. He was plainly clad, but impressive,
seeming as one born to command. It was a warm Summer day, and he
took me down to his spring and gave me a drink of pure, cold water, the
quality of which he praised with the air of a prince. No man had the
power and influence with the Western Indians that he possessed, and it
arose from his weight of character and his high sense of justice.

He was, indeed, a sterling man in every way, and Ohio should not forget
him.”

At the second treaty of Greenville, in 1814, Colonel
Johnston was an early comer. He had pitched his tent on an
elevated spot near the creek and erected a flagstaff with the
flag flying. General Harrison, upon his arrival, begged that
Colonel Johnston would permit the location of the flag to be
changed and the staff erected upon the spot where General
Wayne’s quarters had been in 1795. He said that the ground
was consecrated to him by many endearing recollections which
would never be effaced from his memory, and he wanted the
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details of the great treaty to conform as nearly as possible
to the one which had preceded it by nineteen years. Colonel
Johnston gladly assented and the flag was changed.

General Harrison was often a welcome visitor at Colonel
Johnston’s home in Piqua, both while he lived in the log
cabin within the fort, and after he built his commodious
farm house at Upper Piqua. During the War of 1812,
General Harrison had his headquarters at Piqua and
-occasionally sojourned
ston’s log cabin. Th
" tainment at this time
described by the hos
himself:

“There was but one
fire-place in the house, a
chimney of ‘cat and clay’ ;
(a phrase well known
to backwoodsmen), and
in cold weather the fam-
ily and guests made quite
a circle. The women in
. HOMESTEAD OF COL. JOHN JOHNSTON
cooking supper were often AT UPPER PIQUA, OHIO, AND A

compelled to step over the FEW OF HIS DESCENDANTS
feet of the General and his aides.

And at bed-time, such a backwoods scene! The floor would be covered
with blankets, cloaks, buffalo robes, and such articles as travellers usually
carry with them for the purpose of camping out. No one ever looked for
a bed in those times. It was not unusual for twenty or thirty persons
to lodge with us for a night. Indians frequently were of the number.
Missionaries of all denominations, both Catholic and Protestants, were
alike welcome. We lived on the extreme verge of the frontier, and travel-
lers could nowhere else find accommodations. We obeyed to the letter
the injunction of the Apostle given to hospitality. I was sometimes cen-
sured by my Protestant friends for entertaining Catholic priests. These
criticisms proceeded from an unhappy spirit and chiefly resulted from
ignorance. It produced no difference with myself or that excellent woman
who shared so largely in all my labors growing out of those troublesome
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times. Ministers of Jesus Christ, of whatever denomination, found the
latch-string of our cabin door hanging out.”

In 1818, on the death of the great chief of the Wyandottes,
Colonel Johnston attended a general council of all the tribes
of Ohio, the Delawares of Indiana, and the Senecas of New
York, at Upper Sandusky. Concerning this council he wrote:

“I found on arriving at the place a very large attendance, and among
the chiefs was the noted leader and orator, ‘Red Jacket,” from Buffalo.
The first business done, the speaker of the Nation delivered an oration on
the character of the dead chief. Then followed what might be called a
‘monody’—a ceremony of mourning and lamentation. The seats were
arranged from end to end of the large council house, and the head men
and the aged took their seats facing each other. Stooping down, their
heads almost touched. In that position they remained several hours.
Deep, heavy and long-continued groans would commence at one end of
the row of mourners and were passed around until all had responded.
This was repeated at intervals of a few minutes. The Indians were all
washed and had no paint or decorations of any kind upon their persons,
their countenances and general deportment denoting deepest mourning.
I had never witnessed anything of the kind before and was told that
this ceremony was not performed but at the death of some great man.

¢ After the period of mourning and lamentations was over, the Indians
proceeded to business. There were present the Wyandottes, the Senecas,
the Delawares, the Shawanoese, the Ottawas and the Mohawks. It was
evident in the course of discussion that the presence of myself and some
white men with me was not acceptable to some of the parties, and allusions
were made so direct to myself that I was constrained to notice them by
saying that I came there as the guest of the Wyandottes and by their
special invitation; that as an agent of the United States I had a right
to be there or anywhere else in the Indian country, and that if any insult
was offered to myself or my people, it would be resented and punished.
Red Jacket was the principal speaker,and was intemperate and personal
in his remarks. The different parties accused each other of being fore-
most in selling lands to the United States. The discussion was long-
continued, calling out some of the ablest speakers, and was distinguished
for ability, cutting sarcasm and research, going far back into the history
of the natives, their wars, alliances, negotiations, migrations, etc. I had

" attended many councils, treaties and gatherings of the Indians, but never
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in my life did I witness such an outpouring of native oratory and elo-
quence, of severe rebuke and taunting personal reproaches. The council
broke up late in great confusion and in the worst possible feeling. .
The next day appeared to be one of unusual anxiety and despondency
among the Indians. They could be seen in groups everywhere within
the council house in deep consultation. They had acted foolishly and
were sorry, but the question was, Who would present the olive branch?
The council convened late and was very full. Silence prevailed for a
long time. At last the ancient chief of the Shawanoese, Black Hoof,
arose—a man of great influence and a celebrated orator. He told the
assembly they had acted like children and not men, and that he and his
people were sorry for the words that had been spoken. He came into
the council at the unanimous desire of his people present to take back
those foolish words. At this, he handed around strips of wampum, which
was received by all with the greatest joy. Several of the principal chiefs
delivered speeches to the same effect, handing around wampum in turn.
In this manner the whole difficulty of the preceding day was settled and,
.to all appearances, forgotten.

“The Indians are very courteous and civil to each other, and it is a
rare thing to see their assemblies disturbed by
contentions
or ill-timed
remarks. 1
never wit-
nessed it ex-
cept on the
occasion here
alluded to,
and it is more
than prob-
able that the
presence of
myself and
the other
white men
contributed
toward the un-
pleasant occurrence.

I could not help but admire ENTRANCE HALL OF THE JOHNSTON
the genuine philosophy and HOMESTEAD, UPPER PIQUA
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good sense displayed by men whom we call ‘savages,’ in the transaction
of their public business. How much we might profit in the halls of our
legislatures by occasionally taking for our example the proceedings of the
great Indian council at Sandusky.”*

We see in this story of Colonel Johnston’s the quality that
made him so successful an Indiap agent. It was that sense
of justice which in some men can be extended only to people
of their own color. We find throughout the record of Colonel
Johnston’s life that he applied to the Indians that same
Golden Rule which he applied to his own friends and asso-
ciates.

The principles of the Quakers, such as they have always
been known, were those which Colonel Johnston admired and
used in his relations with his humbler friends. The just and
humane government of the Quakers in Pennsylvania toward
the primitive Indians had made them repose great confidence
in persons of that Society. Colonel Johnston once wrote:
“If I were in the prime of my years and once more placed
in the management of the Indians, I would take for my
assistants in the service none but Quakers; and with such
just men in the administration of the Government, I would
not need soldiers to keep the Indians in subjection. See how
the Cherokees have been distracted with interminable and
bloody battles by reason of Schermerhorn’s treaty, made with
about one-tenth of the Nations, and, with the knowledge of
this fact, ratified by the Senate and President of the United
States. Already some of the best men in the nation have
been assassinated in consequence, Lieutenant Johnston, my
own son, among them. Hunting up the murderers and trying
to restore peace is impracticable. The cause lies too deep.
Too much blood already shed; and all this by the unjust

acts of the general Government in wresting their
) country from them under the silly mockery of a

. cm'. Miscellany, Cincinnati, 1846.
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treaty made with a handful of irresponsible persons. Now in
most of the contentions for the acquisition of territory to a
nation already too large for its good, no voice is raised in
Congress to secure to the natives a perpetual inheritance in
the soil. They are still to be creatures of a temporizing
policy; to be backed out of the way as our race approaches
them until, as Black Hoof once remarked to me in reference
to this matter— We will go anywhere you please, if you
will afterward let us alone; but we know from past experience
you will keep driving us back until we reach the sea on the
other side of the Rocky Mountains, and then we must jump
off'—meaning that at last there would be no country or
home left for the Indians. Does not our past and present
policy towards this unhappy race but too clearly tend to
confirm this apprehension?”’

In the Ohio Archives for 1845 we find this cominunication
addressed by Col. John Johnston to the War Department:

“There i8 not an acre of land owned or occupied by an Indian in Ohio.
Fifty-one years ago they owned the whole territory. Does not the voice
of humanity cry aloud to the Congress of the United States to give them
a country and a home in perpetuity and a government adapted to their
condition? Will impartial history excuse this people and their Govern-
ment if they permit the destruction of the primitive race without one
adequate effort to save them?’’

These words, written so early in the century, are interest-
ing in the light of later history. Could Colonel Johnston have
looked forward half a hundred years he would have found
no reason to change in the matter of a single syllable his
estimate of the dealings of the United States with their
Indian wards.

Twenty-three years afterwards, the official report of the
commission appointed by President Grant to look into Indian
affairs read as follows: “The history of the Government con-
nection with the Indian is a shameful record of broken treaties
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and unfulfilled promises.” And in 1880, Helen Hunt, in her
“Century of Dishonor,” writes: ‘A full history of the wrongs
the Indians have suffered at the hands of the authorities,
military and civil, would take years to write and volumes to
hold. . . . 8o long as there remains on our frontier one
square mile of land occupied by a weak and helpless owner,
there will be a strong and unscrupulous frontiersman ready
to seize it, and an unscrupulous politician who can be hired
for a vote or money to back him.”*

So it may be seen that John Johnston was a prophet
in both senses of the word: he saw existing conditions with
unerring vision and foretold the future by his knowledge
of the past.

Our chief source of information concerning the personal
and domestic side of John Johnston’s life is his daughter,
Mrs. Julia Johnston Patterson, who gives, in her autobio-
graphical narrative, dated February second, 1895, many
incidents in her father’s history.

“ At one time,” she says, “ when forty-five years of age, John Johnston
had his portrait painted in Philadelphia and sent it home in advance.
When it was unpacked, some Indians who were present were frightened
nearly into convulsions at the sight. They recognized it immediately, but
never having seen anything of the kind, supposed it was a ghost, and that
their friend, Colonel Johnston, had gone to the Happy Hunting Land.”

“The Friends’ Society had a Mission at Wapakoneta, and Colonel
Johnston was in the habit of going there to treat with the Indians. He
had been there, having had a council, and in returning home was over-
taken by night on the banks of the Laramie. He was on horseback, and
when he got to the river he found a pack of wolves in pursuit of him. He
knew there was nothing to do but to ride into the river. He sat on horse-
back in the middle of the river all night. At daylight he started home,
three miles further on, and arrived there safely.”

“Seven white men, one of them a Methodist, entered an Indian village

* For the opposing view of this ati see Theod Roosevelt’s * Winning of the West,””
II1, Vol. p. 43. -
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where there were none but defenseless people, no warriors at all, and
killed many of them in cold blood. Colonel Johnston had the men cap-
tured and hanged, knowing that they could not live peaceably after that,
if the men were not punished. The Indians were compelled to witness
against the men and afterwards stay and see them hanged, much against
their will. Colonel Johnston thought, of course, that the friends of the
men who had been executed would try to do him some injury, so he started
home at night on horseback. There was no road at all, and the only way
he managed to get through the woods in the dark was by following the
elephant’s tracks. There had been a show in Greenville (a show in those
days consisted of an elephant, a monkey and two men) and they were
going to Piqua. He arrived home at daylight perfectly safe, and no more
was said about it.”

“Once a squaw went into a dry goods store in Piqua to trade some
furs that she had. She asked the store-keeper if he had any needles.
He said he had one. She asked what he would take for it, and he said
one dollar.  She thought that was too much, but he told her that the
man who made needles was dead and that was the last one he had; so
the squaw took it. This man must have made thousands of dollars off
of the Indians in this way. He would get their furs for almost nothing
and sell them for one-third more than they were really worth.”

During this period of Colonel Johnston’s life he went
several times to Philadelphia, and his personal reminiscences
contain many references to the political history of the day:

“ Among the felicities of my own long life,” he said, “is that of having
often beheld the person of George Washington. I heard him deliver his
last speech to both Houses of Congress in December, 1796; it being his
practice always to address the national legislature in person. His suc-
cessor in the Presidency, John Adams, pursued the same course. On
the advent of Mr. Jefferson the custom ceased, and ever since, Messages in
writing have taken the place of speeches. Washington died in December,
1799, and in the winter of that year and 1800, the President and Congress
ordered funeral honors to be celebrated in his memory. It fell to my lot,
as secretary of Washington Masonic Lodge, No. fifty-nine, to take part in
the ceremonies. Col. Richard Henry Lee, of the Revolution, then a mem-
ber of Congress from Virginia, was the appointed orator for the occasion.
‘Washington throughout life was a member of the Fredericksburg Lodge,
Virginia, No. four, and was reported in its proceedings among the deaths
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of its members in the year 1799. A large number of the distinguished
men of the Revolution were members of the Masonic Order, Washington
being the chief. He was admitted to the rights and privileges of Free-
masonry in Fredericksburg Lodge, No. four, November fourth, 1752, and
admitted to the high order of the craft in the same lodge, August fourth,
1753. He was then in command of the Virginia troops raised for the de-
fense of the frontier against the Indians and their French allies.” . .

It is somewhat interesting to contrast the salaries of pub-
lic servants during the administration of Washington, as we
find them recorded in Colonel Johnston’s diary, with those of
the present day: ‘“ Chief Justice of the United States, four
thousand dollars per annum; Associates, three thousand five
hundred dollars each; United States Judge of Maine, one
thousand dollars; Vermont, eight hundred dollars; New
York, fifteen hundred dollars; Attorney General of the
United States, one thousand nine hundred dollars; Mem-
bers of both Houses of Congress, six dollars per day each,
and travelling expenses; Secretary of the Treasury, two
thousand six hundred dollars per annum; Clerks, from five
hundred dollars to eight hundred dollars; Secretary of State,
three thousand dollars; Secretary of War, three thousand
dollars; Governor of the Northwest Territory, two thousand
dollars; Chaplains of both Houses of Congress, two hun-
dred and fifty dollars each; Sergeant-at-Arms, seven hun-
dred and fifty dollars per annum; Private Soldiers, three
dollars per month—subsistence, clothing and medical atten-
tion free. It is needless to remark that the offices were
never better filled than in the days of Washington’s Presi-
dency. The best talents of the country were called into
requisition and the incumbents were content with their com-
pensation. Flour was sold in Philadelphia in 1796 at six-
teen dollars per barrel, and all the necessaries of life were
much higher than at the present day.”

Colonel Johnston continued to hold his position asIndian
agent at Piqua for twenty years, using his great influence
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always for good, and remaining a friend,
in the best sense of the word, to the
Ohio Indians. But Civil Service did
not hold in those days. Andrew
Jackson, that uncompromising J,
Democrat, became President in
1829, and Johnston, being - 5>
on the Whig side of the ‘/
fence, found his political
friends arrayed against him.
After two years of party oppo-
sition he was removed, and a
man by the name of Robb,
living in Columbus, appointed ;
in his place.

Later in life Colonel John-
ston described himself as one who
had “suffered political martyrdom thrice for
inflexible adherence to Whig principles: once by the
tyrant Jackson, once by the nondescript Tyler, and
once by the Democratic legislature of Ohio.” *

President Jackson wrote Colonel Johnston a personal
letter on this occasion, in which he expressed his regret that
outside pressure and political necessity had obliged him to
depose from office a public servant upon whose performance
of duty there had never been a shadow of blame. We may
assume that this explanation was rated at its just value by
the recipient. The situation was never thoroughly appre-
ciated by the Indians, who continued to look to Colonel John-
ston for supplies, advice and help of various kinds; and these
claims he responded to by giving from his own private finances
for a period of two years. :

Upon the election of General Harrison in 1840, John

* Written on the back of his own daguerreot in the possession of Mrs. Hebe Johnston
Craig, of New York. ype
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Johnston was appointed agent to the Seneca Indians and was
stationed at Upper Sandusky, Ohio. It was at this place
that the valuable treaty between the United States and the
Senecas was negotiated and completed by him, by which the
Senecas moved westward over the Mississippi River to land
purchased from the Shawanoese Nation, leaving the State of
Ohio forever free to the white race and to civilization. This
treaty was completed in 1842* at Upper Sandusky, where the
several tribes were assembled. Colonel Johnston’s own ac-
count says:

“The Indians who inhabited the soil of Ohio in my time were the
Wyandottes on the Sandusky River and its tributaries; the Ottawas,
about Maumee Bay and up the river about Defiance and along Blanch-
ard’s Fork; the Shawanoese at Wapakoneta, Hog Creek and at Lewistown.
at the source of the Miami and the Ohio. The Senecas resided at Seneca-
town, near Lower Sandusky; a small band of the same at Lewistown, under
the Chief Methomas, or Civil John. A small band of the Delawares re-
sided about seven miles south of Upper Sandusky, under the chief, Cap-
tain Pipe—the whole numbering about three thousand souls, and, agree-
able to our usual estimate of Indian population, producing five to six
hundred fighting men. They have all left for the far West, it having
fallen to my lot to negotiate a treaty of cession and emigration with the
last of the natives, the Wyandottes, in 1842.

“The Indians do not now own a foot of land on the soil of Ohio, nor
is one of their race to be found residing within its limits. Sixty-five years
ago, when I first came to the Northwest Territory, they were the sole
occupants of the country. A few more years and there will not be one
of them left to tell that they ever existed. In the emphatic, eloquent
and affecting language of Logan, the celebrated Mingo chief, to Lord
Dunmore—‘The white man has killed all my relatives, and now there is
none to mourn for Logan; no, not one. There runs not a drop of my
blood in the veins of any living creature.” That speech is in full in Jeffer-
son’s ‘Notes on Virginia.” Its authenticity has been questioned on both
sides of the Atlantic on account of its pathos and sublime eloquence, but
I can affirm every word and sentence of it to be true. Col. John
Gibson of the Revolutionary Army, and afterwards Secretary of the

*8ee Appendix.
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Indian Territory, had been in early life a trader among the Indians and
thoroughly acquainted with their language. He acted as interpreter to
Lord Dunmore, and most solemnly affirmed in my hearing that the speech
in question was literally and substantially true as published.”

There is sadness in the thought of the original occupants
of this vast country being driven, step by step, toward the
setting sun until they became a dream and a name. These
lines were written at the time of our history by a Wyan-
dotte chieftain, and were translated into English. They
merit quotation because of their pathos and their anthropo-
logical interest:

‘“ Adieu to the graves where my fathers now rest;
For I must be going afar to the West.
I've sold my possessions; my heart fills with woe
To think I must leave them. Alas! must I go?
Farewell, ye tall oaks, in whose pleasant green shade
I sported in childhood, in innocence played;
My dog and my hatchet, my arrow and bow,
Are still in remembrance. Alas! must I go?

‘“ Adieu, ye loved scenes, which bind me like chains;
Where on my gray pony I pranced o’er the plains.
The deer and the turkey I tracked in the snow,
But now must I leave all. Alas! must I go?
Sandusky, Tymocthee, and all their broad streams—
I ne’er more shall see you, except in my dreams.”’

An account of the Sandusky treaty is also to be found
in Dickens’s ‘“ American Notes.” The great novelist was
traveling in 1842 by stage coach through Columbus and
Tiffin from Cincinnati to Lake Erie, on his way to visit
Niagara Falls. He writes:

“At length between ten and eleven o’clock at night, a few feeble
lights appeared in the distance, and Upper Sandusky, an Indian village
where we were to stay until morning, lay beforeus. . . . Itis a set-
tlement of the Wyandotte Indians who inhabit this place. Among the
company at breakfast was a mild old gentleman [Colonel Johnston] who
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had been for many years employed by the United States Government in
conducting negotiations with the Indians, and who had just concluded a
treaty with these people by which they bound themselves, in considera-
tion of a certain annual sum, to remove next year to some land pro-
vided for them west of the Mississippi and a little way beyond St.
Louis. He gave me a moving account of their strong attachment to the
familiar scenes of their infancy, and in particular to the burial places of
their kindred, and of their great reluctance to leave them. He had
witnessed many such removals, and always with pain, though he knew
that they departed for their own good. The question whether this tribe
should go or stay had been discussed among them a day or two before,
in a hut erected for the purpose, the logs of which still lay upon the ground
before the inn. When the speaking was done, the ayes and noes were
ranged on opposite sides, and every male adult voted in his turn. The
moment the result was known, the minority (a large one) cheerfully
yielded to the rest and withdrew all kind of opposition. We met some
of these poor Indians afterwards, riding on shaggy ponies. They were
so like the meaner sort of gypsies that if I could have seen any of them
in England I should have concluded, as a matter of course, that they
belonged to that wandering and restless people.”

A biographical encyclopedia of Ohio thus characterizes
this service of Colonel Johnston to his Government:

“In the consummation of this important and responsible matter, he
completed the entire arrangement so faithfully as to merit the commen-
dation not only of our Government, but that of the Red Men who were
about to leave their hunting grounds to which they had become ardently
attached.”

Pending the Presidential election of 1840, General Harri-
son was occasionally a visitor at the homestead in Upper Piqua.
He was there only a few months prior to the death of Mrs.
Johnston. She had enjoyed his acquaintance for almost forty
years and took a deep interest in all that concerned his happi-
ness and family. Being herself a devoted Christian, she cher-
ished the sincere desire to see all others in possession of those
hopes which sustained her through a life spent under circum-
stances of more than ordinary trial. She used her oppor-
tunities to converse with the General on the subject of relig-
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ion, urging upon him that as he was getting old it was time
he should turn his attention to the close of his earthly career
and seek his peace with God. He replied that he had long
been convinced of his duty to make public profession of
Christianity, but that the people of the United States had
made him a candidate for the Presidency, and that if he were
then to unite himself with the church it would be ascribed
to a desire for popularity; would do the cause of religion a
serious injury, and make himself the subject of uncharitable
remarks in the political journals. ‘“But,” he added to Mrs.
Johnston, “ as soon as this contest for the Presidency is over,
let it be adverse or prosperous to myself, it is my purpose, if
my life is spared, to make a public profession of religion
immediately after the inauguration.” And it is well known
that the President had an understanding with the Rev.
Dr. Hawley, of St. John’s Church in Washington, to become
a member of that church on Easter Sunday, April, 1841.
This fact was stated at the funeral service.

Mrs. Patterson writes: “Late in March, 1841, my father,
being then in Washington, called at the President’s house on
Sunday evening when the whole house was filled with visit-
ors. This pained him, because he knew so well the character
and conscientiousness of his friend, General Harrison. He
spoke of it to the President and told him that he was sorry
to see the house resorted to by such a multitude on the
Sabbath day, and that he feared these matters would get
into the newspapers and injure his character. General
Harrison replied that he regretted that persons would visit
him on that day; that the city was full of people who wanted
to see him, but as soon as the crowd dispersed and went
home, his house in the future would be closed against all
visitors on Sunday.”

Colonel Johnston was a member of the Harrisburg
Convention which had so largely assisted in nominating
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General Harrison for the Presidency. He went from Piqua
to Harrisburg on horseback, stopping at taverns frequented
by wagoners, farmers, mechanics and working men. Thus
he had access to the rank and file of the political army.
He could tell them more about “Old Tipp” (as they called
General Harrison) than they had ever heard before. He
spoke many times to what were for those days large audi-
ences. Sometimes the bar-room of the tavern could not
contain the people.
“Thousands would

be pressing in,” said

he, “because I could

tell them so many

good things about

‘Old fl\ipp.l 12 The
payment of Colonel
Johnston’s tavern

bills was sometimes
refused by the land-

lords, because he

was a friend of General

urrison.

The last time General
Harrison was a guest of
the Johnstons was in the
summer of 1840. Colonel
Johnston met him at the stage and brought him home that
he might be quiet in comfortable quarters, of which he stood
greatly in need after the fatigue of the campaign. The Gen-
eral had ridden fifty miles that same day and delivered three
speeches. He was surrounded by an immense crowd, so that
it was some time before he could be reached. Colonel John-
ston ordered supper, and afterwards General Harrison spoke
an hour on the stand. At the end of that time Colonel

BACK OF JOHNSTON HOMESTEAD
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Johnston carried his guest off through the crowd to his
home in the country. After supper, they sat up late to
talk over old times. General Harrison wanted an account
of Colonel Johnston’s life and fortunes since-they had last
met. The reply was, “I have kept out of debt and made
the two ends of the year meet.”” General Harrison replied
that he could not do so well as that, and asked his friend
why he did not speculate and make a fortune, as other men
did in the service. “I told him,” says Colonel Johnston,
“that he had always enjoined upon his subordinates that
.we should never apply public money to private purposes,
and since he had always enforced this rule, both by precept
and example, if there was any one to blame for my not
making a fortune, it was General Harrison himself.” He
laughed at the rejoinder.

Some years later than the incident just related, Colonel
Johnston, while he was at Harrodsburg Springs, Ky.,
received an invitation from the Governor to go to Frank-
fort and act as one of the pall-bearers at the reinterment
of the remains of Daniel Boone and his wife, recently re-
moved from the State of Missouri by a committee sent from
Kentucky for the purpose. The bodies had remained in
the soil of Missouri for nearly thirty years, and it was after
much hesitancy on the part of the person on whose planta-
tion they were interred, that he consented to their removal.
The small bones of both had moldered into dust. They
were enclosed in separate boxes, and at Frankfort transferred
to two plain, handsome caskets and then committed to their
last resting place in the public cemetery at Frankfort, which
occupies a high and beautiful knoll over the Kentucky River.
Colonel Johnston says: “It was accorded to myself to carry
Boone’s coffin from the hearse to the grave. It indicated
no weight but that of the boards of which it was made.”
The funeral was attended by an immense concourse of per-
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sons from all parts of the State and the adjacent parts of
Ohio. The military, Free Masons and Odd Fellows were
out in their appropriate uniforms in large numbers. The
whole attendance was estimated at twenty-five thousand.
The Hon. John J. Crittenden was orator, and the
Methodist Bishop Soule the chaplain of the occasion. Cap-
tain Johnston, the Colonel’s eldest son, was then serving in
the western army in company with Captain Boone, son of
Daniel Boone. Colonel Johnston sent his son a copy of the
Frankfort Commonwealth containing an account of the
funeral ceremonies. Upon reading this, Captain Boone re-
marked that if one-half of the money spent at his father’s
last interment had been contributed to his support when
living, it would have done him some good.
* * * * * * *

Many scattered reminiscences of Colonel Johnston, bear-
ing upon people he knew and men and measures he had to
do with, are published in Howe’s Historical Collections of
Ohio, and reproduced in these pages to round out the story
of his life.

Colonel Johnston says:*

“Logan left a dying request to myself, that his two sons should be
sent to Kentucky, and there educated and brought up under the care
of Major Hardin. As soon as peace and tranquillity was restored among
the Indians, I made application to the chiefs to fulfill the wish of their
dead friend to deliver up the boys, that I might have them conveyed
to Frankfort, the residence of Major Hardin. The chiefs were em-
barrassed, and manifested an unwillingness to comply, and in this they
were warmly supported by the mother of the children. On no account
would they consent to send them so far away as Kentucky, but agreed
that I should take and have them schooled at Piqua; it being the best
that I could do, in compliance with the dying words of Logan, they were
broughtin. I had them put to school and boarded in a religious, respect-~

able family. The mother of the boys, who was a bad woman, thwarted
all my plans for their improvement, frequently taking them off for weeks,

* Reprint from Howe’s Historical Collections of Ohio,
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giving them bad advice, and even, on one or two occasions, brought
whiskey to the school-house and made them drunk. In this way she
continued to annoy me, and finally took them altogether to raise with
herself among the Shawanoese, at Wapaghkonetta. I made several
other attempts, during my connection with the Indians, to educate
and train up to civilized life many of their youth, without any encourag-
ing results—all of them proved failures. The children of Logan, with
their mother, emigrated to the west twenty years ago, and have there
become some of the wildest of their race.”

‘ Antoine Lasselle I well knew: this man, a Canadian, was taken
prisoner at Wayne’s battle, painted, dressed and disguised as an Indian.
He was tried by court-martial, at Roche-de Boeuf, and sentenced to be
hung. A gallows was erected and the execution ordered, when Col.
John F. Hamtranck—a native of Canada, who joined the American
standard under Montgomery, in the Revolutionary war, and was, in
1794, colonel of the first regiment of infantry, under Wayne—interposed
and begged the life of the prisoner. General Wayne afterward granted
to Lasselle license to trade at Fort Wayne, and he was there as such
many years during my agency at the post. He was a man of wit and
drollery, and would often clasp his neck with both hands, to show how
near he had been to hanging by order of Mad Anthony.”

“M’Kee and Elliott were Pennsylvanians, and the latter, I think,
of Irish birth. They resided at the commencement of the Revolution-
ary war in Path Valley, Pa. A brother and a brother-in-law of mine
lived in the same neighborhood: I therefore have undoubted authority
for the facts. A number of tories resided in the township, M’Kee and
Elliott being leaders. A large proportion of the inhabitants being whigs,
the place became too warm to hold them. They fled to the enemy, and
leagued with the Shawanoese Indians in committing depredations on the
frontier settlers. Both of these incendiaries had Indian wives and chil-
dren, and finally their influence became so great among the savages
that they were appointed agents for Indian affairs by the British govern-
ment, and continued as such until their death. Matthew Elliott was
an uncle, by his father’s side, to the late Commodore Elliott, and had a
son killed in the late war, by the Indians under Logan. On the death
of M’Kee, his son, a half-breed, was a deputy agent in Upper Canada.
He was a splendid looking man, and married an accomplished white

\

¢ Reprint from Howe’s Historieal Collections of Ohio.
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lady. He had too much of the Indian nature, and the marriage turned
out somewhat unhappily.”

Howe says:

“In the French war, which ended with the peace of 1763, a bloody
battle was fought on the present farm of Colonel Johnston, at Upper
Piqua. At that time, the Miamis had their towns here, which are marked
on ancient maps, ‘Tewightewee towns.’ The Miamis, Wyandots,
Ottawas, and other northern tribes adhered to the French, made a
stand here, and fortified—the Canadian traders and French assisting.

THE OLD BARN AT THE PIQUA HOMESTEAD

The Delawares, Shawanoese, Munseys, part of the Senecas residing in
Pennsylvania, Cherokees, Catawbas, etec., adhering to the English interest,
with the English traders attacked the French and Indians. The siege
continued for more than a week; the fort stood out, and could not be
taken. Many were slain, the assailants suffering most severely. The
besieged lost a number, and all their exposed property was burnt and
destroyed. The Shawanoese chief, Black Hoof, one of the besiegers, in-
formed Colonel Johnston that the ground around was strewed with
bullets, 8o that baskets full could have been gathered.

* Reprint from Howe’s Historioal Collections of Ohio.
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“Soon after this contest, the Miamis and their allies left this part
of the country, and retired to the Miami of the Lake, at and near Fort
Wayne, and never returned. The Shawanoese took their place, and
gave names to towns in this vicinity. Colonel Johnston’s place, ‘and
the now large and flourishing town of Piqua, was called Chillicothe, after
the tribe of that name; the site of his farm, after the Piqua tribe.””

“Fort Piqua, erected prior to the settlement of the country, stood
at Upper Piqua, on the west bank of the river. It was designed as a
place of deposit for stores for the army of Wayne. The portage from
here to Fort Laramie, fourteen miles, thence to St. Mary’s, twelve miles,
was all the land carriage from the Ohio to Lake Erie. Loaded boats fre-
quently ascended to Fort Laramie, the loading taken out and hauled
to St. Mary’s; the boats also moved across on wheels, again loaded, and
launched for Fort Wayne, Defiance and the lake. Sometimes, in very
high water, loaded boats from the Ohio approached within six miles
of St. Mary’s. Before the settlement of the country, a large proportion
of the army supplies were conveyed up this river. When mill dams
were erected, the navigation was destroyed, and boating ceased.

“In 1794, Capt. J. N. Vischer, the last commandant of Fort Piqua,
was stationed here. During that year, two freighted boats, guarded
by an officer and twenty-three men, were attacked by the Indians near the
fort, and the men all massacred. Captain Vischer heard the firing, but
from the weakness of his command, could render no assistance. The plan
of the Indians doubtless was, to make the attack in hearing of the fort,
and thereby induce them to sally out in aid of their countrymen, defeat all,
and take the fort. The commander was a discreet officer, and aware of
the subtleness of the enemy, had
the firmness to save the fort. H

““The family of Colonel Johnston
settled at Upper Piqua in 1811, the pre-
vious eleven years having been spent at
Fort Wayne. Years after the destruction
of the boats and party on the river, frag ments of muskets, bay-
onets, and other remains of that disaster, were found at low water,
embedded in the sand. The track of the pickets, the form of the
river bastion, the foundation of chimneys in the block-houses, still
mark the site of Fort Piqua. The plow has levelled the graves of the
brave men—for many sleep here—who fell in the service. At this place,
Fort Laramie, St. Mary’s, and Fort Wayne, large numbers of the regulars

* Reprint from Howe'’s Ilistorical Collections of Ohio. ’
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and militia volunteers were buried, in the wars of Wayne, as well as in the
last war,

“In the late war, the far greater number of Indians who remained
friendly, and claimed and received protection from the United States,
were placed under the care of Colonel Johnston, at Piqua. These were

the Shawanoese, Delawares, Wyandots in part, Ottawas in

vart, part of the Senecas, all the Munseys, and Mohicans;

» small number remained at Zanesfield, and some at Upper

Sandusky, under Maj. B. F. Stickney, now of Toledo.

The number here amounted, at one period, to six

thousand, and were doubtless the best protection to

the frontier. With a view of detaching the Indians

here from the American interest, and taking them off

to the enemy, and knowing that so long as Colonel

" Johnston lived this could not be accomplished, several

plots were contrived to assassinate him. His life was

in utmost danger. He arose many mornings with but

little hope of living until night, and the friendly chiefs

often warned him of his danger; but he was planted

at the post; duty, honor, and the safety of the fron-

tier forbade his abandoning it. His faithful wife staid by

him; the rest of his family, papers and valuable effects,

were removed to a place of greater security. On one occa-
sion, his escape seemed miraculous.

‘“ Near the house, at the road side, by which he daily
several times passed in visiting the Indian camp, was a
cluster of wild plum bushes. No one would have sus-
pected hostile Indians to secrete themselves there; yet
there the intended assassins waited to murder him, which
t they must have soon accomplished, had they not been

——- discovered by some Delaware women, who gave
WHEEET the alarm.  The Indians—three in number—fled;
$O a party pursued, but lost the trail. It after-
wards appeared that they went up the river some distance, crossed to
the east side, and passing down nearly opposite his residence, deter-
mined, in being foiled of their chief prize, not to return empty
handed. They killed Mr. Dilbone and his wife, who were in a field
pulling flax; their children, who were with them, escaped by se-
creting themselves in the weeds. From thence, the Indians went lower

* Reprint from Howe’s Historical Collections of Ohio.
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down, three miles, to Loss Creek, where they killed David Garrard, who
was at work a short distance from his house. The leader of the party,
Pash-e-towa, was noted for his cold-blooded cruelty, and a short time
previous, was the chief actor in destroying upwards of twenty persons—
mostly women and children—at a place called Pigeon Roost, Indiana.
He was killed, after the war, by one of his own people, in satisfaction for
the numerous cruelties he had committed on unoffending persons.

“In the war of 1812, nothing was more embarrassing to the public
agents than the management of the Indians on the frontier. President
Madison, from a noble principle which does his memory high honor,
positively refused to employ them in the war, and this was a cause of all
the losses in the country adjacent to the upper lakes. Having their
families in possession, the agents could have placed implicit confidence in
the fidelity of the warriors. As it was, they had to manage them as they
best could. Colonel Johnston frequently furnished them with white
flags, with suitable mottoes, to enable them to pass out-posts and scouts
in safety. On one occasion, the militia basely fired on one of these parties,
bearing a flag hoisted in full view. They killed two Indians, wounded a
third, took the survivors prisoners, and after robbing them of all they
possessed, conveyed them to the garrison at Greenville, to which post
the party belonged. On reflection they were convinced they had com-
mitted an unjustifiable act, and became alarmed for the consequences.
They brought the prisoners to Upper Piqua and delivered them to
Colonel Johnston. He took them, wishing to do the best in his power
for the Indians, and on deliberatior, decided to conduct them back to
Greenville, and restore them, with their property, to their people. Appli-
cation was made by Colonel Johnston to the officer commanding at
Piqua, for a guard on the journey. These were Ohio militia, of whom
not & man or officer dared to go. He then told the commander, if he
would accompany him, he would go at all hazards, the distance being
twenty-five miles, the road entirely uninhabited, and known to be
infested with Indians, who had recently killed two girls near Greenville.
But he alike refused. All his appeals to the pride and patriotism of
officers and men proving unavailing, he decided to go alone, it being a
case that required the promptest action, to prevent evil impressions
spreading among the Indians. He got his horse ready, bade farewell to
his wife, scarcely expecting ever to see her again, and reached Greenville
in safety; procured nearly all the articles taken from the Indians, and

® Reprint from Howe’s Historical Collections of Ohio.
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.delivered them back, made them a speech, dismissed
them, and then springing on his horse, started back alone,
and reached his home in safety, to the surprise of all,
particularly the militia, who, dastardly fellows, scarce
expected to see him alive, and made many apolo-
gies for their cowardice.

" ¢“During the war, Colonel Johnston had many proofs of the ﬁdehty
-of some of the friendly Indians. After the surrender of Detroit, the frontier
-of Ohio was thrown into the greatest terror and confusion. A large body
.of Indians still resided within its limits, accessible to the British. In the
garrison of Fort Wayne, which was threatened, were many women and
.children, who, in case of attack, would have been detrimental to its defence,
:and it therefore became necessary to have them speedily removed. Colonel
Johnston assembled the Shawanoese chiefs, and stating the case, requested
‘volunteers to bring the women and children at Fort Wayne to Piqua.
Logan immediately arose and offered his services, and soon started with
a party of mounted Indians, all volunteers. They reached the post,
received their interesting and helpless charge, and safely brought them
to the settlements, through a country infested with marauding bands of
hostile savages. The women spoke in the highest terms of the vigilance,
-care and delicacy of their faithful conductors.”

Colonel Johnston says:

“Little Turtle was & man of great wit, humor and vivacity, fond of
the company of gentlemen, and delighted in good eating. When I knew
‘him, he had two wives living with him under the same roof in the greatest
harmony; one, an old woman, about his own age—fifty—the choice of
his youth, who performed the drudgery of the house; the other, a young
and beautiful creature of eighteen, who was his favorite; yet it never was
discovered by any one that the least unkind feeling existed between
them. This distinguished chief died at Fort Wayne about twenty-five

years ago, of a confirmed case of the gout, brought

= on by high living, and was buried with military

- honors by the troops of the United States. The
Little Turtle used to entertain us with many of
his war adventures, and would laugh immoderately
4 at the recital of the following:—A white man, a
—_—T T ”" prisoner of many years in the tribe, had often solicited

* Reprint from Howe's Historical Collections of Ohio.
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permission to go on a war party to Kentucky, and had been refused. It
never was the practice with the Indians to ask or encourage white pris-
oners among them to go to war against their countrymen. This man,
however, had so far acquired the confidence of the Indians, and being
importunate to go to war, the Turtle at length consented, and took him
on an expedition into Kentucky. As was their practice, they had recon-
noitered during the day, and had fixed on a house recently built and
occupied, as the object to be attacked next morning a little before dawn
of day. The house was surrounded by a clearing, there being much brush
and fallen timber on the ground. At the appointed time, the Indians,
with the white man, began to move to the attack. At all such times no
talking or noise is to be made. They crawl along the ground on hands
and feet; all is done by signs from the leader. The white man all the time
was striving to be foremost, the Indians beckoning him to keep®back.
In spite of all their efforts he would keep foremost, and having at length
got within running distance of the house, he jumped to his feet and went
with all his speed shouting, at the top of his voice, Indians! Indians!
The Turtle and his party had to make a precipitate retreat, losing forever
their white companion, and disappointed in their fancied conquest of the
unsuspecting victims of the log cabin. From that day forth this chief
would never trust a white man to accompany him again to wat.

In 1847 Col. John Johnston wrote the following impressions
of Daniel Boone: “It is now fifty-four years since I first
saw Daniel Boone. He was then about sixty years of age,
of medium size, about five feet ten, not given to corpulency,
retired, unobtrusive and a man of few words. My acquaint-
ance was made with him in the winter season, and I well
remember his dress was of toro cloth and not a woolen gar-
ment on his body, unless his stockings were of that material.
Home-made was the common wear of the people of Kentucky
at that time; sheep were not yet introduced into the country.
I spent four nights in the house of one West, with Boone;
there were a number of strangers, and he was constantly
occupied in answering questions.”

Among the friends of John Johnston at this time was

* Reprint from Howe's Historical Collections of Ohio.
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Captain Butler, a nephew of Gen. Richard Butler, who fell
at St. Clair's defeat. He had command of Fort Laramie,
which was built by Wayne in 1704, in what is now Shelby
County. The two families interchanged hospitalities from
time to time. Colonel Johnston wrote: ‘“His wife and
eight children were with him during his command. A very
interesting son of his, about eight years old, died at the post.
The agonized father and mother were inconsolable. The
grave was enclosed with a very handsome painted railing,
at the foot of which honey-suckles were planted, grew luxu-
riantly and finally enclosed the whole grave.

“The peace withdrew Captain Butler and his troops to
other scenes on the Mississippi. I never passed the fort
without a melancholy thought about the lovely boy who
rested there, and his parents never to behold that cherished
spot again. Long after the posts had decayed in the ground,
the vines sustained the palings and the whole remained
perfect until the War of 1812, when all was destroyed, and
now a farm stands over the spot.”
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EARLY LIFE IN PIQUA

“I think it must be somewhere written that the
virtues of the mothers shall be visited upon their
children, as well as the sins of the fathers.”

DickEns.

family of Col. John Johnston, at the time of
hich we are writing, consisted of his wife,
achel, and fifteen children, of whom Julia,
rwards Mrs. Patterson, was the fifth. She
born in a blockhouse inside the stockade
t Piqua, on August sixteenth, 1811. The
, in the order of their birth, were as follows:
EN, born at Fort Wayne, Indiana, April
second, 1803; Lieutenant United States Navy; died April
second, 1848.

REBEccA, born at Fort Wayne, Indiana, September third,
1805; died two years later. (These were the first white chil-
dren born at Fort Wayne.)

ErizaBETH, born at Fort Wayne, Indiana, September
twenty-second, 1807.

RosaNNA, born at Fort Wayne, Indiana, July second, 1809.

JuLiaNa, born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, August sixteenth,
1811.

MaRry, born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, November twenty-
eighth, 1813.

ABraHAM RoOBINSON, born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, May
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twenty-third, 1815; captain First Dragoons; killed in battle
at San Pasquale, California, December sixth, 1846.

RacHEL, born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, November twenty-
fourth, 1816.

ReBECCcA, born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, April second, 1818.
Of her the father writes that she was “gentle, dutiful, kind
and affectionate.”

Jorn H. D., born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, June twenty-
fifth, 1820.

CAaTHERINE CONNELLY, born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, March
eighth, 1822.

WiLLiam BERNARD, born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, January
twenty-second, 1824.

MaRrGARET DEFREES, born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, Sep-
tember tenth, 1825. Died at Cincinnati, June twenty-first,
1849.

HARrRIET JoNES, born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, August six-
teenth, 1827.

JamEs Apawms, born at Upper Piqua, Ohio, May fifth, 1830.

The remarkable mother of this remarkable family died
July twenty-fourth, 1840. Her monument in the cemetery
at Upper Piqua bears this inscription:

“In memory of Rachel Johnston, wife of John Johnston. Born in the
city of Philadelphia, July twelfth, 1785. Died at Upper Piqua, July twen-
ty-fourth, 1840. An honored and lamented mother of fifteen children.”

“Lo, where this silent marble weeps,
A friend, a wife, & mother sleeps.
A heart, within whose sacred cell
The Christian virtues loved to dwell.
Affection warm and faith sincere,
And soft humanity were there.

“Q, from thy kindred early torn,
And to thy grave untimely borne; .
Vanished forever from our view,
Thou daughter, sister, friend, adieu.”
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If one examines the dates in the above family record,
it will be found that Rachel Robinson Johnston bore, on an
average, a child every twenty months for twenty-six years.
This, the sequel to her runaway marriage and her thousand
miles wedding journey on horseback, is a bare record as the
figures state it; but her descendants should read between the
lines to find her services to God and her country. These will
be found chronicled nowhere else. Not in government records,

for she had no public
duties; not in letters,
for the pio- neers were
too busy providing
food and protecting
themselves to write
voluminous ly; not in
Colonel Johnston’s
memoirs, for he was
occupied with the
Indians. Mrs. Rachel
Johnston’s great-grand-
children will have to
use their im agination
to picture the unceas-
ing service of this
mOther in COLONEL JOHN JOHNSTON Israel’ and
her arduous dutieswhen

everything in the household had to be of home production.
The supervision of the farm and dairy; the spinning, the
weaving, cooking, mending, candle dipping, fruit drying,
carpet weaving, bread baking (at the open fireplace, of
course), and looking after the beehive full of children were
all Mrs. Johnston’s daily duties. If her descendants come
to the conclusion that their great-grandfather had an easier
and simpler time of it with his ten thousand Indians than
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did their great-grandmother with her fifteen little Johnstons,
they will be of one opinion with the writer.

But her family burdens did not make Mrs. Johnston care-
less of the larger duties. She assisted her husband in keep-
ing the confidence of the Indian tribes who lived all around
them, and her daughter said, “often her home was full every
night of Indians, of which there were as many as six thousand
close at hand.” When'it became apparent, as it sometimes
did, that the vacancy left by the absence of the Indians would
be more enjoyable than their society, Colonel Johnston would
get a circus to come to town. This occasioned a diversion
which spared the Johnston family many hangers-on; and,
best of all, when the circus broke up and moved away, the
Indians were sure to break camp at the same time from force
of example. This ruse was resorted to quite a number of
times and never failed to relieve Mrs. Johnston of her unin-
vited guests. Herein is shown the kindness of heart of both
husband and wife, who might have cleared the premises in
a much more summary manner had they not been filled
with the milk of human kindness which prompts delicacy in
dealing with the feelings of humble folk.

“ Aunt Rachel,”’ as she was often called, was much given
to hospitality. A Quaker in her earlier days, no Friend
ever went by her door without entertainment for himself and
his beast, and the old place was headquarters for all traveling
people. Among the demands upon her help and counsel was
the church of her choice, and in the Bible Society, of which
she was one of the founders, she was a ready worker.

The first child to leave the family circle was Stephen John-
ston, who went to Annapolis. There is still living in Piqua
Mrs. Rachel Davis, who knew the Johnston family and used
to visit there when all of the fourteen children were still at
home.

Mrs. Patterson, as has been stated, was one of the children
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born in the stockade fort,

which was their first home

after coming from Fort

Wayne. Afterwards, when §

the neighborhood became

more settled and the Indians

trol, the Johnstons moved

commodious farmhouse,

porches, wings and outlying )

still existent, one of the old landmarks of Upper
Piqua. It stands amid green and sloping pastures, framed
in distant woods, and the rolling fields, once the scenes
of bloody conflicts between the Indians and whites, stretch
right and left for miles. A large barn of generous accom-
modation stands at some distance southward of the house.
Back of the house the land drops into a shady dell, where
stands the spring-house spoken of by Colonel Howe, in
his “History of Ohio.” It is a spacious two-story building,
with a low, moss-grown roof, under the shadow of a weeping
willow whose boughs caress the timbers. On the upper floor
is a long room with a fireplace and with several windows
looking upon a porch, now all open and abandoned to the
sun, rain and wind, and littered with the hoards of squirrels.
In the lower story there are three divisions: one where the
churning was done, one where the stores were kept, and one
where the sparkling water flowed in from the spring over stone
flagging, filling each shallow trough and storing up cool, sweet
dampness for the cream and butter. No other place speaks
80 loud in associations of the farm and the housewife as the
spring-house. Here Rachel Johnston and her daughters
must have spent many, many hours of the long summer
days overseeing and doing the work and preparing for the
cohorts of guests who swept down so frequently upon this
hospitable household.
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The front of the homestead faces the west, and the slanting
sun, entering at the large windows, shows the ample rooms
and halls which once sheltered this vigorous pioneer family.
The main hall passes from the front entrance through the
house to a door opening upon a shady porch which
overlooks the ravine and the spring-house. On the left
side of the hall is the parlor, a room about twenty-five
feet square, with a beautiful old colonial mantel and a good
style of wood finish, such as is used in the most expensive
modern houses. In this room Mrs. Julia Johnston Patterson
stood as a bride, and, at different times, five of her sisters.

Many distinguished people found entertainment under
this roof. -Gen. William Henry Harrison, as has been said,
was an honored guest; also Tecumseh, Little Turtle and
Black Hoof, the famous Indian chiefs; Bishop Philander
Chase, Gen. Lewis Cass, Thomas Worthington, and other
officers of the army and prominent men.

Mrs. Patterson’s reminiscences, transcribed for the benefit
of her grandchildren, contain some interesting accounts of
her childhood during this period. She says:

“I have spent many a day with the Indians in their camps
around Piqua when a child. The schooling which we received was in a
little log school-house, with

rough hewn benches for seats.

We used oil paper for panes

of glass in the windows. All

over the block-house there

were places in which to de-

posit and. store away goods

for the Indians; such things as saddles, blankets, guns, ammuni-
tion, etc. One day a little girl (Eliza Bradford) and myself went
up to the garret of the block-house on a ladder to see what we
could find. I found one saddle away down and we got together
and pulled on it, and there we discovered some Indian scalps. I ran
down and called to my mother what I had found, which made
her very much frightened, because she said the Indians would kill
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us if they found it out, They were taken by the soldiers at
the battle of the River Basin and had been broug
in by them.

“When I was about four years old father, feari
an outbreak, sent all the children with grandmother
here to Dayton. We stayed with a family by
the name of Logan, who lived down the river ¢
road about four miles below Dayton. One of
the girls afterward married and became a neigh- /
bor of ours, and she would often tell us about it. ¢,

We stayed there about six months or a year. ;
At the end of that time, the Indian war being
over, we were taken back to Piqua in a wagon.

“When we came to town there was nothing to be seen but a little frame
house with a piece of red flannel hanging out in front of it. This was a
store. Ashley Brown’s grandfather came out and grandmother took a
package out of the saddle bags and gave it to him. It was a pair of socks
she had spun herself out of fine lamb’s wool, and she knit them herself.
When we came back he gave her a package, and when she got home she

- found it was a fine silk dress. His store was on Main Street where the
Phillips House is now. This store of Henry Brown’s was a post for trading
with the Indians who brought in furs, skins, etc., and traded them for
store goods. They were paid by the Government out of Brown'’s store.
Perhaps one thousand blankets would be in stock at this place. Twice a
year my father would come to Dayton to disburse them. During the war
he did this at Dayton, and after the war was over, he distributed them
at Piqua.

“The wagon trail between Piqua and Cincinnati was over hills, down
valleys and across rivers without any bridges. When the water was too
high to cross, we would have to wait on the side of the river until it went
down, and then we would go over in canoes and swim the horses. The
Fair Grounds hill was so steep that it was a stalling place. Emigrants
passing to and fro were often delayed by being stalled on this hill, and
Col. Robert Patterson, when he lived at Rubicon Farm, often helped
them over the hill with a pair of oxen which he said he kept almost entirely
for this purpose. . . . The stage notified people in advance of its
coming by blowing on horns. They used four horses to a stage, and
changed every ten or twelve miles between Piqua and Cincinnati. We
would leave Piqua in the morning, get to Dayton that night and then go
down to Cincinnati. It would take in all two days and one night. Before
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the pikes were made or stages were used, we traveled on horse-back
or in wagons. The mail was carried on horse-back, and passenger
travel was confined almost exclusively to horse-back riding.

* * * * * * *

“When I was a child at Piqua we had no matches nor coal,
and it was necessary to keep the fire up by putting coals on wood
first and then covering with ashes. If this fire went out by acci-
dent, we started a new one by taking a flint-lock and striking two
sparks together. The spark would fall down into some punk and ¥
burn like a match. They could not afford to use powder to start a fire
with, as-it was too expensive. The powder was kept in powder horns,
.and was only used for killing deer and pork for the winter meat. The
Indians were always glad to trade any kind of game for powder and pork.

“I can remember when we were very saving of flour bread. Wheat
and flour were scarce, and the consequence was bread was seldom had.
In the place of bread they would take the breast of a wild turkey, roast it
by turning it round and round in front of the fire on a spit. Then they
would cut off slices of it, and put it on the table and use it in place of
bread. Apples at that time were also very scarce, because the trees were
still young.

* * * * * * *

“ At the garrison in Piqua, we used to save all our old clothes; the
soldiers would leave their old clothes there, and mother would have them
cleaned, dried and cut up into carpet rags. The British soldiers had red
coats and the American soldiers had blue, and this mixture would make
a very pretty rag carpet. The chain which we had for these carpets was
made out of hemp. The carpets were woven on the farm by an old Irish-
man, who learned the trade in Ireland. He also wove the coverlids for
the beds, table linen, sheeting, towels, etc. Everything we had of this nature
was woven on the farm. The yarn was spun first on a big spinning wheel, or
the little spinning wheel, and from this stockings were knit and cloth made
for dresses. Plaits were made of blue and red, red and white, or any other
color. They were dyed with madder, copperas and indigo. The Indians
used to dye with dyes they got out of the woods. They dyed red by use of
sumach. They also took the leaves of this and made ‘kinikinik’ to
smoke. They would put a little tobacco in, however, to give it an odor.
They would take a coon skin, dry it and use it to carry their ‘kinikinik.’
They did not raise tobacco. The tobacco all came from Virginia, and
was brought by white people. It was twisted in a twist like a skein of

,I‘ B
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yarn, and was called ‘dog-leg’ tobacco. The Indians would buy this and
would put a little of it in with their ‘kinikinik.’

* * * * * * *

“My father said that the Indians had the same religious ceremonies

as the Jews. There were some of them also Free Masons. They had a
Lodge among them the same as we have, similar to the Free Masons.
There was a large mound between Piqua and Dayton, and it was said by
some that Indian bodies were buried beneath it, but the Indians themselves
said they never knew anything of their tribes being buried there. Father
also said that the Indians never threw a wheel-barrow of dirt up in that
shape, and that consequently the mound builders must have been pre-
vious to the Indians.

* * * * * * *

“The first thing I can remember of my grandmother * was as follows:
We were in the stockade at Upper Piqua and had a pet deer. My grand-
mother had some linen yarn hanging up on the line to dry, and this deer
got its horns entangled in the yarn. I was born inside of this stockade.
The logs were about ten feet high. Our cabin was inside this, and stood
off to one side. The stockade included about ten acres, and the spring
was inside. It was planned by an officer of the army. When we moved
out of the stockade, I had a great big china doll on the shelf behind the
door, and as we were leaving, I went back to the cabin and got it. I was
only three years old at that time. At another time, I can remember that
same deer got its head in the milk and in some way broke its leg. My
grandmother went and bound it up and fed it until it got well.

“They used to kill opossums and eat them, but my grandmother
would never let them do it when she was around. When we went to
church, we did not get back until four o’clock in the afternoon. This
was because the road was through the woods and was very poor. When
going to church they would never take a lunch, except possibly the
children would take a biscuit.

* * * * * * *

My father found a white boy among the Indians and he tried
every way to find the child’s parents. At last he sent for a woman from
Kentucky whom he believed to be a relative. The woman and the
daughter came all the way over from Kentucky on horse-back. They
looked the child over and came to the conclusion that he had none of the
features of their family. The parents of the child for whom they were

* This was the French girl, Elisabeth Bernard,
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looking had been killed by the Indians and the child taken

captive. The age corresponded, but not the features. They

were going to go away and my grandmother asked them if
they ever sang to the child. The woman said, yes; its mother
sang whenever she put the child to sleep. My grandmother then
told the old lady to sing some of the old cradle songs and notice
if the child observed them. The woman began to sing and had -
scarcely sang one verse through when the child began to cry.
She found it was the long lost child and they took it back to
Kentucky with them.

“Billy and John Conners were taken captive by the Indians
when they were small. Billy married a squaw and had seven
children. When the Indians were preparing to start West over

the Mississippi River to their reservation, they began to suspect Conners
of not going with them, as he was not getting ready, and the squaw wife
was very anxious and very much troubled. Grandmother told him he
must go with her and he denied that he was preparing not to go. He
went one day’s journey with them and came back, deserting his squaw
and children. He got one thousand acres of land because she was a
squaw and he laid out the town of Connersville, Indiana. He became
a very rich man and married a white woman. I do not know what
became of the other child, John Conners. Stephen Woodney afterward
told me that he saw Conners’ squaw, and she said she had taken a vine
called ‘liveforever,’ and stuck a piece for each member of her family in
different parts of the home before starting West. ‘Liveforever’ was a
kind of shrub that would grow and spread. She did this because she
said she did not want any one to go in there and live.

“The Indians got sixty thousand dollars for their land, which was
paid to them by my father. The white men swindled them, though.
One man brought in a bill of eight thousand dollars for goods which
he claimed to have sold them. The poor Indian chief had signed
the paper, and the law required the money to be turned over to the
white man. It seemed as if the Indians would have to give way to
the people who would use the land for better purposes than hunting.
The Indians did not do much farming. They would sell their furs and
get what they wanted in that way. They had a different kind of
corn from ours, It was called ‘Squaw corn,” and was a very small
cob, so that they could shell the corn and carry it with them to make
‘succotash.’

“Black Hoof said he was born on the Susquehanna River, and came
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from there with a tribe of Shoshone” Indians; that he remembered the
— Treaty with the white people by which the Indians
leir land in Pennsylvania to the Government.
3overnment in this Treaty stipulated that the
lians should never be moved again; that the
new territory would be sacred to them for
all time. Black Hoof said the white men
would get all their land from them and
would leave them no place to live. They
would push them West until they pushed
them into the Pacific Ocean, and that
would be the last of the Indians.
“Qur family hated to see the poor In-
dians move, but my mother never liked
to live among them, and would never
let her children learn the Indian tongue,
as she said we were barbarians enough.
My father could understand the Sho-
shone language. Manitou was the
good spirit of the Indians, and
Natchee-Manitou represented the
devil to them.
“In 1811, my uncle was deputy
supply agent at Fort Wayne, Indiana.
He was sent by the Government to the
territory of Cincinnati and was killed
by a Potawatamie Indian. They took
his watch, and that is how we knew
he was killed by an Indian. My
uncle’s name was Stephen Johnston.
That is the reason my father left the
Fort and went to live at the stockade
at Upper Piqua.”

What would we not give for

some detailed account of the family

ife of the Johnston household at
Jpper Piqua, for a record of one week,
and what they did and said? There
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are no diaries extant, and but few letters; and these are of a
later day than that of which we write, and were addressed to
those children who had left the parents’ home. They are the
briefest reports of the health of the family and directions
about some matters of business. No trifling chit-chat—there
was no time for it. No philosophizing—they did not know
how. Every-day duty and religious faith made up their cor-
respondence, as it did their lives. Colonel Johnston wrote
frequently to his friends and to his absent children, in his
beautiful, plain running chirography, and always affection-
ately. Mrs. Johnston’s letters, the few which time has spared,
breathe a spirit of the “mother” through every page. Once
she owns up to being tired of hearing about ‘“hard times

' ; and polyticks,”’ but she
never complained of
what must have been,
at best, a life full of
stress and strain, and
always (with but one discovered exception, in which she was
in a desperate hurry for “one more yard of carpet to be sent
by the next canal boat from Dayton”’) she finished her
letters with “God bless you and keep you is the prayer of
your loving mother.”

It is not to be wondered at that the early settlers were
deeply religious. The Lord God who watcheth over Israel
was bound to be a living reality to them or they never could
have faced the difficulties and perils of their lives, many as
these were.

Some of the men, when they got too old to be useful,
were wont to spend their time writing their views on immor-
tality or on the Divinity of Christ, on small sheets of paper
which are now very difficult to read. Often the religion is
of that old-fashioned, vindictive type where so much more is
made of the threats against the children of God than of the
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promises to them, that we wonder how it could have been a
comfort. However, as their lives were hard and uncompro-
mising, it was most natural that their religion should be the
same. There was no dilettantism in those days in things
temporal or spiritual. Such as their faith was, these pioneers
held to it and died in it. Their faith was not for Sunday
alone. It was the every-day prop of their every-day exist-
ence. It went along with their log-rolling, their farming,
their spinning and churning. The old family scrap-books
contain letters describing deaths in the family circle, which,
from their faith and Christian assurance, are inspiring to read.
The fear of the Lord was the beginning of the pioneers’ wis-
dom and the end of all their knowledge. They built first
the stockade fort; next, the log cabin, then the church.

The Episcopal Church found its way early into the Ohio
wilderness, heralded by that stanch pioneer Christian, Bishop
Philander Chase, aided and abetted by such strong laymen
as John Johnston and his friends. The service of John
Johnston and his wife to the parish of St. James is worth re-
cording. In 1822, Bishop Chase visited Piqua and stayed
under the Johnston roof. John Johnston had invited him,
hoping that enough interested persons could be found to
start a church. An article of association was prepared, which
read as follows:

“We whose names are hereunto affixed, deeply impressed with the
truth of Christianity and desirous of promoting its holy influences on our-
selves, our families and society at large, do lhereby associate ourselves
together under the name, style and title of the Parish of St. James Church
in the village of Piqua, township of Washington, county of Miami, in com-
munion with the Protestant Episcopal Church, in the diocese of Ohio.

“Signed;—John Johnston, Thomas Hillier, Robert Johnston, Jas.
Johnston, Jr., Wm. Johnston, Jr., Nicholas Greenham, Thomas Greenham,
Charles Barrington, Samuel Barrington, Jacob Cox, J. Rinson, James
Defrees, Enos Manning, William R. Barrington, John McCorkle, James
Tamplin, George Johnston, Joseph Defrees, Jr.”



92 CONCERNING THE FOREFATHERS

The organization of the parish was finally accomplished on
the fifth of January, 1823, with John Johnston and Nicholas
Greenham as wardens. Immediately after the organization
of the parish, John Johnston was appointed lay reader by
Bishop Chase, and at once commenced holding the regular
services of the church. In 1825 the vestry of St. James
- Church called the Rev. Gideon McMillen, who accepted and
became the first minister. Until 1828 no Episcopal Church
building was erected in Piqua. Services were held in a
schoolhouse near the Johnston cemetery.

In 1828 active preparations were made to build a church
and fourteen hundred dollars were subscribed toward this
end. Colonel Johnston was influential in securing five hun-
dred dollars of the sum through friends in Philadelphia.
This church, which stood on the corner of North and Spring
Streets, was consecrated by Bishop Mcllvaine on November
eleventh, 1833, and in it the Johnstons worshipped for many
years. When, in 1846, this church was replaced by a brick
edifice (lately torn down to give place to a third), John H. D.
Johnston, son of Colonel Johnston, gave the ground for the
new building. Thus the history of St. James Church, Piqua,
has been the partial history of the Johnston family, members
of which were baptized at its font, confirmed at its rail, and
married and buried froin beneath its bell tower.

Mrs. Rachel Johnston was active in the work of the church,
though how she found time for it would be hard to tell.
She was a teacher in the Sunday-school, and president, for
fifteen years, of the Piqua Bible Society. We find in the
church records an address delivered by her on the twenty-
second anniversary of this organization, held May fourth,
1840, at St. James Church, Piqua. It closes thus:

“Let us be more and more devoted to this duty and let us, by labors
of love, invite others to come with us, that we may do them good also;
for the consolations of the Gospel are neither few nor small, and it is not
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among the least of its benefits that the soul employed in benefiting others
for the sake of Christ, shall be more abundantly watered. To do good
and to distribute, forget not, for with such sacrifices, God is well pleased.
If thou hast much, give plentifully. If thou hast little, do thy diligence
gladly to give of that little.”

The family circle continued unbroken for twelve years
after the removal of John Johnston from Fort Wayne to
Piqua. Then the outgoing from the home nest began with
the marriage of Elizabeth, the second daughter, to John D.
Jones, of Cincinnati, on September twenty-second, 1823. The
marriages of the other children occurred in the order named:

Juliana Johnston to Jefferson Patterson, of Dayton, Feb-
ruary twenty-sixth, 1833, by the Rev. Alvah Guion.

Mary Johnston to Milton A. McLean, of Cincinnati, June
tenth, 1834, by Rev. Ethan Allen, of Christ Church, Dayton.

Rachel Johnston to William A. Reynolds, of Cincinnati,
May twenty-fifth, 1836.

Stephen Johnston, Lieutenant United States Navy, to
Elizabeth Anderson, of Louisville, Kentucky, July third, 1838.

Rebecca Johnston to James Findlay Whiteman, May thir-
teenth, 1840.

Catherine Connelly Johnston to George Holtzbecher, July
twenty-ninth, 1840.

John H. D. Johnston to' Mary Jane Dye on June twelfth,
1845.

Death also came now and then to the family circle. The
first to go was the French-Irish grandmother, Elizabeth
Bernard Johnston, who died at the advanced age of eighty-
nine at Upper Piqua, August eighteenth, 1834, and was
interred in the family burying-ground near the farm.

There was much visiting back and forth between Day-
ton and Piqua in those days, and on one of these occasions
Julia Johnston met Jefferson Patterson, the youngest son
of Col. Robert Patterson. The attraction was mutual.
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Letters passed back and forth, and many a trip on horseback
did the lover make through the woods from Dayton to the
Johnston home in Upper Piqua in the pursuit of his courtship.
We have a few of the letters exchanged during this winter,
and they speak for the dignified nature of the engagement.
In one of the last letters before her marriage Julia Johnston
ends by saying: “I trust you will accept my assurances of
sincere affection as a substitute for meny words. Yours
truly, Julia Johnston.” Julia Johnston first went to the
Rubicon in the summer of 1832 as a visitor, and spent sev-
eral weeks there with the family of her husband-to-be.
Jefferson Patterson, like his father, was a public-spirited
man and interested in all civic functions and progress. Be-
fore the campaign of 1832 all Dayton had united in a Fourth
of July celebration; people from the country came in dele-
gations, crowding the streets and camping on vacant lots.
Not since the war had the town been so full. Homes of
prominent people were filled with guests for three days.
Capt. Adam Houk, grand marshal of the day and com-
mander of the procession, had for his aides Jefferson Patter-
son, Robert C. Schenck, George C. Davis, Peter P. Lowe and
George Engle, mounted on gaily caparisoned horses. Many
of the business associates and friends of Jefferson Patterson
were on the committee of arrangements for that celebration
—Thomas Clegg, Charles G. Swain, David C. Baker, Charles
R. Greene, George Grove, William Eaker, Peter Baer, John-
son Perrine, William Roth, John Engle, David Davis, Thomas
Morrison, F. F. Carroll, Samuel Foley and Thomas Brown.
Edward W. Davies read the Declaration of Independence,
and Robert A. Thruston delivered the oration. As aide-de-
camp, Jefferson Patterson wore his Masonic regalia, and over
it a shoulder sash of red silk. First in the procession, follow-
ing the marshal and staff, came troops of horse, then foot-
soldiers, the Masonic order, school children, men and women
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marching, the line closing with citizens mounted or in
wagons.

This Fourth of July celebration was the greatest demon-
stration that Julia Johnston had seen since her school days:
in Cincinnati; the fact that her fiancé took so prominent a
part in it increased her interest. The parade of trade repre-
sentatives was a new feature to her, and her recollections of
this and other public events proved of assmtance in later
years to writers of Dayton histories.

h, 1833,

r of his-

popular-

. & sup-

he was

rty was.

made up to escort him to Upper Piqua, fifteen or twenty in

number, relatives and friends, married and single, including the groom’s.
brother, Robert L., his nephew, R. P. Brown, R. P. Nisbet and Jack
Nisbet, the latter then eighteen years old. It was a jolly company, in.
carriages and on horseback. The groom’s carriage, in which he was to.
return with his bride, was drawn by four horses and driven by John.
Shellabarger. Jefferson Patterson and party started from Dayton before:
day, on the morning of February twenty-fifth, the ground being covered
with heavy, fast melting snow. They crossed Mad River bridge and
followed the Military Road east of the Miami to Staunton for dinner at a
small tavern kept by Peter Felix, then before dark crossed by ferry some-
four or five miles farther up the river and drove into Piqua without & mis--
hap, putting up at the little tavern for the night. Rain began to fall, and
only a few of the party accompanied the groom for an early candle light.
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call upon Miss Juliana Johnston and her family. Other friends reached
Piqua on the morning of the twenty-sixth, and after an early dinner all
proceeded to Colonel Johnston’s Upper Piqua home, taking with them the
Episcopal minister, Rev. Alvah Guion of the Piqua parish. A generous
feast of cold meats, bread, butter and hot coffee was served all afternoon
to the large company of early arriving guests. At six o’clock, Jefferson
Patterson and Juliana Johnston were married in the large parlor, with
the Episcopal service by Rev. Alvah Guion.”

Family tradition records the fact that Juliana wore a
white silk gown and that her father gave her, as to each of
the other family brides, a solid silver tea service.

Mrs. Patterson afterwards wrote of the occasion: ‘At our
wedding a large delegation came up from Dayton and a
great many people attended from Piqua and surrounding
towns. Some of the people cane at three o’clock, although
the wedding did not take place until six in the evening. The
consequence was we had to furnish two suppers. The first
one, for the early people who came, was cold ham, etc. For
the wedding supper we had all kinds of game and delicacies,
well cooked by three male cooks. Two of them were soldiers
and one was a colored man.”

Henry L. Brown left an account of the Patterson wedding
among his papers. He says:

“The waters were too high for the river ferry to be operated, and
Mr. Patterson determined that the party should return to Dayton by
the more direct but unimproved road west of the Miami. The bride’s
sisters, Mary and Rachel, with other young ladies and gallants, mounted
to ride with the Dayton party until noon. After nine o’clock on the
morning of February twenty-seventh, they started from Upper Piqua with
luncheon in hampers, the bride’s trousseau, wedding gifts, etc., on pack
horses. Colonel Johnston stood at the door to say farewells with good
cause for expressions of anxiety as to how and when the bridal party
would get through to Dayton, as small streams were running bank full
and the river rising steadily. They were equipped for storm, and it was
a gay cavalcade of carriages, horsemen and horsewomen that stopped
in Piqua but a short time for greetings, then rode on into a stretch of
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alternate pools and muddy way that soon turned back the Johnston girls
and company. Reaching the stone house, erected in 1801, half way
between Piqua and Troy, the Patterson party halted for lunch, and to
feed and rest the horses. Resuming their journey they passed through
Troy without incident, to find increased difficulties in five or six miles
of almost bottomless roadway. They had given up all idea of getting
home that night, and in a jolly mood arrived at Hyatt’s little tavern at
Tippecanoe cross roads, and were nicely quartered for the night, half
of the party provided with blankets for sleeping on the bar-room floor
before a great log fire. After a daybreak breakfast they started in wel-
come sunshine, and by advice of the landlord took a southwest course to
cross Stillwater some distance above Little York. The carriages were
more of an encumbrance than on the day before, as but few of the
streams were bridged. Leaving the carriages and packs at a farmhouse
they ferried across Stillwater in canoes near Harrisburg, swimming the
horses; then, mounting, reached Dayton (Bridge Street) and ferried
the Miami before dark, the water running over the roadway between
bridge and levee rendering fording too dangerous. Within a few days
the water subsided and the carriages were brought in from Harrison
township.

“Mr. and Mrs. Patterson, being the first over in the row-boat ferry,
waited for others of the party and the horses; then all rode to the 0O
Jefferson Street home, where they were happily welcomed by the
aged mother, Elizabeth Lindsay Patterson, and her grand-daughter,
Harriet Nisbet. Candles were lighted, the guests departed, and
the bride and groom enjoyed their first supper and evening at
home in telling incidents of their novel bridal tour. Mr. Patter- -
son’s brother came in from the farm next morning, and town
relatives and others called during the day. Social experiences
soon began, relatives and friends in Dayton and vicinity calling
every day. With her old friends and new the young bride soon
felt perfectly at home. By reason of the feeble condition of
Mother Patterson the duties and responsibilities of housekeeping
fell upon Jefferson’s wife.

“The first invitation to.the bride and groom was to drive
with Mr. and Mrs. Stephen Whicher, Mrs, Whicher being a niece
of Mr. Patterson, the daughter of Mrs. Margaret Venable. Mrs.
Catherine P. Brown gave a dinner for them; then followed a
grand ball and supper in their honor at the National Hotel;
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afterwards there were card parties and dances at the homes of friends
in Dayton and the country around. Colonel Johnston on his way to
Cincinnati in April stopped two days with the Pattersons, and called
with them upon the Bradfords, McConnells and other friends and con-
nections in the country near by. On the return trip Colonel Johnston
arranged with Mr. and Mrs. Jefferson Patterson to invite a company of
their friends to a picnic dinner at Charleston Falls in June. Two of Mrs,
Patterson’s sisters were then to return to Dayton with her for a visit.
The proposed outing and visit were abandoned on account of the cholera,
which was then making its first appearance.”

For the first few years after their marriage the Patter-
sons lived on the east side of Jefferson Street between Third
and Fourth. There they had a large garden, and it was a
happy time for the young couple except that they lost their
first child, Rachel, there. A part of this property was sold
to @ man named Pigeon in order to pay a security debt of
nine hundred dollars which Jefferson Patterson had signed
for Dr. Clements. A few years after marriage they moved
to the Rubicon farm south of Dayton on the Lebanon road.

The separation from the home circle only endeared its
members to the young bride, who went back again and again
to seek the help’and companionship of the mother she loved
so much. And to lighten the mother’s cares she took during
the first year of her married life a younger sister and kept
her for many months, making her clothes and sending her to
school. The Jefferson Street home became, as the Rubicon
home did later, a stopping-place for the family on their jour-
neys to and from Cincinnati, where the other married daugh-
ters, Mrs. Jones, Mrs. Reynolds and Mrs. McLean, lived.

Thus we find that this happy marriage was a natural out-
come of the warm family ties in the old Piqua homestead.
As Mrs. Patterson had seen her mother’s household governed,
so she sought to establish and govern her own. Who that
has known it will doubt how she succeeded?

Shortly after coming to Dayton, Mr. Patterson decided to
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go with Mrs. Patterson into the Episcopal Church, in which
faith she had been christened and confirmed. The new Christ
Church on Jefferson Street, just one block south of their resi-
dence, was built that year. The rector was Rev. Ethan Allen,
a very warm friend of Colonel Johnston and family, for he
had been a frequent guest at the Upper Piqua home on his
tours of missionary work in riding for visits to Piqua and
Springfield parishes.
* * * * * % *

We shall keep to the story of the Johnston family in this
place, although it may be to anticipate by a number of years
various events in the lives of Jefferson Patterson and his wife.

The bereavement which, at first indirectly and then actu-
ally, broke up the Piqua home was the death of the dear
mother who had ruled it so long. No more could the far-
scattered sons and daughters and grandchildren answer her
call to the home roof and renew the associations of their
childhood with her who knew each heart so well.

Mrs. Rachel Robinson Johnston died at the farmhouse at
Upper Piqua after eleven days’illness, on Friday morning,
July twenty-fourth, 1840, at three o’clock.

We quote from the sermon delivered at her obsequies by
her beloved pastor so often mentioned in her letters, Rev.
Alvah Guion:

“She was a most kind, affectionate, loving wife; a most tender, anxious
and devoted mother. During the forty years of their married life, her
husband cannot recall to mind one circumstance respecting her that would
cause 8 moment’s pain.

“The cause of Christ lay near her heart and there was no way of pro-
moting it in which she did not stand ready to lend a helping hand. ..
For fifteen years she filled the office of President of the Piqua Bible So-
ciety and her labors in this cause have been a blessing to the whole com-
munity. . . . Ministers of Christ, of all denominations, were always

welcome under her roof. She loved all that belonged to the ‘ Holy Catho-
lic Church’ without reference to sect or denomination.
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“In private life, Mrs. Johnston’s manner was cheerful and engaging
80 a8 to win the respect and love of all who knew her. Her conversation
was at once lively, pleasing and instructive. Her religious duties (how-
ever pressed she was with other cares) she was never known to neglect.
No night or morning passed without her bowing herself in private before
her Maker, and always during the absence of her husband she conducted
the devotions of the family. Nothing but sickness or absence from home
prevented her from occupying her seat in church. She was firmly at-
tached to the ceremonies of the Episcopal Church, of which she was a
communicant. She’regarded the ministry and government of the Epis-
copal Church as spiritual and as a most blessed means of preserving unity
and peace; she regarded the liturgy as a safe-guard against error and en-
thusiasm as well as a most appropriate sacred Scriptural form of worship.
She warmly and cordially united in the responsive worship of the church
and always after its use appeared to be refreshed. Her behavior, while
uniting in divine service, showed plainly that her heart was with God.

“In the death of this pious and excellent woman, her deeply afflicted
husband and children, the church and the whole community have sus-
tained a great and, to human appearance, an irreparable loss. Such an
example as that which she has set before us who survive, is scarcely to be
met with. God grant that all her relations, friends and neighbors may
imitate her holy example and be prepared whenever the solemn summons
shall arrive to join her in a world of perfect, uninterrupted bliss and
peace.”

All of the fourteen living children were present at Mrs.
Johnston’s death except Stephen, William and Mary. Mrs.
Julia Johnston Patterson, with her infant son William,
remained a week, and Mr. Patterson drove up from Dayton
for her. Catherine Johnston’s marriage to George Holtz-
becher had been set for the day previous to her mother’s
death. The ceremony was, of course, postponed. On the
twenty-ninth of July they were married and started East.
Robinson Johnston, who had been recalled to Washington
to settle his accounts as commissary at Fort Leavenworth for
three years previous, accompanied them.

* * * * * * *

After Mrs. Johnston’s death (to anticipate the next twenty
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years) her husband found it impossible to continue to live in
the Upper Piqua homestead. The family scattered to differ-
ent homes; the daughters were all married save one (Mar-
garet), and the sons were away from the parental roof. Colonel

Johnston : A longed to es-
cape sadden- ing memo-
ries; there- fore he
took a house in
Cincinnati on Elm
Street between
Fourth and Fifth,
where, with his
daughter Margaret
as house- keeper, he
lived for nine very
comfort- able and
compara- tively
happy years. His
daugh- ter, Mrs.
John D. Jones, was
also living in Cincin-
nati at that time,
bringing upafamily
of grand- children,
who were the Colo-
nel’s chief interest in
life. He made many
tripsby c8~  gppcrep BY DAUGHTERS OF AMERICAN D8l to Day-

ton, being al- REVOLUTION AT COL. JOHN ways greatly
interested in JOHNSTON'S FARM the County
Fair which was held near the Rubicon farm.

It will be remembered that seven years before the time
of which we are writing, Colonel Johnston had arranged the
treaty by which all the tribes of Indians in Ohio pledged
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themselves to remove west of the Mississippi. They still kept
their fealty to their old friend and benefactor, and when any
of their number came to Cincinnati they never failed to call
upon Colonel Johnston and pay their respects. We read in
the diary of John D. Jones that on Sunday, December ninth,
1849, he and his wife entertained three Indian friends to
dinner with Colonel Johnston, who had taken them to church
with him. They had waited two days to see their friend, he
being in Dayton in the meantime. The diary records that
the dinner was good and that the Indians refused wine.

During these years Colonel Johnston was an active and
busy man. Although past the prime of life he held to its
wider interests, and kept both heart and head busy. But
death came again and again into the family circle so fre-
quently robbed in earlier years. On December sixth, 1846,
Capt. Abraham Robinson Johnston, commander of the First
United States Dragoons, was killed in battle at San Pasquale,
California, and was buried next morning at reveille on the
field. He had gone out to California with General Kearney
with about one hundred dragoons. He was ordered to make
a charge with eighteen picked men before daylight. The
little band was surrounded by Mexicans and every man
killed. Young Johnston was buried under a willow bush on
the battlefield, only to be twice removed, once to Governor’s
Island, and afterwards to the family burying-lot on the
farm at Piqua. .

This death was a great blow to Colonel Johnston, for the
career of his West Point son had always been a matter of
intense pride with him. He alludes again and again in his
diary to this grief as one which he never could hope would
heal.

On March seventeenth, 1847, John Johnston lost his sister,
Mary Johnston Widney, aged seventy-nine years, and on
December thirteenth of the same year, hid only remaining
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brother, James Johnston, aged seventy-seven, after a long and
painful confinement of three years and three months.

The next break in the family circle was the death of the
only remaining son, Stephen Johnston, who had stood in the
navy, as his brother had in the army, for bravery and devo-
tion to duty. He entered the navy in 1823 and had seen
much service. His last cruise was in the Indian and Pacific
Oceans as first lieutenant of the “ Columbus,” of ninety guns.
At Japan he contracted a fatal illness and started home.
Death gave him time to see his native shores once more, and
he died at Louisville, Ky., on April twentieth, 1848. In April,
1852, by order of the United States War and Navy Depart-
ments, the remains of the two brothers were brought to
Piqua and buried with appropriate ceremonies by the side of
the mother who bore them.

Ashley Brown writes:

““One more blow remained to the father whose heart had already bled
so much. It was in June, 1849, that fatal cholera year. Cincinnati, like
all Ohio towns, felt the scourge keenly. Margaret Johnston, her father’s
pride, his last remaining daughter and keeper of his home, was a most
beautiful and popular girl of happy disposition. She had spent the even-
ing of the twentieth with her sister, Mrs. Reynolds, having dined with the
other sister, Mrs. Jones. There were quite a party present and all re-
marked her high spirits. It was the same at breakfast time the next
day. At one o’clock the sudden fatal symptoms appeared: she suffered
for nine hours, sinking rapidly, and at nine o’clock that evening was dead.

The sisters were prostrated with grief and the old father too dazed to
realize the depth of his loss.”

The journal of Colonel Johnston bears this pathetic entry:

“Thursday, my dearest daughter, Margaret Defrees, was seized with
cholera at one o’clock and died at nine o’clock the same evening, sick only
eight hours. My comfert, my star, my hope in this world is taken away.
She was most dutiful and affectionate to me in my old age. God’s Holy
Will be done.”

‘There was no more home for him after Margaret’s death,
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and therefore, after the funeral, which took place at Piqua,
he removed to the home of his daughter, Mrs. Patterson,
who had been for nine years living at the Rubicon farm.
Here he hoped to, and did, end his days. He found, indeed,
a warm roof and a warm welcome among his Patterson grand-
children. The older ones now living recall with pleasure his
presence at the open fireside when he entertained themn with
stories of his friends the Indians, and his walks with the
young people under the very oak trees now standing on the
lawn, where he taught them Indian lore and legend. No mnan
in the United States knew the Indian language, habits, super-
stitions and traditions as did John Johnston. His con-
tributions to the ‘“Archeologica Americana’” are now
very valuable and frequently referred to. All these
things he loved to talk about: they had entered into
the most active and useful part of his life, and afforded
interesting mental occupation for his old age. His
figure was a familiar one on the-streets of Dayton
and Cincinnati. He walked erect, had snow-white
hair and wore a blue coat with shining brass buttons,
after the fashion of the day.

However, the passage of the years was telling on his
health and spirits. Extracts from his journal during these

years are the records of breaking hopes and strength:

“Mch. twenty-fifth, 1854: I have this day closed my seventy-ninth
year, born as I have always been informed by my oldest sister, Mary
Johnston Widney, on the twenty-fifth of Mch. 1775. Thus have I been
permitted thro’ the goodness of Almighty God to pass the usual period
allotted to man and am now commencing my eightieth year. In 1786
brought by parents from Ireland, in 1793 with Gen’l Wayne’s Army on
the Ohio at Cincinnati, have had many a narrow escape for my life
both in peace and in war, more frequently from the Indian assassin
than from open enemy. Thank God for a comfortable competence, for
kind, dutiful and affectionate children and that I am yet enabled to take
care of myself and not a trouble to any one.”
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At Upper Piqua, Thursday, May thirty-first, 1855.

“T have spent two weeks this day at this place once so dear to me, and
now made so desolate and dreary by the hand of death. Much of my time
has been spent in the cemetery among the monuments of my dear mother,
brothers, wife and children. I go back to Dayton this day and may never
return here again until some surviving friends may bring my remains here
to be deposited by the side of my beloved wife Rachel.”

A letter written by him at Clay Hotel, Washington,
(1861), to Judge Swain reveals his sentiment:

“My heart is sick at what I am compelled to see and hear here daily.
To any one like myself who witnessed the origin, rise and progress of the
Federal Government, who have seen the great and good Washington with
many of the gifted men who aided him in its creation and establishment,
and to see now all its benefits and blessings scattered and blasted by wicked
and bad men, it seems as though God had forsaken us. May He only
who can order the unruly wills and affections of sinful men have mercy
upon us and restore our bleeding country once more to peace, harmony
and prosperity.”’

And he writes a sad, prophetic paragraph to Jefferson
Patterson on the subject of urging his claim before Congress.
He is at the Brownsville (Pa.) Water Cure, and feels that
if he is to have the benefit of what inoney is justly due
him it should be quickly granted. “The only obstacle,” he
says, “in my mind in going to Washington is the apprehension
of being arrested with disease and death so far away from
home.”

Colonel Johnston went to Washington in December, 1860.
His claim against the Government amounted to twenty-one
thousand dollars, which sum he had expended during the
two years when, notwithstanding the appointment of a suc-
cessor, he was obliged to furnish supplies to the Indians. He
never lived to see the claim paid. It had passed both branches
of Congress and lacked only attesting and sealing when the
end came. He had written much upon this matter, and at
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the end of one of his papers he says: “It is my purpose to
resume it hereafter,” but he never did. At eighty, one may
plan, but the fulfilment lies beyond human performance.
The War of the Rebellion was just breaking out, and it is
thought that grief at seeing so many of his friends and rela-
tives ally themselves with the South hastened the end.

The last entry in the journal was written in Washington
on Christmas morning, 1860:

“I am here alone in my room in the Clay House, having passed a
sleepless night in wretched health, far away from my children and friends
and unable to go to church. May the Lord be with me in my lonely
and solitary condition and may His blessing in Jesus Christ rest upon me
a8 my necessities require and may that gracious Providence which has
protected me all the days of my life be over and about me for the future
and in God’s own time enable me to return in peace and safety to my
<hildren in the West.

“May the grace and spirit of God prepare me for all that may happen
to me in the future for Christ’s sake, Amen.”

One of Colonel Johnston’s sons had acgompanied him
to Washington, and on leaving for New York, he gave
instructions to be informed if his father should suffer from
any indisposition. Almost upon his arrival, he received
a telegram saying that Colonel Johnston was alarmingly ill,
and on hastening to his bedside, found his father already
gone. The body was brought back to Ohio and buried at
Piqua with civil, military and Masonic honors, February
twenty-second, 1861. Rev. Dr. Fitch, rector of St. James
Church, preached the funeral discourse from the following
text:

“Then Abraham gave up the ghost and died in a good old age; an
©old man full of years, and was gathered to his people.”’—Gen. 25:8.

The inscription upon the monument in the family bury-
ing-lot on the Johnston farm at Upper Piqua reads as
follows:
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CoL. JOHN JOHNSTON
BORN
March 25th, 1775
DIED
Feb. 18th, 1861

Served the United States in various important trusts for a period of
forty years.

By his own desire lies buried here close by the side of his beloved
wife, Rachel, hoping to rise together at the resurrection of the Just.

Life’s labor done, securely laid
In this their last retreat;

Unheeded o’er their silent dust
The storms of life shall beat.

Speaking of Colonel John-
ston’s opinions upon th
war, the Cincinnati Ga-
zette said editorially,
at the time of his
death:

“Sojourning tempora-
rily in the Capitol of the
Nation during the peril-
ous times that are now
upon us, it may well be
imagined how deep and
painful was the solicitude
felt by the pure and
venerable patriot for his
beloved country. If the
Nation is to be rent in
twain, he died none too
soon, but we would he
had lived to see, as we
fondly trust he would,
its alienated parts united
once more in the bonds of
fraternal peace and gooc
brotherhood.”

COL. JOHN JOHNSTON’S TOMB
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And the same paper, in an obituary tribute, thus recalls
him: “Most of our city readers were doubtless familiar with
his tall, commanding and military-looking form so often seen
promenading our streets, still unbent with the weight of
more than four-score years; and with his pleasing and
benevolent face that so prepossessed everyone who saw it.”

We thus bring to an end an account of a man that Ohio
is justly proud to remember, who was, as one of his contem-
poraries says: “A prominent landmark of the past whose life
sheds luster upon the noble name of the present.”

* * * * * * * *

Of John Johnston the same might be written which served
as an epitaph for his Scotch kinsman and forefather, Sir John
de Johnston, three centuries before: ‘“He died much re-
gretted, being a gentleman full of wisdom and very well in-
clined.”
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COL. ROBERT PATTERSON

“Full credit has been awarded to our own heroes
and the cavaliers for their leadership tn our history,
nor have we been altogether blind to the deeds of the
Hollander or Huguenot. But it i8 doubtful if we
have wholly realized the importance of the part of
that stern and virile people, the Scotch-Irish, whose
patriots have died for the creed of Knozx and Calvin.”

THEODORE ROOSEVELT.

becomes necessary to pause at this place,

o write of Robert Patterson— pioneer,

\ soldier, legislator, hunter, citizen and

s friend: “One of the earliest, bravest

and best of the pioneers and heroes

; who made the Great West.” No

/ better introduction to the biography of

this remarkable man can be found than a

ulogy of him, written by the late Charles

Anderson, of Kuttawa, Kentucky,* which,

though it was designed as an epitaph for his monument and

might seem to belong at the latter end of the story, so

well epitomizes his life and character that we make it the
beginning:

“In memory of Robert Patterson. One of the earliest, bravest and

best of the pioneers and heroes who made the Great West. Migrated

to Kentucky in 1775. Founded the city of Lexington, Kentucky, as sole
proprietor, in 1776. Marched and fought as Captain in the campaign

¢ See Appendix.
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under Clark, Bowman and Logan in 1779 and 1780, and as a Colonel in
1782. He was Captain of a company in the Battle of Lower Blue Licks,
August nineteenth, 1782, where his life was saved by the heroism of
Aaron Reynolds. He was one of the three original proprietors and
founders of the city of Cincinnati, Ohio, in December, 1788.

“To this brief and maimed record of his life, it might be added in
strictest truth that a more simple, honest, guileless, loving, faithful and
heroic man, father, citizen, patriot and Christian never migrated into the
wilderness to contend against its savage men and beasts, to plant in their
stead Christianity; nor labored in it with more constancy in the service
of his God, than did the man who now sleeps beneath this too modest
shaft.”

It is not often that a man’s life wholly justifies his epi-
taphic eulogy, but in Robert Patterson’s case all records we
have of him prove this to be no overstatement. Colonel
Anderson says he was ‘“simple, honest and guileless.” In his
simplicity he aimed straight at the highest ideals and clung
to them without hypocrisy or subterfuge. In his honesty he
rendered to every man his due, and paid his moral and social
obligations as he did his debts, to the last penny. In his
guilelessness he trusted every man he met with all he owned.

He left Lexington in 1804 because he had gone on a neigh-
bor’s bond for six thousand dollars and was obliged to sur-
render his property, which he had conquered out of the
wilderness, literally by the sweat of his brow, to pay that
obligation. In connection with this incident, Ranck, in
- his History of Lexington, writes:

“ Robert Patterson was gifted with a fine mind, but like Boone, Kenton
and many others of his simple hunter and pioneer companions, was in-

dulgent and negligent in business matters, and like them lost most of his
extensive landed property by shrewd rascals.”

Colonel Anderson says Robert Patterson was “loving.”
Was he? Let the old letters answer for this; the letters

where the home-made ink has faded into the same dim yellow
hue as the paper, both testifying to the lapse of the century
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since they were penned. There is one dated the night before
he starts on the Bowman campaign to the Miami towns,
written, perhaps, on his knees on a slab of wood or on a drum-
head by the light of the camp fire. To whom should it be
but to his “Eaver luvely Elizabeth,” the mother of his two
girl babies whom he has left behind in the log fort at Lexing-
ton. He tells her he is to start on the morrow “at the head
of one of the best regiments that ever crossed the Ohio,” and
who can tell if he will ever return? He bequeaths his farm
lands to her and to the children, and in an incoherent post-
script, after signing his name for the second time, goes on to
say, with the age-old fatherhood rising in him, “take Becky
and Peggy in your arms and tell them it was for father. The
God of Heaven bless you: Farewell.”

And once again, some years later, he writes to his wife,
who is visiting a married daughter in Lexington. It is in the
early hours of the morning, after an all-night vigil at the
bedside of little Jane (whom he sometimes calls “Jain”),
lying ill of a fever. He knows the mother-heart, five days’
journey away, is aching with anxiety, and he writes to tell
her the doctor says the temperature is abating and that the
child has fallen into a quiet sleep. Through the stilted
phraseology of the period, the quaint spelling and hardly de-
cipherable chirography, we feel the heart-beats of a warm,
affectionate nature. The letters of his sons and daughters
are equally strong in their witness to his loving parenthood.
The married children are widely scattered, but they neglect
no opportunity of sending their dutiful love to the home roof;
sons-in-law and daughters-in-law alike joining in the signa-
tures, “Your affectionate children John and Rebecca,” or
“Margaret and John.” :

Colonel Anderson says Robert Patterson was “faithful.”
Witness the Piqua battle-field, where he tipped
over the pot of smoking hominy that t
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Indians had left in their flight, and tempting the soldiers
from battle to the gratification of their appetites. * Your
business,” he said, “is to fight, not to eat,” and he led on
in the pursuit of the escaping savages with a stomach as
empty and clamorous as that of his humblest private soldier.

And was he also “heroic?” We have only to read his

memorial to Congress, praying in his old age
for the pension which he had re-
fused so lon; e was strong
and able t support him-
self ; descril ing his ten
engagements with the
Indians; his three
gunshot wounds
and the tomahawk
wound in his side,
received when a
young man of
twenty- three,
while at- - tempting
a difficult . and al-
most impos sible journey
for the reli of comrades.
Witness tl ime and again
he volunte: active ser-
vice while suffer- ing weakness

and pain from  y;kpNEss oF coL. ropErT PA-  INANY Wounds.

And to know  TEmson oF LExiNGTON  that he was “cit-
izen, patriot and AND DAYTON Christian,” we need
only read the annals of Lexington; how he built a school-
house and studied in it, and a church and worshiped
in it; how he worked and fought and voted and prayed,
and through it all trusted in God and taught his children
to do the same. A life so full of thrilling adventure, good
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deeds and brave living will bear going into for the sake
of the inspiration it must carry to the younger gener-
ations of the same name. To do this it is necessary to ex-
amine the early records, such as they are, relating to the
Pattersons. '

* * * * * * *

According to the ““Statistical Account of Scotland,” there
are seven families of Pattersons now in Scotland whose ar-
morial bearings show that they are related to one another.
Five of these families spell the name with one “t’’; one spells
with two; and one with either one or two. Genealogists
agree that whether with one “t’’ or two, they belonged to-
gether in the beginning of things. In the struggle for popular
rights the Pattersons, as a family, were always forward to
take the people’s side. Their cardinal principle was the
maintenance of true religion, and that undefiled. Out of
their ranks have stood many eminent characters in the
affairs of both church and state. The motto of all of
them has been “Pro Rege et Grege”—“For the king and
the people’”; meaning, that with all reverence and respect
for existing civic institutions, the Pattersons have always
felt a sympathy for society in the mass; an interest in
people who had no armorial bearings, and who stood for
themselves and asked no favors of any one. And in times
when to be in the upper minority was of necessity to per-
secute the lower majority, who knows but the Pattersons
preferred healthy nonconformity to pampered acquiescence?
valued their own opinions above their ancestral estates?
It was, doubtless, this instinct, independent of progress,
which drove them out of the Old World into the New.

To begin with, they departed from the Established
Church. This meant trouble not to be evaded. The church
bore heavily upon all dissenters. The Pattersons, with
many other Presbyterians, fled from Scotland to the
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North of Ireland. Here peace to worship in their own
way seemed possible for a time. But the Established
Church was like the Throne: they were twin towers of
bigotry and despotism. The King, James I, enacted se-
verely restrictive measures as to cominerce and agricul-
ture. Fearing the growth of linen manufacture in Ire-
land, he introduced indirect but effectual means to limit
the growing of flax. Sheep were taxed so heavily as to
destroy all profit on the manufacture of wool. Thus the
two best means of livelihood were discountenanced. No
dissenters were allowed to hold public office; all church
services but those conducted by the Anglican clergy were
forbidden; marriages were illegal under any but the pre-
scribed office. The people were thus subjected to severe
spiritual persecution and coercion. The country was appor-
tioned into bishoprics. The bishops were imperious and
the people obstinate. The Presbyterians worshiped at the
peril of their lives. If the clouds of persecution lightened
on the other side of the Channel, there took place a reactive
emigration back to Scottish shores, where they could hear
Calvinistic sermons on Calvinistic soil. So these stanch and
wiry Christians went back and forth across the Channel,
moved by the emergency of the moment; sometimes crossing
in open boats to have their babies baptized or their dead
buried.

John Patterson, the probable ancestor of all the Pennsyl-
vania Pattersons, was born in 1640. Giving up his home in
Scotland he went to Londonderry and took with him his wife
and two sons. A worse time for choosing a new home could
not have been selected. It was on the eve of the heaviest
blow to be struck at Ireland and Irish blood. James II be-
sieged Londonderry with his English troops. The history of
that tragic event is told in Hume and Macaulay, the story of
weeks of suffering and hardship patiently and nobly borne.
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John Patterson and his family suffered cruelly. Provisions
ran so low that a mere handful of dried peas remained to
the whole family. Mrs. Patterson apportioned them: ten
peas to each of the children and five apiece to herself and
husband. Afterwards they ate grass and putrid meat, but
never suggested giving up their city or their rights to Eng-
land. One boy, the son of a neighbor, was found dead with
his mouth full of grass. John Patterson in his old age used
to gather his grandchildren around him and tell them never
to forget to be thankful when they sat down to a table with
plenty to eat. Then he would describe how hard it was,
when wanting good bread and milk, to have no food but grass.
That these things were borne to avoid yielding to unjust per-
secution was always explained to the children; and thus
was fostered that spirit of uncompromising steadfastness to
principle which marked the Pattersons in their new home a.
century later.

John Patterson had a son, Robert, who was a half-grown
boy at the time of the siege, and of this Robert we have a
story which is characteristic of certain family traits. At this
time, about 1675, in Ireland every landowner was obliged
to serve as warden in the church, if called upon; and the re-
fusal incurred a penalty of five pounds sterling. It was the
thrifty plan of the church authorities to select some stiff-
necked Presbyterian and elect him warden, with a view to
adding to the church revenues through the medium of an
obstinate dissenting conscience. Robert Patterson was elected
warden. He loved his own church and was loyal to it,
but, like all dissenting Irishmen, had no spare five pounds to
spend on fines. How was he to reconcile his finances and his
ethics? The warden’s chief duty was to take up the collec-
tion, which in those days occurred early in the service. The
office was accepted and the worthy seceder (who hated the
Litany as the devil is said to hate holy water, if so disre-
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spectful a comparison may be allowed) stayed outside of
the church door until prayers had been read; then appearing
decorously with his long-handled black bag, he passed it up
and down the aisles in true churchman-like manner. Re-
turning the alms and oblations to the minister and retiring
to a back seat under the gallery, he watched his opportunity
to make off across the fields to his own meeting-house, to his
Presbyterian sermon and the safety of his soul. Thus he
fulfilled his civic and ecclesiastical obligations, and at the
same time saved his conscience and his purse. Although the
Pattersons have long since returned to the Anglican faith of
their earliest forebears, this story well illustrates their per-
sistence in their own opinions.

Robert Patterson, son of the John Patterson of the siege
of Londonderry and hero of the thrifty incident above men-

THE PROGRESS OF THE PATTERSONS FROM THE LANDING OF THE EMI-
GRANT ANCESTOR IN CONNECTICUT IN 1728 TO THE SETTLE-
MENT OF THE FAMILY IN DAYTON, OHIO, IN 1804,
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tioned, had ten children, six of whom early emigrated to
America. Of the four who remained, John Patterson (great-
grandfather of Robert Patterson, of Lexington and Dayton)
returned to Scotland during one of those tides of emigration
from shore to shore, and “from there joined the artillery
and went back to Ireland in defense of Protestantism.”
John Patterson, the emigrant ancestor, though an old man
at this time, with grown and married children, felt the pull
toward the new country. He had a considerable tract of
grazing land on Donegal Bay, together with milling interests,
and it was a difficult experience to transplant both family
and business to a new soil. In 1723 his holdings had been
disposed of and preparations to start were all made, when
Mary, his wife, died, and this delayed matters some years
longer. In the meantime several of John’s children, with
their families, had sailed for New England, leaving behind
the father with an unmarried daughter, his son Robert and
wife Margaret, with their six children. At last this remnant
of the family also left the shores of Ireland behind them and
landed on the Connecticut coast near New London in the
spring of 1728.* The first of the Pattersons who came over
had settled in the northeast part of the State. The father
John (emigrant John), and son Robert (afterwards of Lan-
caster), decided to go farther south. It took them, according
to the family records, two years to cross the State. They
settled on the way, raised a crop of corn and then moved on
farther west and south. The family party in wagons were
as follows: the emigrant ancestor, John Patterson, and his
middle-aged single daughter, whose name has not been pre-
served; Robert (of Lancaster), his son, Robert’s wife, Mar-
garet, and their children; John, aged thirteen (ancestor of the
Shaker Pattersons); Mary, eleven; Francis (of Bedford),

*Death of one of the children at the Hudson River in 1730 ' two years after arrival of the family
in Connecticut,” recorded in old family Bible in possession of the late John Patterson, founder of
Watervliet, Shaker Village, Greene Co., Ohio.
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nine (afterwards father of Robert
Patterson, of Lexington); William,
seven; Robert, four; and Thomas,
a baby. Another daughter, whose

> name is not known, was next older
than William. Several more children were born to Robert
and Margaret after they came to America; Ann was born
in New Jersey in 1732.

The Patterson family crossed the Hudson in the fall of
1730 and proceeded south through New Jersey as they had
through Connecticut. While “cropping” thus through New
Jersey, Father John Patterson, the emigrant, died at the
age of seventy-three. Ashley Brown writes: “His will, a
brief, unique document, probably never recorded, yet never
questioned by the heirs, distributing personal belongings,
including money, came into the hands of his great-grandson,
John Patterson, founder of Watervliet, with documents show-
ing holdings in the old country, a clearance or passport for
the family, memoranda of sales, etc., of no money value, yet
data that would now be rated as great treasures.”

After the death of John Patterson, his spinster daughter
left the family party for a home of her own in a cabin near
the Patterson farm and lived alone until her death,some years
later. The next move of the family was into Pennsylvania.
They spent several years in Bucks and Lancaster Counties,
then in 1738 crossed. the Susquehanna into York County and
lived near Hanover; then, returning to Lancaster County,
Robert purchased land on Sweet Arrow Creek; and “Sweet
Arrow Farm,” as the Patterson home, became as widely
known as is the “Rubicon Farm’’ near Dayton, one hundred
and sixty years later. The names of John, Francis and Wil-
liam, sons of Robert of Lancaster, will be found enrolled for
military services in the fort companies or troopers of York
and Lancaster Counties. Eight of these children of Robert
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and Margaret Patterson lived ~— —
to maturity, and most of ‘
them acquired homes in Pennsylvania.
William married a Virginia girl and they <¢ 7.
joined her people south of the Potomac in
Berkeley County; some records say Fred-
erick County. This William, as a ‘“minute-
man,”’ took part in the Battle of the Cowpens, [ «
his brothers Francis and Robert marching in
reénforcements when halted by the news of ~
Colonel Morgan’s glorious victory. One of
Robert Patterson’s daughters married and
lived in Maryland. Mary married and
moved to the Pennsylvania frontier with
her brothers, Francis (father of Robert, of
Lexington) and Thomas, leaving the Sweet
Arrow farm in order to make their home .
together in the Cove Mountain neigh- '
~ borhood.* S
The “Pennsylvania frontier” was -t
at that time what is now known as %
Bedford County, which then included
the whole western area of the State.
From 1720 to 1750 there was a flood \
of emigration pouring into Pennsylvania )%

from Ireland; some twelve thousand came

n of Ashley Brown.

to her son Henry L. Brown, and is now in

7

¢ All this narrative concerning the eur&hhw of the Penn-
lvania Pattersons was collected by Catherine P, Brown and
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over each year from the North of Ireland. They collected in
and about Donegal, Paxtang, Derry, Hanover, Perry and
Cumberland Counties. These parts had already been largely
settled by the Quakers, to whom there could be no greater
contrast than the energetic, turbulent, tenacious Scotch-Irish
with the memory of religious persecutions heating the blood
in their veins. In 1740 these districts in Pennsylvania con-
tained four times the population they now do; so steadily
and consistently has the tide of migration worked westward.

The Scotch-Irish found in the wooded mountains of Penn-
sylvania a free and glorious refuge from the religious troubles
of the mother country. They crossed the rivers, chmbed the
hills, and the smoke from their cabins waved a pennant to
the breeze of the wilderness. Among them no name is more
familiar than that of Patterson. Five unrelated families of
the name were settled about the same time in the Cumberland
Valley. As to the characteristics of the Pattersons as a race,
all authorities unite in calling them men of undaunted cour-
age and firmness of resolve. In later records we find a differ-
ent phraseology, indicating that some of the Patterson virtues
had gone to seed. A writer discussing them in 1815 describes
them as a “pugnacious and pertinacious race, given to fight-
ing and stubborn to the end.” This is a different way of
telling the same story. We need not be surprised at the
change of diction. The bishops in Ireland and the Indians
on the frontier had not, between them, sweetened the Patter-
son temper.

The two brothers, Francis and Thomas, secured a tract
of fairly level land extending as a “cove,” or small flat
valley, back into the fastness of Big Cove Mountain, three
sides of the land a dense forest of heavy timber, with a stream,
Patterson Creek, on the eastern boundary. The ground was
fertile, and coal, iron ore and stone were to be found for the
digging. The cabin,barn and cribs stood near a military road
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cut through the mountains. At this time Francis Patterson
was thirty-one years old. He had married Jane when he
left the Sweet Arrow farm in Lancaster County, she being
some years younger. The younger brother, Thomas, lived
with them and was killed by the Indians six years later.

Five children were born to Francis and Jane Patterson:
Francis, Robert (the Colonel Robert, of Lexington), Jane,
Mary, and a babe who died young. Robert, the second child,
was born at nine o’clock in the morning of March twenty-
third, 1753.*

Catherine P. Brown and Culbertson Patterson say, in
their notes, of Francis Patterson of Bedford: ¢

“He had been given discharge from the Lancaster military company,
but with Thomas was granted indefinite leave of absence on their removal
to the Big Cove, then transferred to the Bedford Rangers when organized
in 1755. Two years previous, as a frontiersman, he had been ordered for
a tour of duty at Fort Ligonier, leaving his wife, Jane, and their two sons,
Francis, two years old, and Robert, four months, well provided in the
cabin.

“Bedford County in the early day comprised all Western Pennsylvania,
forty years later sending many prominent families to settle in Kentucky
and Ohio. The Pattersons, Francis, Thomas and Mary, were near Bed-
ford Springs, owning rich tracts surrounded by heavy timbered moun-
tains. Patterson Creek, emptying into the Juniata, was named for them.
Their cabin homes, two miles apart, formed the outpost on the Indian
trail leading from the Potomac to the Ohio River.

“Jane, mother of Robert, died when he was just passed three years,
and within a few months, a short time previous to General Braddock’s
ill-fated campaign, Robert’s uncle Thomas, while on an expedition against
the Indians, was ambushed and killed.

“Francis Patterson’s cares were grievous, with four little children
to provide for, cattle to look after, and liable at any hour to be called
for military duty. His second wife was Catherine Perry, daughter of a
family who had come to Fort Bedford with the British troops that
continued as the garrison at that point for twelve years. For five

*Manuscript oomtglled by the late Henry L. Brown from reminiscences of William Nisbet and
John Patterson. In the possession of Ashley Brown.

+ H. L. B. papers.
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years, 1758 to 1763, Francis and his brother Robert* of Lancaster County
were in almost constant mounted service on the frontier.”

William Nisbet wrote:

“Catherine Patterson proved to be a noble woman and mother, affec-
tionately remembered for her loving care by her stepson, Robert Patter-
son, all of his life. She knew no difference between the little ones she
found in the cabin she entered as a bride, and the larger number that came
after, and Robert’s heart was always filled with a son’s love for her.

“The children lived out of doors, their playground limited by danger
from bears and wolves. Robert grew to be a helpful boy to father and
mother around the cabin and barn, in field and clearing.

“The military spirit began to develop in the boy (Robert) at the
age of ten, at the time of the Indian uprising under Pontiac. The
Patterson home was on the Military Road, and Francis and Robert were
deeply interested in the movement of troops, artillery and pack trains
under Colonel Boquet, the boys dividing their time between home chores,
school and the camps. Robert, bright, practical, always planning for
something, forehanded, enjoying and studying everything that came along,
early acquired skill as a hunter with bow and arrow, and like other

* Uncle of Colonel Robert.
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boys of Bedford at the age of fifteen, equipped himself for mount and drill
with the troopers, although too young for enrollment in the ‘ Bucktails.’

“Francis Patterson operated a tannery while milling and cattle raising,

and his sons brought in deer skins and pelts of smaller game and ‘var-
mints’ from hunting trips up the mountains, to add to the store. The
boys tanned the skins for their own uniforms of caps, hunting shirts,
leggins and moccasins. Eight months of the year the boys wore only
homespun knee breeches and hunting shirts.
. “The change had come, Robert a man at the age of sixteen, skilled
- in woodcraft, able with rifle and traps to maintain himself in the forest
for months, inspired with desire for service with surveyors, seeking con-
sent of father and mother that he go out into the world to do for himself.
Settlers were pushing through the mountains into western Virginia,
movers passing the Patterson lands en route to the Upper Ohio, and
Robert longed to go with them to the frontier. George Washington,
leading a party of explorers, camped at Bedford Springs in October, 1770,
and Robert Patterson applied for a position as hunter, or in any capacity,
but the party had been made up. Washington at that time crossed to
the Ohio and descended to the mouth of the Great Kanawha, or from
some accounts as far down as the Big Sandy River.

“The Patterson cabin had given place to a roomy stone dwelling, and
that was filled with babies. Besides Robert, his brother and two sisters,
came William, Arthur, Mary, Thomas and three others, and after Robert
left, two were added.” *

It will be interesting, in the light of later events, to know
something of the friends and neighbors that the Pattersons
had in their Pennsylvania home. The Lindsay family, into
which Robert Patterson married, were educated, well-to-do
people, who had landed at Philadelphia when Andrew Hamil-
ton was deputy governor under the proprietary government
of the colony. Intending to locate on Virginia tobacco land
in the beginning, they changed their plans, remained in
Pennsylvania and prospered. William Lindsay, the grand-
father of Mrs. Robert Patterson, born on shipboard, became
the head of that branch of the family that settled on the
banks of the Conococheague.

*H. L. B. papers.
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Where the swift, clear waters of Falling Springs drop over
a rocky ledge into the Conococheague were built the first
cabins of the settlement called by that name. From 1730 to
1740 the influx of settlers was great. During the month of
September, 1736, a thousand families are said to have sailed
from Belfast, bound for this particular strip of country. Of
course they had trouble with the Indians, immediate and
incessant. The Cumberland Valley was occupied by the Six
Nations, who regarded the settlers with warrantable jealousy.
A letter from Benjamin Chambers to the inhabitants of the
- Lower Cumberland Valley, dated at Falling Springs, Novem-
ber second, 1755, says: “The Great Cove is destroyed. One
hundred Indians of the Delawares and Shawanoese have
attacked it. All the homes are in flames.”

This communication is of interest because the
ilam Lindsay family was then in
this vicinity and the Pattersons

lived at Big Cove. The

home-despoiled settlers came

up to Falling Springs and

were anticipating more at-

tacks of the same kind.

Colonel Chambers had con-

structed a stone fort for the

F;;I;Nir;:::s: swiggf:énwf:: ® safety of his own family and

WHERE ELIZ’ABETH LINDSAY his neighbors. It was at the
PATTERSON’S FATHER AND .

MOTHER ARE BURIED confluence of the Falling

Springs and the Conococh-

eague, and it must have been quite a feudal enclosure, for

the stockade embraced several dwelling-houses and a flour and

sawmill. The fort proper (with the mill attachment) was a

large stone building two stories high, with the water of Falling

Springs running under it. This gave safe access to the water

and power to the mill-wheels. The windows were small to
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keep out hostile arrows, and the garrison boasted two four-
pound cannon brought from Philadelphia. The State Rec-
ords say: ‘“Almost all the neighboring families found shelter
here for some time.” Therefore we may conclude that
the Lindsays, and perhaps Francis Patterson with his
family, lived in this fort for some months.

William Nisbet says:

“William Lindsay,Jr.,was born in 1738; married Margaret Ewing, each
aged twenty. Mr. Lindsay, a stock raiser, gave attention and profits to the
purchase of land, caring for and educating a large family, a man of wealth
and influence, owning the Falling Springs in Franklin County, Pa., and the
land on either side of that creek, the entire course, and operating the mills.

“Elizabeth, daughter of William and Margaret, was born in the Falling
Springs house in 1760.

“ As Robert Patterson grew up he visited at the Lindsay home, learn-
ing to know and love his future wife. Elizabeth’s brother William and
Robert Patterson had been friends as boys, and when Robert’s fame as
an Indian fighter and the story of his wounds and suffering reached the
Lindsay house, William made a trip over to Bedford to see him. Rob-
ert’s return visit led to other visits, the graceful sister of his friend being
the chief attraction. No more welcome guest had ever been entertained
in the Lindsay home, the wounded hero lover wooing the daughter,*
shaping the future of the entire family, two of the sons going with him
into the army, and later, three of the sons and two daughters following
Robert into his far-off Kentucky home.”

Robert also went back to his grandfather’s farm on Sweet
Arrow, in Lancaster County. William Nisbet was his closest
friend and associate, the friendship lasting throughout life
and to the end of the later years in Ohio. William Nisbet’s
son married Robert Patterson’s daughter, and it is from this
son’s record of his father’s story and from the same as told
by Shaker John Patterson, of Watervliet, that we know what
we do of Robert Patterson’s boyhood. Henry L. Brown
writes: +

* This was after his journey to Kentucky and return up the Ohio River, where he was shot by

the Indians,
tH. L. B. papers.
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“ Owning horse, rifle and equipment, nothing pleased Robert so well
as hunting expeditions, the furthest into the forests and most venture-
some, the better to his liking. ‘The bearskin cap, coat and leggins he
wore in the winters he was at Sweet Arrow,’ said John, ‘were trophies
of a hunt along the Maryland border with his father. Of fine form and
figure, quick in movement, hard worker, slow of speech, a good listener,
anxious to learn. What time he had for study was given to books on sur-
veying, and he would walk or ride miles to meet a corps at work. Sol-
diers or others who had been beyond the mountains were heroes in Rob-
ert’s estimation. Agreeable to pledge, he promptly enrolled in the Lan-
caster Mounted Rifles, but soon engaged with a corps of surveyors, the
turning point in his career.” . . ‘Enjoying the work and association,
gaining instruction in the field so long anxiously sought, he drifted away
from father’s,” said his cousin John, ‘ with intention of crossing the Alle-
ghenies for a frontier life. He returned to Sweet Arrow one or two
winters (1772 and ’73), and again after service under Governor Dunmore
(1774), filled with enthusiasm over experiences, gnd determined to emi-
grate to the rich country down the Ohio of which he had learned from
the returned prospectors with whom he had served against the Indians.’ ”’

In another record we find that “John Patterson, of
Shaker Village, Watervliet, near Dayton, Ohio, remembered
well his father’s story of Robert’s arrival from Bedford
County at ‘Sweet Arrow’ for a winter’s visit, cut short by
offer of work in a tannery. This was when William Nisbet
and Robert Patterson became such close friends, and it was
Robert who induced the Nisbets to move West, aiding them
in selection of land in Fayette County, Kentucky, which land
they occupied until the removal to Twin Creek * in Ohio,
about the year 1805. They were proud of the association
with Robert, often referring to him as leader of the younger
men of Lancaster County, ever ready for the forest adven-
tures, fearless and cool under all circumstances.”’t

Thus early was Robert Patterson proclaiming by his per-
sonality that he belonged to the master class.

Of the other branches of the Patterson family in Pennsyl-

* New Lexington, Preble County, twenty miles west of Dayton.
1 From Dr. Patterson Nisbet's record; H. L. B. papers.




COL. ROBERT PATTERSON 129

vania at that time little can be told. Times were too
full of the troubles with the Indians and of the effort to wrest
a living from the soil, to leave much tangible record. Francis
Patterson, of Bedford, was evidently a prosperous farmer and
tanner, as we find his name on a number of tax lists from 1751
to 1787 (at which later date he emigrated to Kentucky), as
well as dates and" location of property purchased by him.
We find also an unpublished petition in which he joined
with others in & memorial to the Supreme Executive Council
relative to the appointing of a civil magistrate. His signa-
ture shows him to be a man of force and education.
Robert Patterson, uncle to our Robert, listed among the
“taxables’” in Cumberland County in 1751. Arthur Patterson,
of Lancaster County, was in the Fifth Pennsylvania Conti-
- nental Line under Captain Taylor, and was wounded at
Brandywine. His name appears on a list of members of
the Rocky Spring Presbyterian Church at Chambersburg in
1786. This was the uncle from whom Arthur Patterson,
the third son of Francis (whose descendants now live at
Shelbyville, Ky.), was named.

It is a coincidence that the other grandfather in this book,
John Johnston, lived in the same locality in Pennsylvania
when he emigrated from Ireland. The Johnstons settled near
Cove Mountain, not more than a score of miles from the
Patterson home. The early associations of both men were
in the same vicinity, (though at different periods,) namely, the
country near and about Chambersburg, Carlisle, Harrisburg,
Shearman’s Valley and Cove Mountain. Thus, neighbors in
the old country (for Londonderry and Donegal are side by
gide in the Irish north country), the Pattersons and the John-
stons claimed the same State for their American home, and
when the frontier instinct drew them further west, they again
met in the Ohio valleys, and their descendants still people
the land of that great State.
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CHAPTER VI
COL. ROBERT PATTERSON—CONTINUED

“Their silence, their cunning and stealth,
their terrible prowess and merciless cruelly make it
no figure of speech to call them the tigers of the
human race. . . . Tireless, careless of all hard-
ship they came silently out of unknown forests, robbed
and murdered and then disappeared again inio the
fathomless depths of the woods. . . . Wrapped
in the mantle of the unknown, appalling by their
craft, their ferocity, their fiendish cruelly, they
seemed to the white settlers devils, not men.”

THEODORE ROOSEVELT.

HE beginning of the year 1774 saw increased

activity of all kinds in the vicinity of Fort

Pitt.  Settlers, traders and adventurers

were pushing in from the East, demanding

land for homes, and allying themselves with

‘hichever faction or party seemed to offer the

reatest advantage. Boundary controversies

«d hot between British and Americans, and the

ise of military activity attracted many adven-

turers in search of glory or excitement. An expedition into

the Indian country northwest of the Ohio was talked of, and

the presence of Lord Dunmore, Governor of Virginia, with a
133
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body of troops at Cumberland attracted many recruits.
Robert Patterson enrolled in a company of Pennsylvania
Rangers for six months’ scouting service.

In Henry L. Brown’s recollections he says:

“In giving his army service, Robert Patterson usually began the story

of his life with the statement of his enrollment in the Lancaster Rifles

‘or Troopers. He was occupied with drilling and camping until the spring
of 1772, when he left for the West with a company of surveyors. En-
rolling in the Rangers, he was in camp in June, 1774, and marched with
Governor Dunmore to Fort Pitt, Daniel Boone having been dispatched
to the Falls of the Ohio to warn surveyors of the Indian uprising. The
Rangers, fifty strong, ‘the eyes of the army,” were thrown across the
Ohio for scouting service, and did not return or recross the river at any
point until winter, their orders being to follow the trail due west, and com-
municate with the army at Wheeling Creek (Fort Fincastle). Thus, at
the age of twenty-one, my grandfather had opportunity to show the stuff
that was in him.

“The movement from Fort Pitt did not occur until September, Gover-
nor Dunmore changing the rendezvous to Fort Fincastle, a new base of
operations for the Rangers, with reinforcement, including Simon Kenton,
James Harrod, David Perry, Robert McClellan, Daniel Boone, Benjamin
Logan and other splendid men, who, as the future developed, were to be
associates of Robert Patterson through the perils of western warfare, and
friends through life. With orders to meet the army at the mouth of the
Hockhocking by October first, the Rangers, sixty daring men, plunged
into the dense forest, following the broad trail to the Muskingum. They
avoided villages, concealed their strength from war parties, and scarcely
more than exchanged shots with the hostiles. Robert Patterson’s horse
had been killed, and for two days on foot he kept pace with the advance,
since to straggle meant sure death. Others lost horses, and two of the
Rangers were wounded. The company could halt only over night in the
bivouac on the Muskingum to graze horses, then changing course headed
first down the river thirty or forty miles, then directly south over the
hills to the Ohio, where near the Hockhocking the army lay in camp con-
structing Fort Gower. Procuring horses for the dismounted, the Rangers
rode up the Hockhocking twenty-five miles, and waiting orders made
camp, but were on scout every day while Dunmore communicated with
General Lewis at Point Pleasant on the Kanawha. About the fifteenth
of October the advance of the Rangers intercepted General Lewis with
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orders to halt within two days’ march of the Scioto villages. The cross
purposes of the two commanders causing delay here, and the subsequent
treaty with the Shawanoese and Mingoes, are matters of history.”

Robert Patterson’s own account is as follows:

“General Lewis disregarded the order, and we rode with him to Congo
Creek, where Governor Dunmore and staff came up, uniting the army of three
thousand two hundred, a fine body. We erected Fort Charlotte on Sippo
Creek, ten miles from Congo camp; then the Rangers were called in. In the
days scouting all over the Pickaway Plains, we enjoyed fruit from the Indian
orchards and vines, and corn, beans and fresh meat all we could want.
We rested inside the fortress at night, being free of guard duty, and made
forced trades with the warriors for better horses and blankets such as
we might fancy. We had a rollicking time for two weeks or more, and
held the Shawanoese, Wyandot, Delaware and Mingoes in the circle until
the treaty was agreed, the Indians giving up the Kentucke hunting
grounds. Not a shot was fired in the Scioto region except on two days
ride under Colonel Crawford against a Mingo village whose War Chief
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would not surrender. Here we had a small battle, took some prisoners,
and plenty of meat and corn carried on captive horses.”

This event, trivial as it appears, is called by Roosevelt
‘“The opening act of the drama that closed at Yorktown.”

Daniel Boone wrote of the Scioto villages: “The banks
of this lovely stream were lined with Indian villages in a high
state of prosperity; corn fields waving luxuriantly around
humble dwellings, the red men living at peace with each
other, relying far more upon produce of the soil than upon
the chase for support.”

During the time thus spent at Pickaway Plains, Robert
Patterson first heard from Boone, Kenton, Harrod and Logan
of the endless expanse of unoccupied lands in Kentucky.
Their accounts of the abundance of game, fields of wild cane,
fertility of soil and glorious climate; their descriptions of the
herds of buffalo, browsing el® and deer in the rich lands, so
favorably impressed him, that when George Rogers Clark, in
camp at Fort Charlotte, sought to interest the young men in
a proposed expedition for the next spring, Robert Patterson
led his comrades in the enterprise with enthusiasm.

In November the Rangers were ordered to return to Fort
Pitt by way of Muskingum Falls, thence to follow the war
trace through the hills east, accompanied by a large number
of Indians leading horses carrying provisions, furs and corn.
Dunmore and Lewis reached the Ohio River opposite the
mouth of the Kanawha, and leaving General Lewis at Point
Pleasant, Dunmore proceeded up the Ohio to garrison Fort
Henry and Fort Pitt. The Rangers coming to Fort Pitt
later were disbanded in January, 1775, and Robert Patterson
returned to his father’s home in Bedford County. Later he
went to Sweet Arrow farm,m Lancaster County, his grand-
father’s homestead. Writing of the with-
drawal from the Scioto, he said:¥*

s H. L. B. papers.
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* The Rangers covered many miles through dense forests over rough
mountains to guard against treachery. I planned to go to Kentucke:
with Kenton and others, and often through the winter talked about it
with Robert McClellan, forming for an expedition, most of us to take up
lands.” :

The project, with possibilities and dangers to be faced,
was considered in all its bearings. A journey of six hundred
miles into an enemy’s country seemed a serious undertaking
to both the parents and the boys. Robert Patterson was.
determined on the expedition, and wished his brother William:
to accompany him; but the latter was under age, and was.
persuaded by their mother to remain at:-home. William,
however, made the Kentucky trip four years later, and it
shall be told how he found his brother’s claim, lived on
it, and became the farmer of the family as Robert was
its soldier.

Bedford had by this time ceased to be important as either
a military or a trading point. The chief structure, the quaint.
old stone court-house, built during the reign of George III,
was intact. British troops had evacuated the fort, and.
the log houses erected eighteen years before for the accom-
modation of the officers were now empty. The tide of
empire had taken its habitual course Westward, leaving the-
Pennsylvania hills lonely. The dozen other cabins of the
village were occupied by families, and one or more trading
houses supplied the country about with goods, utensils, pow-
der and lead, in exchange for furs and wild meat. Bedford,
however, would never again be anything but a village.
Moving parties were constantly passing through, wagon and.
pack-horses transporting stores to troops on the frontier.
Francis Patterson operated a tannery at this time, the sons.
learning the trade with him; this, with clearing a little more-
land each year, farming and raising cattle, made a busy
family life.
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In the spring of 1775 Robert Patterson made the definite
start in life which meant so much to himself and to his de-
scendants. He withdrew finally from the home that had
sheltered him from boyhood, and parted from his family with

high ho o Fathe * 1 made
a cont art a
presen a gun,
a unting
out 4 of
clothes of
flour a ' few
head ¢ tle
to the vdven-
turer, s other
part, at to
pre-e isand
acres ither’s
name te of
Kentu Robert
left home
in Pen a, his
worldly goods and chattels, "according

to his own declaration, consisted of a gun, shot pouch,
powder-horn, his horse and saddle, and the clothes
he wore. To this may be added a share in a drove of
cattle which was the first ever brought to Kentucky.
Earlier settlers had driven in cows, sheep and hogs
singly, but Robert Patterson was the first man to bring
a drove of stock for commercial purposes. His share
amounted to nine horses and fourteen cows.

Nisbet, McConnell and Perry accompanied Patterson on
the way to Fort Pitt. All were well mounted (for even then

*This arrangement is described in a deposition made by Robert Patterson in 1787, when the title
to the land in question was in litigation. Lexington (Kentucky) Court House, Fayette County
Records. See Appendix,




COL. ROBERT PATTERSON 139

young Robert had begun to develop his love for horses);
they carried clothing in saddle-bags, and were armed and
equipped for bivouac, expecting to join some party for the
voyage down the Ohio in boats. Harrod, Boone, Kenton,
Williams and Logan were already in Kentucky. The Pat-
terson party passed the summer at Fort Pitt, but not in
idleness. By fall a strong company had been made up, and
the gathering of seed and provisions began. While some were
building covered boats, “broad-horns,” as they were called,
Robert Patterson and two others penetrated deep
into the forest, and '

spent nearly a

month shooting

bear and deer for

provisions upon

the journey.

They were success-

ful, two trips with

pack-horses being re-

quil’ed f or tra.nsportati on EMIGRANT BOAT OF PIONEERS

of “ jerk,” pelts and fat to the boats, where the furs and
skins were exchanged for winter supplies. One hundred
dollars is said to have been the monetary value of this
commercial transaction.

The party, which included John McClellan and family,
Robert Patterson, William McConnell, Francis McConnell, Sr.,
Francis McConnell, Jr., David Perry, Stephen Lowry and one
other, started down the river early in October of 1775. The
boats were partly housed against the winter with gunwales
of heavy planks for protection against Indian bullets, and
each man armed with rifle, tomahawk and knife. Cooking
utensils and scant cabin furniture were stowed away, and
concealed under meat and shelled corn were the surplus
powder and lead. In one boat were fourteen head of cattle,
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in the other nine horses. The boats lay by overnight at
Fort Henry, Grove Creek and Point Pleasant, but dared not
again touch shore until landing at Salt Lick (Vanceburg),
Ky., at the end of the two weeks’ voyage.

Bands of Indians had been seen at several points along the
Indian shore, but the boats passed in safety, the men on
guard every minute day and night. It was once stated by an
Indian chief that never a boat-load of whites came down the
Ohio River that was not watched from the beginning to the
end of the journey by the jealous savages hidden along the
banks. In the constant and ever-increasing stream of set-
tlers they foresaw the loss of their own hunting-grounds and
the annihilation of their race. The wonder is that any party
was allowed to reach its destination unmolested. The
McClellan party, however, met with no adventures. The
landscape rolled by, charming them with its beauty. “Those
broad rich acres of blue grass pastures, luxuriant forests and
clear streams were, in the Shawanoese language, -tuck-
ee,” or ‘at the head of the river.’”’*

At the mouth of Salt Creek the party separated, the fami-
lies and canoes continuing on their way down the Ohio River,
while the young men, Patterson, Lowry, Perry and William
McConnell, taking a short cut, followed the creek to its source,
They crossed Cabin Creek and struck Stone Lick,where Francis
McDremond afterwards pre-empted his claim; thence to the
lower Blue Licks, where they met Simon Kenton, so famous
in Indian warfare, and John Williams, the only white men,
to their knowledge, in the country. Another long march
through primeval wilderness brought the young explorers
across the Licking and smaller branches of the Elkhorn to
Leestown, where, after some delay, they met the canoes and
the McClelland party.

';‘see John Johnston's article on Indian nomenclature in the Archsologia Americana, Vol. I,
P.
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While grazing the cattle at the Blue Licks, Robert Patter-
" son enjoyed his first sight of buffalo, the herds moving south
in advance of winter. He there killed a big buffalo bull, and
one of the other hunters killing a calf, they made their first
meal of fresh meat in three weeks.

It is to be wished that a picture of the party could be
inserted opposite this page, but it was a century too soon for
the snap-shot camera. The imagination must supply the de-
tails. A contemporary historian will help us to do this:

“Clothed in their quaint pioneer style of buckskin trousers, deer-skin
leggins, lingsey hunting shirt and peltry cap, and armed each with a
trusty flint-lock rifle, a hatchet and knife, they pulled through the track-
less woods and almost impenetrable cane brakes in the direction of the
future Lexington.” *

In deciding upon a permanent settlement the question of
a water supply generally fixed the location. The historian,
tracing Robert Patterson’s path from Pennsylvania to Ken-
tucky, is struck with the fact that he made his new home in
the Western State on the bank of the same kind of stream
that he had left at home. Falling Springs is a clear, rapid
little creek that hurries through green fields and woods and
is always sparkling and limpid. The emigrants’ journey led
them to a fertile valley in the midst of which gushed forth
just such another stream. Rather it is a small river, and issues
full size from beneath a shelving pile of rocks and tears nois-
ily down the valley. This is now called the Royal Spring,
and around it is built the picturesque hamlet of Georgetown,
Ky. The beauty of the spot so charmed the settlers
that they decided this should be their new home. They were
joined by several families from the mouth of the Kentucky
River, from the Kingston settlement and Drennan’s Lick, and
by some young men, among them Alexander and William
McConnell, of Pennsylvania, cousins of Robert Patterson.

*Ranck'’s History of Lexington.
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After assisting the McClellans to build a stout log house
at the Royal Spring, Patterson, excited by the stimulus of
exploration and mindful of his promise to his father about
land, pushed out from the rest of the party farther into the
wilderness. This was in November, 1775. His only com-

panion was & young man

named James Sterritt,

also on the outlook for

land. On the north

fork of Cane Run the

two young hunters

halted to spend the

night of November

ninth. This was the

p~ real beginning of

" Lexington; for on

that very spot, and

ause of that night’s

ROYAL SPRING, GEORGETOWN, Ky.  bivouac, afterwards rose the
city that for years domi-

nated the whole northwest. There has been much
unnecessary romancing by historians about the settlement
of Lexington: unnecessary, because the plain truth is
romantic enough as it stands. No crusaders in the Middle
Ages, no Knights of the Round Table ever encountered
more thrilling adventures nor endured more rigid privations,
than these plain Scotch-Irish pioneers in buckskin leggings
and linsey-woolsey coats. Ranck says: ‘“The hardships and
sufferings of the Puritans in the first years of the Plymouth
settlement were not greater than those of the founders of
Lexington in her infancy.”” In this general statement the
historian is more accurate than when he comes to details; for
he writes of a camp of six young men on this same spot in
June, 1775, when they named the town Lexington. The news
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of the battle of Lexington could hardly have carried eight
hundred miles in two months. Lexington was not named
until its formal establishment as a military garrison by
Robert Patterson and a company of twenty-five men in
1779.

Therefore the two young men on that November evening,
1775, were quite unconscious of the significance of their casual
camp. Robert Patterson said: “ When I came to the place,
I had no intention of improving there, but chancing to kill a
turkey, and it being late in the evening, James Sterritt, who
was the only person in my company, and I concluded to
camp there all night. Sterritt and I proceeded on and came
to a spring, where we built a cabin ten or twelve feet
square, and deadened fifteen or twenty trees, and marked

‘R. P’ on a tree. I considered it a remarkably beautiful
place.”

Catherine Patterson Brown, telling in 1855 the story of
this camp as she heard it from her father, says:

“Near the close of a long day’s land-seeking ride from the armed
camp at the Royal Spring, father was rewarded with a first view of the
site that was to be his home, a beautiful spot, a grove of stately trees,
the center of a mass of ripened cane stretching over gently rolling hills,
a herd of grazing buffalo a feature of the scene. A splendid spring in the
grove determined his place for bivouac, the winding course of the spring
branch through rich grasses marking pasture ground for his horse.

“Fearless and satisfied he enjoyed a night’s rest, waking in the early
morning to full realization that the object of his Western venture had
been accomplished. I remember with what happiness he always told us
of that night and morning. He remained at the spring in camp to run
the bounds, blazing trees along the lines, with tomahawk cutting into
corner trees and other landmarks, his brand (“R. P. Nov. Ninth, 1775,"’)
making legal claim to his first possessions. For this and adjoining tracts,
and for lands purchased elsewhere for himself and others he paid scrip
and warrants granted to himself, my grandfather and others of the con-
nection for services in the Colonial, Revolutionary and Indian Wars in
8 period of forty-seven years.
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“In the few days’ camp at the spring wood was found, and water and
stone in abundance, the desideratum of land seekers, and deep loamy
soil, fertile beyond his dreams when told of the cane lands two years
previous by comrades of the Rangers. He returned to Royal Spring,
blazing the way that soon became a familiar route, for he spent as much
of the winter at his own spring as he could safely be away, and unmo-
lested by the Indians planned for a cabin, a very hazardous undertaking
in opinion of his frontier companions.

“Robert Patterson’s hut was built of buckeye poles and stood near
the historic Lexington spring, the fertile center of the paradise of the
West. The surrounding country, a rich pasture for buffalo, elk, and deer,
for centuries disturbed only by Indian hunting camps, had been shelter
in turn for whites and savage foes. When early in the year 1777, re-
covering from wounds, at his Pennsylvania home, he so clearly described
the tract and land marks that his brother William, on a trip to Kentucky
had no difficulty in locating hut, spring and corn patch. Father’s land
by right of discovery, a ‘tomahawk right,” was made good by settle-
ment and improvements, perfected by all necessary legal steps, questioned
in court upon adjustment of boundary lines, a title that has stood eighty
years.”

At this time Patterson began to use his knowledge of sur-
veying, which he had picked up from old text-books without
the aid of a teacher while visiting at Sweet Arrow farm, and
which was very valuable in a new country. A party consist-
ing of Patterson, Barton, McBride and three others surveying
lands near the Licking River, twenty miles north of Lexing-
ton, were fired on by Indians; McBride was killed, but not
before he had shot two of the assailants. All the others
escaped.

Durmg the remainder of the fall of 1775 Patterson occupied
himself in surveying lands on Cane Run and the Elkhorn,
and making claims for himself, for his father, and for
his brother William. He made about twenty claims, includ-
mg his own thousand acres, marking some R. P., others F. P.
or W.P. Hesayshe marked but few claims
in his own name, “ for fear of being called a
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land robber, a name much detested in the back parts of Penn-
sylvania, where I had come from.” He then writes: ¢ I built a
cabin on Cane Run, near where Robert Sander’s mill stands.”
So this was his first cabin on the claim, made in November
of 1775, but not occupied as a home until later. Robert
Patterson spent the first winter with the McClellans at Royal
Spring, and in April assisted in converting the cabin into
something like adequate protection against the Indians. To-
gether they felled trees, rolled logs into place, and shortly
there grew up a log stockade fort called McClellan’s Fort.
“The only garrison north of the Kentucky River and forty
miles in advance of any other.”

The Colonial Government had ordered that if a settler
made improvements upon the land, such as clearing off the
forests or building a cabin, especially if he raised a crop of
corn, he could claim one thousand acres as his own. So
Patterson and his friends proceeded to fix their title by a
crop of corn. As soon as the weather would permit, in the
spring of 1776, he proceeded to Cane Run and, as he wrote
it, ¢ grubbed a patch of corn.” During that summer he and
his friends spent some time on the Elkhorn looking after this
corn that made his land title; but repeated threats and out-
rages on the part of the savages made the occupation of small
stations not only unadvisable, but impossible. The young
men were obliged to return to McClellan’s at Royal Spring,
where numbers insured safety. As danger of Indian treach-
ery increased, all the settlers lived closer in the forts.

Robert Patterson’s own story covering this period of his
life is as follows:

“I became an inhabitant of Kentucky in 1775, where in April * Perry
and McConnell helped in building my cabin of buckeye logs. The first
depredations of the Indians in that country were committed that month.
The few inhabitants then erected forts and formed regulations by com-

* He means April, 1776, according to his sworn statement in deposition.
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mittees who enrolled the militia and performed regular duty, forming one
battalion, and the officers were shortly after commissioned by the State
of Virginia. I procured pay and
rations, which enrollment continued
until end of the war. Simon Kenton
wintered at Hinckston’s, Boone and
Harrod at their own stations. The
winter passed without alarm or dis-
comfort, and in March I grubbed
a patch of cane ground, planted it
in corn after my cabin was up,
and tended it alone.
“Indian hunters threatened, and
when my crop had been laid by
I assisted in building blockhouse
and stockade for McClellan’s Station. On scouting
duty through the summer I protected the corn from grazing buffalo
and elk. I spied Indian camps without discovery and gave alarm to
the settlements without wasting a shot, a8 ammunition was getting
short. And I trapped bear and deer with bent saplings. 1 gathered
my corn, cured seed for the next year’s planting and on pack horse
carried it to Harrod’s for safety, and cribbed the balance in my cabin,
which the hostiles later carried off.”

At one time the garrison at McClellan’s Station was at-
tacked by forty or fifty Indians under the Mingo warrior
named Pluggy. With horrid war-whoops they rushed upon
the stockade from out of the forest, the whites holding the
fort bravely, and after a sharp resistance the savages re-
treated. Pluggy was killed and the settlers lost valuable
men. McClellan and Charles White were mortally wounded;
Robert Ford and Edward Worthington were wounded, but re-
covered. Patterson received a slight wound which was the
one that, six years later, almost caused his death or capture
at the battle of Blue Licks.

As the Indians were constantly threatening the settlers,
so the settlers went from fort to fort to give warning of their
approach. Robert Patterson once went to visit his future
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brothers-in-law, Joseph and William Lindsay. These young
men had come from Falling Springs, [now Chambersburg,]
Pa., and had established themselves at a large spring near
the forks of the Elkhorn. Here they also had acquired
“hatchet rights” by blazing a number of trees to enclose a
certain tract, and cutting their initials on a large tree near the
spring. They had already cleared the ground and had
an acre of land in corn. This place was
called Lindsay’s Springs for
many years. The erection
of a hut, however poor, on
the claim would have given
them “cabin rights,” a
right every settler respected
as he would a signed and
attested deed. But they
were still in camp making
their beds out of boughs of
trees and cooking over a
. camp fire. They entertained SPRING CAMPING GROUND
Robert Patterson with a tooth- (Site of Lexington)
some repast of roasting ears, cooked over the coals, and snap
beans. All the early historians of Kentucky mention that
the Lindsay brothers were the first to have snap beans and
roasting ears. To them Kentucky owes also her apple orchards,
for it is said that they were the first to plant apple seeds
on the new soil.

Mrs. Catherine P. Brown writes:

“Men were on guard every night at McClellan’s, as was the case at
the other settlements, and as danger increased with milder weather, a
military company formed including all the men of the Elkhorn country,
divided into small parties to scout and hunt in turn. Father was on
this duty much of the time, scouting in all kinds of weather from Hinck-
ston’s to the Blue Licks, then around to Boone’s, sometimes to Harrod’s,
halting on the tours for work on his own land. He supplied a consider-
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able portion of the bear meat and venison used at McClellan’s that winter.
He told us of killing a young buck near his spring in cold weather, then
making tender ‘jerk’ by hanging the meat in the air for curing in the
winds. He lived on ‘jerk’ two months and had enough for dinner for
David Perry and young McConnell, who in April helped him build the
hut for which in the winter he had cut the poles and split clapboards.”

The year 1775 was called the “peace year,” when, follow-
ing Dunmore’s treaty, the Indians were kept in abeyance;
but in 1776, incited by the British, they resumed their
depredations. Beginning with the spring of 1776, they
lined the banks of the Ohio, Kentucky and Licking Rivers,
watching for the flat-boats of the white men floating slowly
down with the current. With their light canoes so much
more rapid than the clumsy house-boats, the savages could
dart out from the sheltering thickets along the bank, sur-
prise and murder the settlers, and escape without loss. If
the settlers reached their destination unmolested and hoped
to make a home for their children, there were still greater
perils to threaten them. Ranck says, in his History of
Lexington: “The attempt to raise corn was certain death.
Game was shot at the peril of the hunter’s life.”” When pro-
visions became scanty in the fort, and the grim specter of
starvation forced the father to shoulder his gun and go hunting
in the forest, his wife never knew that the door she closed
upon him in the morning would open to him again at night.

It was during the summer of 1776 that occurred that
thrilling event in the early history of Kentucky—the carrying
off of the daughter of Daniel Boone and the two daughters of
Col. Richard Calloway. The three girls were paddling about
in a canoe on the Kentucky River near Fort Boonesboro
when, on drifting near the bank, they were horrified to see
a dark-skinned arm reach out of the bushes and pull the boat
shoreward. At the same time an Indian of great size, in
war paint and feathers, sprang along the side of the boat
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and seized one of the girls. The
other two fought bravely with the paddles,
but they were soon overcome, their cries stifled,
and all were carried swiftly off through the
% forest. On the way, although constantly threat-

" ened with a tomahawk, they took every occasion to
break twigs from trees and tear small bits of their clothing
and drop them in the path to aid the search that they felt
sure would follow. Of course, Colonel Boone had plenty of
volunteers to go to the rescue of the abducted girls, and we
have reason to believe that Robert Patterson was among the
number. The pursuit was carried into Ohio, where the
Indians were surprised asleep around their camp fire, the
girls rescued and restored to their families.

Let us try to imagine the Kentucky of that day.

Except for the treeless stretches of country between the
Salt and Green Rivers, which the settlers called ‘“the Bar-
rens,” and which had been burned off by the Indians, Kentucky
in 1775 contained not one clearing. The country was almost
unbroken forest. Immense oaks and maples grew with
branches interlaced, making a roof through which the sun
never shone. It was a tangled, whispering, shaded wilder-
ness, peopled with four-footed wild beasts and still more
terrible two-footed enemies. It was always twilight in the
woods; always sinister and fear-compelling. The only paths
were the buffalo traces which were kept open by the wild
cattle going to and from the streams. These “traces’” the
first settlers followed on their journeys in from the East.
The woods were the natural homes of the savages. They
knew how to hide behind trees and shoot from the shelter of
a rotten stump. Their dark skin lost itself among the shad-
ows; their footfalls were noiseless as
those of a hunting panther. But the d
settler wasin constant peril. He had
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learned to fight in the open, but was no match for the skulking
foe in the deep and shadowy ravine. Every feature of the
landscape was an advantage to the Indian and a disadvantage
to the white man. Logs, trees and bushes were all ambushes,
and the Indian made good use of them. He could signal to
his companions right across the track of the white settler,
who thought the call only the cry of an owl or the chirrup of
a squirrel. The hunter knew that death in its

e form might be lurking behind a log

k. Stealthily and slowly the foe

| with no manner of warning, swift

» and pitiless the onslaught when

it came; and of those who, instead

ing killed, were taken into captivity,

ess written the better, if we would

our senses. Those who have read

of the burning at the stake of

Colonel Crawford at Sandusky, of

nning of the gauntlet by Simon Ken-

’he prisoners hacked to pieces by the

»f the younger chiefs; of girls con-

1 life of concubinage; of the lLttle

tched from their mothers’ arms and

thrown on blazing coals—will not wonder that

the white settler, when his turn came, fought with the desper-
ation born of harrowing memories. Theodore Roosevelt writes:
“The inhuman love of cruelty for cruelty’s sake which marks
the red Indian above all other savages rendered these wars more
terrible than any others; for the hideous, unnamable, un-
thinkable tortures practiced by the red men on their captured
foes, and on their foes’ tender women and helpless children,
were such as we read of in no other struggle; hardly even in
the revolting pages that tell the deeds of the Holy Inquisition.
It was inevitable; indeed, it was in many instances proper
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that such deeds should wake in the breasts of the whites
the grimmest, wildest spirit of revenge and hatred.”

The Indians seldom came to open conflict; they had no
pride in it; it did not satisfy their instincts of brutality. But
as every scalp at the belt added to the prestige of a warrior,
he let slip no opportunity of taking one. Settlers were picked
off by arrows from behind trees as they were planting corn,
or shot in the back as they proceeded from cabin to fort on
horseback. It is told that at one time at the court-house
at Lexington were seen twenty-three widows who had come
to obtain letters of administration upon their husbands’ es-
- tates, all of whom had in one year been bereft of their pro-
tectors by this ambushed warfare. The whites lived in con-
tinual dread. They never dared undress to go to bed, and
every dawning sun brought fresh anxiety for the fathers and
mothers. The children learned not to stray away from the
clearing.into the forest in pursuit of a bird call; even two-
year-old babies kept their aches and pains to themselves in the
night when mother whispered, “Hush! you will bring the
Indians.” Who knows but the intense nervous temperament
of the modern American is a psychologic result of the un-
lifting strain in the lives of his forebears? What wonder they
were so0 deeply religious! They could say with Job, “I was
not in safety, neither had I any rest, neither was I quiet.”

In the struggle with the Indians the whites suffered moral
as well as material disadvantages. Military discipline was of
unknown quantity in frontier warfare. The commissioned
officer was obeyed by his men if he was popular and they ap-
proved of his plan of action; if not, they followed the lead
of any subordinate officer who pleased them better. It was
a warfare of individuals, where theories were overlooked and
principles forgotten; where each blow struck was a specific
personal matter which did not concern the officer in charge.
Each man had his private scores to settle, and when he saw
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his foe the idea was to get at him as summarily as possible,
orders or no orders. The battle of the Great Kanawha was
most disastrous and bloody, because the Rangers, not liking
the rations issued to them, went off into the woods after
game, against orders. The battle of Blue Licks was lost
because a hot-headed underling took it into his head to man-
age things. This state of affairs not only prolonged the
bloody struggle on the frontier, but caused frequent tragedies,
where the Indian met with as little justice as he rendered.

Another strange element in this haphazard warfare was
the individual treaties entered into between combatants.
Leaders on both sides would agree to exchange prisoners or
arrange a temporary truce, and these contracts were, as a
rule, conscientiously kept. Theodore Roosevelt, in his “ Win-
ning of the West,”” quotes from a letter of Daniel Boone to “a
leading Kentucky colonel” (Robert Patterson), in which he
notifies him that a captive squaw must be returned to her
tribe in accordance with an agreement made, and to clear his
“promise and obligation.”

* * * * * * *

As we have narrated, Patterson and his associates retired
from their log cabin for the time being to the shelter of the
Harrodsburg Fort, between which place and the settlement
of McClellan’s at Royal Spring, he lived for the next four
years. In the meantime the stir of events pulsated westward
from the colonies on the seaboard.

A new nation was struggling to assert herself; on one side
against the tyranny of England, on the other against the
fierce encroachment of the savage. Her stern pride had
spoken in the declaration that “all men are born free and
equal and entitled to life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness.”
The coast was rigid in its attitude toward the British. The
Western forests and rivers were upholding it in their ceaseless
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skirmishes with the Senecas and Wyandottes. The summer
of 1776 first saw the establishment of America as
free, sovereign a

of Long Island,

Champlain, Wh

Plains, Rhode

Island, Trenton

and the capture

Fort Washingt

The British a

their headquart

in Detroit were u

ing on by ever

means in thei

power the grow-

ing hostilities «

between the whif

settlers and the In

Hamilton, the

of the northwest region, had been ordered to

gather all the tribes together and have them ready to act
unitedly against the Americans as soon as the weather should
permit. War councils were held and bounties were offered
for scalps.* Therefore, when a settler found his nearest
neighbor murdered and scalped in the pathway, his indigna-
tion' was divided between the savage who did the deed and
the enemy who incited him. So, whether the pioneer came
into open conflict with the redcoats as at Bryan’s Station, or
was involved only with the Indians themselves, the quarrel
was a double one throughout, and the men who participated
in it were truly Revolutionary soldiers whether they held
a State commission or one from the Governinent. Indeed,
greater credit should be theirs than that granted to the Eastern

¢ American Archives, Vol. II.
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patriots in the Revolution, because the frontier men had so
little help from headquarters. Without them the United
States would have been much slower “in the borning.”” The
central Government did not and could not concern itself with
occasional detached skirmishes in the far Western woods.
Its resources were strained to the utmost in its own imme-
diate affairs with the British. The western settlers fought
single-handed and unsupported. During the winter that
Robert Patterson spent in the fort at Royal Spring all the
tribes in Ohio, Illinois and the whole northwestern country
were preparing for a united war upon the whites. Kentucky
was not the home of any one tribe, but all used it as a hunt-
ing-ground, and all resented the rapid incursion of the emi-
grants into a region which they considered their own, and
"which contributed to their existence. All winter, runners
from the Indian towns along the Miami and Mad Rivers, and
from the Illinois prairies, sped over the frozen ground to
remote camps to incite the warriors to conflict. The spirit
grew with the months, and even the older Indians, some of
whom were inclined to be neutral, failed to curb the frenzy
of the young braves. War paint and eagle feathers were
donned as they danced the war dance around their fires and
with their war clubs executed prophetic vengeance which
was only too sure to be fulfilled. All up and down the Ohio
River ensued the horrors of relentless warfare. Forts were
surprised and burned, the fathers killed and the women and
children marched to captivity. The first attacks were made
at Wheeling, and soon all the borders of Pennsylvania, Vir-
ginia and Ohio were terrorized.

Early in October, 1776, the supply of powder and other
necessaries at Royal Spring Fort being nearly exhausted,
it became necessary for some of the unmarried men to go
to Pittsburg to procure supplies before winter should set
in. Robert Patterson, then a boy of only twenty-three,
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was selected among the rest for this expedition; he was
looked upon by the others and by himself, probably, as en-
tirely able to cope with the fatigues and dangers necessary
to such an enterprise. The start was made about the first of
the month, the party going first to Blue Lick Springs, where
they spent several days curing buffalo jerk and tallow.
There were seven in the party—Robert Patterson, Joseph
McNutt, David Perry, James Wernock, James Templeton,
Edward Mitchell and Isaac Greer. They procured a canoe
at Limestone and commenced their journey, arriving at Point
Pleasant, at the mouth of the Great Kanawha, with no
serious adventures. At Point Pleasant was a fort commanded
by a Captain Arbuckle, being the only white settlement be-
tween McClellan’s Fort and Grove Creek, a few miles below
the present Wheeling. From this military post the young
men carried despatches for the commandant at Wheeling.

Aware that Indians were lurking all along the banks of
the river, the party proceeded with the utmost care, making
no fire after dark, but cooking their suppers before sunset
and going on again quietly until time to seek the shore for
a night’s rest. They agreed upon starting out, that if any
disaster should happen to them each should stand by the
other, and we shall see how faithfully the compact was ob-
served. A single narrative from the pen of Robert Patterson
himself remains to us. It is as thrilling a chapter in the
pioneer history of this country as any contained in Parkman
or Fiske or Schoolcraft. It will give posterity an opportunity
to know what our forefathers went through in their efforts
to wrest this great continent from savage hands and to make
it a future home for their children. We quote the narrative
entire, as follows:

“At length the memorable twelfth of October arrived. During the

day we passed several new improvements, which occasioned us to be less
watchful and careful than we had been before. Late in the evening we
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landed opposite the island on the Ohio side of the river (in
‘5 what is now Athens County), then called the Hock-hocking,
) and were beginning to flatter ourselves that we should reach
some inhabitants the next day. Having eaten nothing that
day, contrary to our usual practice, we kindled a fire and
cooked supper. After we had eaten and made the last of
our flour into a loaf of bread, and put it into an old brass
kettle to bake so that we might be ready to start again in
the morning at daybreak, we lay down to rest, keeping the
same clothes on at night that we wore during the day. For
the want of a better, I had on a hunting-shirt and britch clout
(so called) and flannel leggings. I had my powder-horn and shot-
_ pouch on my side and placed the butt of my gun under my head.
* Five of our company lay on the east side of the fire and James Templeton
and myself on the west; we were lying on our left sides, myself in front,
with my right hand hold of my gun. Templeton was lying close behind me.
This was our position and asleep, when we were fired upon by a party of
Indians. Immediately after the fire, they rushed upon us with tomahawks
as if determined to finish the work of death they had begun. It appeared
that one Indian had shot on my side of the fire. I saw the flash of the
gun and felt the ball pass through me, but where I coud not tell, nor
was it at first painful. I sprang to take up my gun, but my right shoulder
came to the ground. I made another effort and was half bent in getting
up, when an Indian sprang past the fire with savage fierceness and struck
me with his tomahawk. From the position I was in, it went between
two ribs just behind the back-bone, a little below the kidney, and pene-
trated the cavity of the body. He then immediately turned to Temple-
ton (who by this time had gotten to his feet with his gun in hand) and
seized his gun. A desperate scuffle ensued, but Templeton held on and
finally bore off the gun.

“In the meantime, I made from the light and in my attempt to get
out of sight, I was delayed for a moment by getting my right arm fast
between a tree and a sapling, but having gotten clear and away from the
light of the fire, and finding that I had lost the use of my right arm, I
made a shift to keep it up by drawing it through the straps of my shot-
pouch. I could see the crowd about the fire, but the firing had ceased
and the strife seemed to be over. I had reason to believe that the others
were all shot and tomahawked. Hearing no one coming towards me, I
resolved to go to the river and, if possible, to get into the canoe and float
down, thinking by that means I might possibly reach Point Pleasant,




COL. ROBERT PATTERSON 157

supposed to be about one hundred miles distant. Just as I got on
the beach a little below the canoe, an Indian in the canoe gave a .
whoop, which gave me to understand that it was best to withdraw.
I did so and, with much difficulty, got to an old log, and being ve
thirsty and faint and exhausted, I was glad to sit down. I felt
the blood running and heard it dropping on the dry leaves all
around me. Presently, I heard the Indians board the canoe and
float past. All was silent and I felt myself in a most forlorn con-
dition. I could not see the fire, but determined to find it and see
if any of my comrades were alive. I steered the course towards
which I supposed the fire to be and having reached it found Templet:
alive, but wounded in nearly the same manner that I was. James Wi
nock was also dangerously wounded, two balls having passed through
his body; Joseph McNutt was dead and scalped; David Perry was
wounded, but not badly, and Isaac Greer was missing. The miseries

of the hour cannot well be described.

“When daylight appeared, we held a council and concluded that
inasmuch as one gun and some ammunition was saved, Perry would fur-
nish us with meat and we would proceed up the river by slow marches
to the nearest settlements, supposed to be one hundred miles. A small
quantity of provisions which was found scattered around the fire, was
picked up and distributed among us, and a piece of blanket which was
saved from the fire, was given to me to cover a wound on my back. On
examination, it was found that two balls had passed through my right
arm and that the bone was broken; to dress this, splinters were taken
from a tree near the fire that had been shivered by lightning, and placed
on the outside of my hunting-shirt and bound with a string. And now
being in readiness to move, Perry took the gun and ammunition and we
all got to our feet except Wernock who, on attempting to get
up, fell back to the ground. He refused to try again, said that he
could not live, and at that same time desired us to do the best we
could for ourselves. Perry then took hold of his arm and told him
if he would get up he would carry him; upon this, he made another
effort to get up, but falling back as before, he begged us in the most
solemn manner to leave him. At his request, the old kettle was
filled with water and placed at his side, which he said was the last
and only favor required of us, and then conjured us to leave him
and try to save ourselves, assuring us that should he live to see us
again, he would cast no reflections of unkindness upon us. Thus we
left him. When we had gotten a little distance, I looked back and,
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distressed and hopeless as Wernock’s condition really was, I felt to envy
it. After going about one hundred poles, we were obliged to stop and
rest, and found ourselves too sick and weak to proceed. Another con-
sultation being held, it was agreed that Templeton and myself should re-
main there with Edward Mitchell, and Perry should take the gun and go
to the nearest settlement and seek relief. Perry promised that if he could
not procure assistance, he would be back in four days. He then returned
to the camp and found Wernock in the same state of mind as when we
left, perfectly rational and sensible of his condition, replenished his kettle
with water, brought us some fire and started for the settlement.

“ Alike unable to go back or forward, and being very thirsty, we set
about getting water from a small stream that happened to be near us,
our only drinking vessel being an old wool hat which was so broken that

was with some difficulty made to hold water,

wt by stuffing leaves in it, we made it hold so

that each one could ‘drink from once filling it.

Nothing could have been a greater luxury to

us than a drink of water from the old hat.

fust at night Mitchell returned to see if Wernock

vas still living, intending, if he was dead, to get

the kettle for us. He arrived just in time

 to see him expire; but not choosing to

* 7 leave him until he should be certain that

’ he was dead, he stayed with him until darkness

came on, and when he attempted to return to us

' he got lost and lay from us all night. We suffered

much that night from the want of fire and through fear that

he was either killed or that he had run off; but happily for us, our

fears were groundless, for next morning at sunrise he found his

way to our camp. That day we moved about two hundred yards

farther up a deep ravine and farther up the river. The weather, which

had been cold and frosty, now became a little warmer and commenced

raining. Those that were with me could sit up, but I had no alternative

but to lie on my back on the ground with my right arm over my body.

The rain continuing next day, Mitchell took an excursion to examine the

hills, and not far distant he found a projection from the cliff sufficient

to shelter us from the rain, to which place we were very gladly removed.

He also gathered pawpaws for us, which were our only food, except, per-
haps, a few grapes.

“Time moved slowly on until Saturday. In the meantime, we talked



COL. ROBERT PATTERSON 1569

over the dangers to which Perry was exposed, the distance he had to go
and the improbability of his returning. When the time had expired
which he had allowed himself, we concluded that we would if alive, wait
for him until Monday, and if he did not come then, and no relief should
be afforded, we would attempt to travel to Point Pleasant. The third
day after our defeat, my arm became very painful. The splinters and
leaves and my shirt were cemented together with blood, and stuck so
fast to my arm that it required the application of warm water for nearly
a whole day to loosen them so that they could be taken off; when this
was done, I had my arm dressed with white oak leaves, which had a very
good effect. On Saturday, about twelve o’clock, Mitchell came with his
bosom full of pawpaws and placed them convenient to us, and returned
to his station on the river. He had been gone about an hour when, to
our great joy, we beheld him coming with a company of men. When
they approached us, we found that our trusty friend and companion,
David Perry, had returned to our assistance with Capt. John Walls, his
officers and most of his company. Our feelings of gratitude may possibly
be conceived, but words can never describe them. Suffice it to say that
these eyes flowed plenteously with tears and I was so completely over-
whelmed with joy that I fell to the ground. On my recovery, we were
taken to the river and refreshed plentifully with provisions which the
captain had brought, and our wounds dressed by an experienced man,
who came for that purpose. We were afterwards described by the cap-
tain to be in a most forlorn and pitiable condition, more like corpses
beginning to putrify, than living beings. .

“While we were at the cliff which sheltered us from the rain, the howl-
ing of the wolves in the direction of the fatal spot whence we had so
narrowly escaped with our lives, left no doubt that they were feasting
on the bodies of our much-lamented friends, McNutt and Wernock.
While we were refreshing ourselves at the river, and having our wounds
dressed, Captain Walls went with some of his men to the place of our
defeat and collected the bones of our late companions and buried them
with the utmost expedition and care. We were then conducted by water
to Captain Wall’s station at Grove Creek.”

Upon a thrilling narrative like this,* an ambitious historian
is tempted to enlarge; to trim it up with literary applique
for the sake of dramatic effect. But
ambition should not interfere with candor

*This story is told by Jno. Van Cleve, in the * American Pioneer,”
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and simplicity. Robert Patterson was a plain man. He
had told his own story in his own plain way, and as such
we let it stand, feeling that it will appeal to his descend-
‘ants as no more ornate narrative could. We cannot fail
to admire his wonderful fortitude under such perilqus cir-
cumstances, and to render homage to the memory of a man
who could undertake so much for so little reward, and bear
the punishment of his valor with such patience.

It is to be remembered that this party was not composed
of hardened men of middle age, but of young fellows, almost
boys, who in these days would be ministered to by all the
.conveniences and comforts of civilization. Robert Patter-
son’s wound never ceased to torment him, and the reopening
of it fifty years later was the cause of his death.

A visit to that locality in later years suggested that the
party believed themselves safer in building a fire in the woods
-on that side of the river, as the channel ran close along a high
‘wooded bank, while on the opposite side the bivouac would
be exposed on a broad gravel beach in view a long distance
up and down the river. The Indians had probably followed
the party all day, and lay in hiding for the night attack.

Wounded and suffering, Robert Patterson was taken in
care of an army surgeon to Grove Creek, and was soon sent
to the hospital at Fort Pitt for treatment. Continuing his
narrative at a later date, Robert Patterson says:

“I lay in hospital at Fort Pitt half the winter, then by easy stages
made the trip to our home in Bedford, where by mother’s nursing I
began to mend. Arm and back continued running sores, and painful.
Pleasant weather in the spring of 77 let me out of doors, and exercise
was very beneficial. When able to ride I made visits to cousins in Lan-
<caster County, and the other way to family friends in Franklin, stopping
4 length of time with the William Lindsay family on Falling Springs, all
of them taking interest in accounts of Kentucke and frontier life, the
story of our disaster on the Ohio having been heard before my visit. I
was given over credit as a scout and Indian fighter by the daughter,
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Elizabeth Lindsay, a beautiful woman in my .eyes, her age seventeen.
Our friendship gave occasion for other visits, and when we parted it was
for me to make a home for her in the West.”

Much of the story of Robert Patterson’s stay in Pennsyl-
vania was gathered by Henry L. Brown from the Nisbets and
the Shaker Pattersons, and from Catherine Patterson Brown,
who said:

“Father’s wounds detained him some months in Pennsylvania, during
which he renewed association with boyhood friends, among them the
Lindsays of Falling Spring, attracted by their sister Elizabeth, a beau-
tiful auburn-haired girl, of sprightly, happy disposition, taller than father,
like him erect in person and graceful in movement. Their betrothal ex-
tended over a separation of three years through unsettled war conditions,
Elizabeth waiting the time that would release her soldier lover from mili-
tary obligations long enough for her expected journey as a bride to their
proposed Kentucke home. Father was to select land for Uncle William
Lindsay, who had decided to go to the new country in the West.”

At the time of the threatened overrunning of New York
by the British, Robert Patterson had so far recovered as to
permit his assisting in forming companies and organizing
a regiment to join reenforcements for the American army.
This regiment of militia, however, was ordered by General
Washington to move from Bedford to reenforce General Hand
at Fort Pitt against an expected uprising of the north-
" western tribes. Covering that service, Colonel Patterson
states in a pension claim:

“I led one of the companies, but the exposure on the forced march
was more than I could bear in the weakened condition from wounds,
and I again entered the army hospital at Fort Pitt.

“Before this, in the spring, William (Patterson) being near twenty
years old had consent of our mother and father to seek his fortune with
me in Kentucke, and met no difficulty in reaching Harrodsburg, the
in locating my land and cabin under my deseription.

“Procuring an outfit in September (1777) I joined a
horseback party en route to Fort Henry, where my former
commander, Colonel Shepherd of the Rangers, was again in the



162 CONCERNING THE FOREFATHERS

service, the fort filled with settlers and their families in alarm over
the number of war parties moving through the forests across the
Ohio River. Colonel Shepherd who had cared for me while passing
up the river wounded the year] before, now offered inducements for
me to locate on Wheeling Creek where he owned large tracts, but
my interests were in Kentucke, and after two days I continued
the ride, next halting at Point Pleasantjwhere Capt. Matthew Arbuckle
still remained in command of the garrison, the greatest excitement exist-
ing among Kanawha settlers over the recent killing of Cornstalk, the Scioto
Shawanoese Chieftain, his son Ellinipsico and the young chief Redhawk,
while on a friendly mission at the fort. I met Cornstalk and his son
several times on the Upper Scioto, and afterwards across from Fort Pitt,
one of the most intelligent and fair Indians I ever knew. Their killing
was a result of the alarm following massacre of emigrants and settlers
along the Ohio. From Point Pleasant I descended by boat to Limestone,
observing bands of warriors along the Indian shore, we escaping attack
by keeping the boats close to the Southern shore.

“ Landing at Limestone I rode past Kenton’s and camped over night,
and next evening reached McClellan’s. Finding the fortress and cabins
deserted I lay in the ‘brush with the horse until morning and met the
first who told of the alarm and distress from invasions the previous year,
massacres of women and children, slaughter of live stock around stations,
improvements destroyed, crops neglected, a number of my acquaintance
among the slain. I received good welcome by friends at Harrod’s, among
them George Rogers Clark, in hearty humor on recovery from my wounds.”

It was in October of this year that the plans for the Illinois
campaign were first divulged by George Rogers Clark to those
brave young Kentucky pioneers whom he knew he could trust
for secrecy no less than for sympathy and support. At Har-
rod’s Station he met Robert Patterson, William McConnell,
Leonard Helin, Joln Montgomery and James Masterson, who
had all served in the Dunmore War; to them he explained his
hopes and plans for this important expedition, which was so
materially to change the ownership of the great Northwest.
When Colonel Clark left for Williamsburg to plead for funds
from the Government, it was with the understanding that those
in whom he had confided would join him in the enterprise.
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Continuing Robert Patterson’s story of his return:

“I stopped at Harrod’s Station until William (Patterson) was through
tending court, when we with a small armed party proceeded to the Lexing-

ton Spring and raised a small crop

of turnips from seed I brought

along, about a iter except
jerk, as the 1 3 and run
off the live ¢ hanging on
so late bothere of us on
the Blue Licl and killed
two, the aped, and
that was t of them
for the ' er. Emi-
grants com in told
that a short ime after I
passed Fort Henry,
four hundred Indians
with Simo Girty
laid siege but repulsed
with loss of n hundred
of the hostiles twenty-

five of the garrison.”

Robert and his brother made the cabin bullet-proof, with
portholes guarding approach, and put in the winter clearing
cane ground for a larger patch of corn and truck, doing also
a share of scouting and guard. William’s fighting experience
began as one of the defenders of Logan’s Fort, in May, 1777;
then came rough experience in growing crops and caring for
cattle and horses. He scouted the country as far as Lime-
stone, although when Robert returned but three of the sta-
tions were occupied.

Harrod’s, Boone’s and Logan’s Stations owned one hun-
dred and two fighting men, all told, re-enforced, however,
in August, by Col. John Bowman. William Patterson
spent all of January, 1778, with a large party making
salt at the Blue Licks. Twenty-eight of them, including
Daniel Boone, were captured by the savages, William with .
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two others being fortunately on a trip delivering salt to the
stations.

Boone was carried to Old Chillicothe, now Old Town, on
the Little Miami between Xenia and Yellow Springs. It was
not a tragic capture, as were so many in those days, for the
savages took a fancy to their prisoner and treated him rather
as a guest than as an enemy. He joined in their sports,
hunted, fished and swam with them, and, if we except
the incident of his being forced to drink a decoction made of
the entrails of a deer, which they insisted was good for
his health, he had no fault to find with his captors.
But in the meantime, Boone had discovered state secrets:
he learned of preparations for war on the whites, and felt
the distress of seeing four hundred and fifty warriors all
armed, painted and equipped for a descent upon the Ken-
tucky homes of the people he loved. Spurred on by loyalty,
and enduring all sorts of thrilling adventures, Boone escaped
from the Indians and arrived in Kentucky in time to warn
his friends to prepare for invasion. The Indians evidently
knew themselves outwitted; they made no concerted attack
that fall, but harassed the settlers by attacks of marauding
bands until life was no longer safe at any of the stations.

The Ohio lands were grazing and farming lands; Ken-
tucky was the commmon hunting-ground of all the Indian
tribes. Jealous of the encroachment of the white settlers,
whose industry was slowly and surely turning game preserves
into arable land, the savages made attempt after attempt to
destroy their unwelcome neighbors. They appeared sud-
denly and struck remorselessly, leaving death and destruc-
tion in their wake. Then the whites would follow the Indians
across the Ohio, up the valleys of the two Miamis to their vil-
lages (near the sites of the future Xenia, Clifton, Old Town,
Dayton and Piqua), and seek in turn to deal such a blow
as would render their homes once more comparatively safe.
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These repeated punitive expeditions made the history of a
good ten years of the early Kentucky settlement.

During all this time the Patterson brothers were business
partners. It was Robert’s part to do the fighting and
William’s to attend to the farm. The elder brother joined
one expedition after another, each resulting in increased safety
to the settlers, while William devoted himself to making the
cane lands productive and remunerative. The ultimate aim of
both brothers was to make a safe and happy home later on
for the father and mother and children to occupy when they
left the Pennsylvania home for the West.
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“What constitutes a State ?

Not high-raised battlements and labored mound,

Thick wall and moated gate;
Not cities proud, with spires and turrets crowned,

Not bays and broad-armed ports.

No; men! high-minded men—

Men who their duties know,
But know their rights, and knowing, dare maintain.”

SiR WiLLIAM JONES.

;’:T will be germane to this history to know something

“ of the pioneer associates of Robert Patterson during

is early life in Kentucky. Most of these men were
listinguished for their part in the history of the Western

ountry; some were comparatively unknown except to

heir friends and descendants, but all were sturdy sons

of enterprise and of liberty, loving their firesides enough

- ' both to work and to fight for them, and united to each
~ other with that strong friendship which a common danger

and a common purpose bring.

It will be remembered that during the Dunmore war
Robert Patterson cameinto contact with seven young Rangers
—Simon Kenton, Daniel Boone, Benjamin Logan, James
Harrod, David Perry, Robert McClellan, and John Todd.
These men became his associates also in Kentucky, and later
his firm friends. It was their account of the beauty and
fertility of the land south of the Ohio that aroused in Rob-
ert Patterson the desire to make it his home.

Simon Kenton was a rough, unlettered Irishman of

169
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great bravery and fine moral character. He fled into the
wilderness from his Virginia home when he was only sixteen,
under suspicion of an unpremeditated homicide. This af-
terwards proved to be a mistake. He was a spy in Lord
Dunmore’s war and later lived in the ‘“Cane Lands” of
Kentucky, alternately tilling the ground and fighting the
Indians, as circumstances demanded. He was
taken prisoner by the Indians and con-
demned to be burned at the stake. They

did actually tie him up and pile brush
around him, but at the last moment he

was rescued. He ran the gauntlet no

less than seven times,* escaping finally
through his bravery and agility. He

was a prisoner of war at Detroit, but
escaped and fled on foot through the
woods to Kentucky. Kenton com-
manded a battalion of volunteers under
Gen. Anthony Wayne in 1793-1794, and
was Brigadier-General of Ohio Militia in
1805. Like Patterson,he preémpted immense
tracts of land in Kentucky, but lost them through troubles with
incoming settlers and his ignorance of the law. He died in
1836 at an advanced age, on the exact spot where fifty-eight
years before he had escaped death at the hands of the Indians.
Daniel Boone’s name is familiar to every boy who reads
the romantic history of the great West. He is called the
Robin Hood of American pioneer life; an ignorant man if
we judge him only by the standard of books, but versed in
his craft. As the true education is that one which best
enables a man to cope with the difficulties of life, it will be
granted that Daniel Boone was, after all, a very well-edu-
cated man. He could barely read and write, but he knew
everything relating to the forests, the fields and the streams.

* Onoe on the site of the present pike between Xenia and Yellow Bprings, four miles from Xenis.

SIMON KENTON
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As a hunter he was a genius; as an Indian fighter, a terror;
“Strong, brave, lithe, inured to hardships and privation,
he traced his steps through the pathless forests, sought
out the hiding places of the panther, bear and wolf, and
was the match of any Indian in the sagacity with which
he detected the footsteps of the red man.”* Daniel Boone
was allied with the Quakers in Philadelphia in his youth,

but moved to North Caro- lina and thence to Ken-
tucky, establis fort called
Boonesboro,ont mntucky River.
It is much too ong a story to
tell here of his sapture by the
Indians, his flight and jour-
ney of one hundred and
sixty miles with only one
meal ; his adoption into
an Indian tribe after
pulling out all his hair
except one lock; his es-
cape by throwing to-
bacco dust in the eyes
of his cap- tors; his
flight by the side of
Robert Pat- tersonatthe
battle of Blue Licks carry-
ing hiswounded DANIEL BOONE son on his
back to safety; his death in

Missouri in 1820, and his burial in the coffin he made for himself
and had kept under his bed for years. If one wants romance,
fairy tale and epicallin one,let him read thelife of Daniel Boone.

John Todd was a Virginia lawyer who came to Fayette
County in the same year with Robert Patterson and settled
at Lexington. He was a Burgess of the Virginia Legisla-
ture in 1776 and afterwards colonel of the Kentucky militia.
"~ % Appleton’s Cyclopedis Am. Biog.
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He was in the first Kentucky legislature with Robert Pat-
terson, and in the Illinois campaign with George Rogers
Clark. The most noteworthy thing John Todd ever did
was to introduce a bill into the Virginia legislature to eman-
cipate the negroes. It was in 1780 that he thus anticipated
history. He was interested in the Transylvania University
and its library, and worked hand in hand with Robert
Patterson for the advancement of the young and promising
institution. At the battle of Blue Licks he was senior
colonel, and fell almost at the first onslaught. His brother
Levi was, with Robert Patterson, one of the few survivors
of this bloody battle.*

Benjamin Logan was, like Patterson, Scotch-Irish, and
a part of that Pennsylvania-Virginia emigration which
peopled the wilds of the West. Like Patterson and Kenton
he served in the Dunmore war, and joined Daniel Boone in
Kentucky in 1775. At the attack on Logan’s Fort in 1777,
the men who stood guard at the morning milking were fired
upon by the Indians. One was killed, one mortally wounded,
and the third struck helpless. Logan advanced alone under
a shower of bullets, took the wounded man on his shoulders
and bore him within the fort, where there were but twelve
muskets to keep the savages at bay. For weeks these brave
men and women held out; then provisions and ammunition
ran low, and Logan with two faithful friends escaped by
night through the woods, leaving only nine guns to guard
the fort. They reached a settlement one hundred and fifty
miles distant, whence came a mounted force to relieve the
garrison. Logan commanded the expedition against the
Shawnees at Chillicothe in 1786, with Robert Patterson
under his command. He led the main body of volunteer
reinforcements to the relief of Bryan’s Station, and four
years later led a force of men against the Miami towns.
It was in one of these later skirmishes under Logan,

‘ImToddlmBothwuthafuhudlmAbnthlmln
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the vicinity of Piqua, that Robert Patterson received from
an Indian a blow that reopened his old wound, and upon
which injury he based his claim for a pension. Logan is
described as a powerfully built man of iron endurance and
great courage. He was a member of the Ken-
tucky legislature in the same
year with Patterson, and died
in Shelby County two years
before the latter moved to
Dayton.

Gen. George Rogers
Clark was a man of fine
mental powers and
superior advantages.
He was a Virginian
born, and a pupil of
Donald Robertson in
the King schools. He
was a surveyor, soldier,
farmer, and statesman,
and early followed the tide
of emigration into Kentucky
His campaigns are matters
of general American history: the GEORGE ROGERS CLARK
Illinois expedition which Robert
Patterson describes ; the capture of Vincennes, which his men
approached up to their arm-pits in icy water through the
subinerged lands of the Wabash ; the relief of Cahokia; the
defeat of the Shawnees; the Hood ambuscade on James River;
and other engagements less important and decisive. Clark
was a vigorous, vital character and a maker of events. He
never married, as he detected a want of braveryin his pros-
pective father-in-law, and objected to any such weakness be-
ing handed down to his posterity. His old age was passed in
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poverty. He felt himself neglected by his Government, and
when, in his eightieth year, a committee from the State of
Virginia sent him asword, he said bitterly: “ When Virginia
needed a sword I gave her one; she sends me now a toy when
I need bread.” The imputation was true. He had
gained for the United States all the territory north of the
Ohio, now comprising Ohio, Indiana, and Illinois, but he
died a poor man. ‘“He had spent his fortune as freely as
he had risked his life. He had supported his troops almost
without the aid of the State that commissioned him. The
bounties promised him were never paid. He won an empire
for his country, but was only rewarded with empty compli-
ments.”’ '

In an address delivered in Kentucky upon General Clark,
his eulogist gives the following sad story of his later life:

“A’hero in war, peace fell upon him like a blight. He became intem-
perate and paralyzed. The enormous land bounties which had been
voted him by the Virginia Assembly for his public services were for years
withheld from him, and he was left, helpless and penniless, upon the
bounty of his kinsmen. The strong, dashing young soldier decayed
away as he approached old age, mortified but still proud. Day after
day, year after year, he sat meditating on the glories of the past, the
ingratitude of the present, and the assured grandeur of the future. His
surgeon required the amputation of his right leg. ‘All right,’ he said,
‘bring in the boy of the regiment and let him beat the drum.’

“What a scene that thust have been! The old warrior with his mouth
firmly set, the surgeon sawing off his leg above the knee, the drummer
boy beating as for his life, as he did when he led the victorious little army
through the floods of the Wabash. The old spirit came back at times
and sat in the ruins of the old temple.” *

Clark died February eighteenth, 1818, aged eighty-six
years.

James Garrard was another of Robert Patterson’s asso-
ciates in official matters. Their names appear conjointly
on many of the Kentucky State papers. They were both

* Quoted from ‘ Geo. Rogers Clark and the Pioneers of Kentucky;'’ by Gen. Gates P. Thruston.
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militia officers, both political leaders, and both members of
the first convention that framed the constitution of the
State. Garrard had a seat in the Virginia legislature, and
was made Governor of Kentucky in 1796.

Isaac Shelby was the first Governor of Kentucky, and
served two terms. He was not an intimate of Patterson’s,
although the two had occasional interchanges of opinion
on State and military matters. Shelby had a fine record
as statesman and soldier. Shelby County and Shelbyville
in Kentucky are named for him.

With men of such widely different caliber did Robert
Patterson live and work, and the presumption is that he
met all alike and formed his friends according to their value
as men, whether a rough backwoodsman like Daniel
Boone, or a Virginia gentleman like Garrard. It is only
when our preferences in the matter of human society are
warped by a too refining civilization, or vitiated by the
excess of everything social, that we find ourselves choosing
our friends according to merely adventitious standards.

On January thirtieth, 1777, the fort at Harrodsburg was
strengthened by the arrival of Col. George Rogers Clark,
Alexander and William McConnell, Capt. Edward Worth-
ington, Robert Todd, and others from McConnell’s Fort
(Georgetown), which had been abandoned because of its
insufficient protection. The year that followed was one
of continual harassing by the Indians. Robert Patterson
was in several skirmishes. He helped to defend Harrods-
burg from attack, and finally in 1778, ‘“not having
had enough of fighting,’* we find him a member of
George Rogers Clark’s army in the celebrated Illinois
campaign — “the most hazardous and most suc-
cessful campaign ever conducted by the Ameri-
cans against the British and Indians.”+  This

* Robert Patterson’s ﬁa-lonnl narrative.
1+ Robert Patterson’s Memorial to Congress.
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expedition was an unprecedented instance of an individ-
ual enterprise becoming a national event. Clark himself
conceived the idea that to conquer the Illinois country (then
occupied by French, British, and hostile Indians) would be
to control the whole of the great Northwest and insure
safety to Kentucky. After discussing his plans with his
Kentucky friends, he followed the Wilderness Road back
to the Capital to lay his plans before Patrick Henry. He
received sympathy and encouragement, but not much finan-
cial help, as the Virginia resources were low. A commission
as Colonel was given him, with authority to raise seven com-
panies of fifty men each (to be paid in land if successful), and
instructions to enlist his men from west of the Blue Ridge
only, as the eastern men were wanted for seacoast fighting.
Ostensibly Clark was to go to the relief of Kentucky, because
any news of his real enterprise would have insured its failure.
Troops were raised from scattered points all down the banks
of the Ohio, and stores procured from Pittsburg and Wheeling.
The news of this projected expedition reached the Kentucky
settlement, and Robert Patterson was one of the first to res-
pond. He joined Clark with ten other volunteers, making
about one hundred and fifty men in all, and in May they
started down the Ohio in flat-boats.

Henry L. Brown, introducing Robert Patterson’s story
of this campaign, says: “The conquest of Illinois by Colonel
Clark ranked in importance with General Washington’s
victory at ‘Monmouth that summer.” Robert Patterson
says:

“In.April I joined Col. George Rogers Clark as commandant of
a small company of volunteers, armed and equipped by the State of
Virginia for the memorable Elenois expedition, and lay in camp on Bear
Grass at the Falls several weeks before Colonel Clark arrived in boats
with the troops from Fort Pitt, bringing also thirteen emigrant families
whom we assisted in landing on the island as settlers. . . . In May,
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1778, we constructed light, rude fortifications on Corn Island, this island
being in extent near fifty acres, which we completed by June first. The
companies camped here while waiting reinforcements which mostly
failed. I had been on the Indian side scouting, and by order of the
Commander led a larger force further into the wilderness. Thirty strong
we crossed the river, proceeding cautiously as far as Blue River, then
up that stream nearly to White River, and returned to the Falls by a
circuitous path without discovering Indians.

“Learning the expedition would be against Kaskaskia and other
French settlements on the Mississippi, and our term about expired, we
signed for another three months, giving me command of seventeen rangers
with rank of Sergeant.”

With four companies under good discipline the expedition
embarked June twenty-fourth, and with relays of oarsmen
working day and night they landed on the small island of
St. Philip, in the mouth of the Tennessee River, on the
twenty - eighth; then with
captive guides they pro-
ceeded ten miles farther down
the current, ran the boats into a creek
near Fort Messac, and camped for the night.
Leaving the boats concealed in the bushes, the officers
and men carrying each his rifle, ammunition and rations, the
expedition started next morning for a rapid march of one hun-
dred and twenty miles to the Kaskaskia, one-half the way
through a thick forest, the other through swamp and prairie.
The Rangers under Sergeant Patterson were sent ahead to spy
out the country, going in Indian file with “flankers,”” and rest-
ing in the general camp at night. Here again is Robert Pat-
terson’s account:

“With every man in ranks two hours before sun we marched six
days through thickets and sloughs, halting for camp by light of the moon,
making meal cakes or parching corn for the next day before lying for
rest. The jerk being gone, and flour and meal used up by the fifth

day, parched corn carried us through. The secrecy of the expedition
forbid shooting game of which we saw plenty. None sickened or fell out
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the entire expedition, and none complained of hardship although march-
ing under scorching suns. We covered the ground so fast as to surprise
ourselves as well as the enemy. From suspicion of the captive guide
after we struck the prairie lands Colonel Clark kept pace with the Rangers
in the lead, but when all came out on the fifth day as the guide and his
party of hunters had described, the Colonel knew we would surprise and
capture the fort, whose commander had no suspicion of our coming.

“The next day being in the vicinity of the fort and on the limits of
a cultivated region, the army lay concealed in the forest until evening
[July fourth], without much to eat, but nerved for a charge into the fort
in the darkness.”

The danger of discovery by spies from the fort and by
Indian scouts increased tenfold through the hours that
Sergeant Patterson describes, as the troops and his Rangers
lay concealed in the woods waiting for darkness. Capt.
Joseph Bowman wrote that ‘“neither officers nor men in
these hours of increased danger faltered in the determination
to capture the town or die in the attempt, although the
place was so fortified that it might have successfully fought
a thousand men.”

Robert Patterson continues:

“We lay quiet as possible in the excitement, waiting for the hour I
was to start with the guide and picked men to spy a way into the fort.
The guide knew we meant to kill him the minute he faulted or even showed
sign of treachery. He agreed to lead the way if the gates of the fort were
not closed, and he proved true.

“Taking him unarmed I crossed the river with the four Rangers,
Simon Kenton, Arthur Lindsay, John Higgins and George Gray. Find-
ing all as the guide described, I sent word back to Colonel Clark, who then
crossed with the troops in boats. With us the Colonel rapidly made
the way along the river to a gate through which we entered the fort
unchallenged. Led by the guide we proceeded quickly to the quarters
of the commandant, Capt. Philip Rocheblave, and made him prisoner.
The troops had followed us through the gates, terrorizing citizens and
garrison. It was a complete surprise and capture. After a good meal
from the public stores we were relieved for a few hours’ sleep and rest,
and were up before the sun in line with rifles loaded for what might
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come, but experienced no trouble. The French were quiet and friendly
disposed, Indians overawed, and the black slaves of whites and red men
peaceful and harmless. Colonel Clark, Major Bowman and the com-
mand were pleased more with the victory as dawn revealed the strong
fortress, arms, powder, lead and provisions, village of near a hundred
houses, mills, trading stores, horses and cattle, a productive farm com-
munity.”

Colonel Clark’s own account, in a letter to his brother-
in-law, George Mason, says:

“On the evening of July fourth we got within three miles of the town
of Kaskaskia, having a river of the same name to cross to the town.
Ready for anything that might happen, we marched after night to a
farm, took the family prisoners and found plenty of boats to cross in,
and in two hours were on the other shore in greatest silence. I learned
they had suspicion of being attacked and made preparations, keeping
out spies, but they making no discoveries were off their guard. I imme-
diately divided my little army (one hundred and seventy-five men) into
two divisions; ordered one to surround the town, with the other I broke
into the fort, secured the Governor, Mr. Rocheblave, in fifteen minutes
had every street secured, sent runners through the town ordering the
people on pain of death to keep close to their houses, which they
observed, and before daylight had the whole town disarmed.”

The most vivid and picturesque version of the taking of
Kaskaskia, and the one used by Mary Hartwell Catherwood
in her novel, “Old Kaskaskia,”” is told by Roosevelt in his
“Winning of the West.” It is as follows:

‘““ Inside the fort the lights were lit, and through the windows came
the sound of violins. The officers of the fort had given a ball, and the
mirth loving Creoles, young men and girls, were dancing and reveling
within, while the sentinels had left their posts. One of his captives
showed Clark a postern gate by the river side, and through this he enters
the fort, having placed his men around about at the entrance. Advancing
to the great hall,where the revel was held, he leaned silently and with
folded arms against the doorpost looking at the dancers. An Indian
lying on the floor of the entry gazed intently on the stranger’s face.
As the light from the torches within flickered across it, he sud-
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denly sprang to his feet uttering the unearthly war whoop. Instantly
the dancing ceased; the women screamed, while the men ran towards
the door, but Clark standing unmoved and with unchanging face,
grimly bade them continue their dancing, but to remember that they
now danced under Virginia, and not Great Britain. ‘At the same time
his men burst into the fort and seized the French officers, including the
British commandant, Rocheblave. Immediately Clark had every street
secured, and sent runners through the town ordering the people to keep
close to their houses on pain of death, and by daylight he had them all
disarmed. The backwoodsmen patroled the town in little squads, while
the French in silent terror cowered within their low-roofed houses.
Clark was willing that they should fear the worst, and their panic was
very great. The unlooked for and mysterious approach and sudden
onslaught of the backwoodsmen, their wild and uncouth appearance,
and the ominous silence of their commander, all combined fo fill the
French with fearful forebodings for their future fate.”

W. H. English, in his “Conquest of Illinois,” thus charac-
terizes this victory:

“It is marvelous that a military post, well provided with soldiers,
cannon and provisions in an old town of several hundred families, should
have been captured without the firing of a gun, by less than two hundred
tired and hungry backwoodsmen, without cannon, army supplies, trans-
portation or even food. This little band had been four days on the river,
rowing by turns day and night, and for the next six days marching across
a wild and unknown country without roads, much of it in brush or swamp
and in the range of savage foes, making ten'days of continuous strain
and labor, and the last two without food.”

Putting all accounts of the taking of Kaskaskia together,
we can scarcely overestimate the bravery of the attack or
the significance of the capture. It was the turning of the
key that unlocked the great Northwest to the American
Government.

Robert Patterson says of subsequent events:

“The Rangers after four hours sleep and hearty breakfast, under
orders of Colonel Clark, reported with a few others to Captain Bowman,
and mounting horses collected from the fort and vicinity, accompanied
by a number of French citizen guides, proceeded on forced march to
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capture a small settlement fifteen miles out, then a larger town, St. Philip,
and Cahokia, distant seventy-five miles from Kaskaskia, which we did
the next day without firing a shot. We found these people raisers and
traders in products, as well as cattle, hogs and horses; traders also in
furs and meats along the Mississippi.”

Having assured the Kaskaskians that they had nothing
to fear if they were loyal to the American Government, and
leaving a part of his men to take command of the fort, the
Rangers pushed on to the other garrison, Cahokia, sixty
miles further north.

“Then we marched on and took Cahokia,” is the way
Robert Patterson tells it in a letter. It sounds easy, but
what problems of diplomacy, of executive daring, of patience
and faith were solved in compassing the subjugation of the
country and the people! The former was a tangled wilder-
ness of trees and streams, the latter were a motley conglom-
eration of Creoles, Indians, British and French.

“Resting men and horses a few days,” says Sergeant Pat-
terson, ‘“we started to follow slowly a priest and citizens
ahead of us on a peaceful mission to Post St. Vincent, and
lay concealed in camp on the Wabash until we spied the
American flag on the fort. I then despatched a messenger
to Kaskaskia, and moved camp near border of the town to
wait orders, meanwhile keeping on friendly terms with the
tribes.”

Colonel Clark endeavored to establish a civil government
and to enroll a regiment or more of troops in Illinois. He
enlisted the aid of the French priest, Pere Gibault, to induce
the Cahokians to take the oath of allegiance. Bloodshed he
wished to avoid, as each successive collision inflamed both
sides to pitiless hostilities; but diplomacy was difficult.
Roosevelt says: “With a handful of unruly backwoodsmen
imperfectly disciplined and kept under control only by his per-
sonal influence he had to protect and govern a region as large



182 CONCERNING THE FOREFATHERS

as any European kingdom; moreover, he had to keep content
and loyal a population of alien race, creed and language,
while he held his own against the British and numerous tribes
of Indians, as bloodthirsty and treacherous as they were
warlike.”” At last, by assuming the demeanor of a con-
queror, offering bribes for loyalty and good behavior, enun-
ciating threats unspeakable against bad conduct, inspiring
his own men and officers with enthusiasm and devotion,
Clark achieved his purpose. Cahokia vowed allegiance, and
the Northwest became American territory.

Robert Patterson continued with the army until the
whole region acknowledged itself subject to the Govern-
ment; but desiring to return to his Kentucky possessions
he declined a commission, and in October was ordered with
the Rangers to join Maj. William Linn and Quartermaster
Isaac Bowman, to guard Capt. Rocheblave and the other

British prisoners as far as central Kentucky, en route to
l the Governor of Virginia at Williamsburg. Capt. John

Montgomery accompanied the escort as bearer of des-

patches and in charge of the prisoners and a large bulk
of important official papers and correspondence captured
with them.

Major Linn, with a portion of the command, halted at
the Ohio Falls, where they were ordered to build a fort
1 the Kentucky shore.* Here Patterson and the volun-

teers, including the Rangers, whose term had expired,

were mustered out, but continued with Captain Mont-

gomery and the prisoners as far as Dicks River. Here

the Rangers were relieved, and disbanding, scattered
» their homes. Captain Montgomery, being given other
1ards, continued the march with his prisoners and des-
»atches to the capital of Virginia.

The home journey was not without its perils. At the
* This was the beginning of Louisville. .
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close of the first day’s travel, the Kentucky Rangers camped
on the north bank of Turkey Foot Fork of Eagle Creek, one
of the many small tributaries of the Kentucky River. They
“spancelled out” their horses (the two fore-feet loosely
tied together), took out their provisions, and commenced
their simple repast in the early twilight. Patterson, with
two friends, Allison and Brown, was seated at the root of a
small white oak tree against which stood their rifles. The
first intimation of the presence of the enemy was a shot
from a party of Indians which killed James Brown. Patterson
seized Allison’s gun, through mistake, which he discovered
when he had run a few steps, and returning, gave Allison
his rifle and took his own. He made for the creek and
jumped down a little cove, but was afraid to ford the
branch, knowing that the noise would attract the attention
of the Indians. He therefore scrambled up the bank and
through thick brush, some fifty or a hundred yards off,
reaching a spot where the dry leaves had been scratched
off by wild turkeys. Here he could pursue his way without
noise. For the first time Patterson turned his eyes in the
direction of the camp, satisfied that he was not pursued, and
at this moment saw the flash of a rifle a short distance
down. He made his escape, walking all night, and reached
Lexington before morning with the loss of horse, saddle and
baggage.

The next day a small party from Lexington, led by
Patterson, visited the scene of the night’s disaster. Brown
was found lying at the root of the tree, scalped and stripped,
a bullet having passed directly through his head and lodged
in the oak. Allison was found a short distance up the branch,
tomahawked, scalped, stripped, and with his thigh broken
by a rifle bullet. Patterson attributed his own escape to
the fact that he ran in an opposite direction from the Indian
party, with the white oak tree to screen him from their
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view until he reached the branch, not more than twenty
yards distant. ’

Despite the short stay that Robert Patterson made
on this spot of ground, most of the time occupied by
the attack, he seems to have had opportunity to make a
claim by cutting “R. P.” on a tree. This piece of land,

-like the Cane Run lands near Lexington, became the sub-

ject of endless lawsuits. Years after, when Robert Patter-
son lived in Dayton, and the claims of later owners clashed,
he sent his deposition to Lexington in reference to the
Turkey Foot Fork lands. The name was given the stream
from the branching mouth of Eagle Creek, which was spread
into three divisions like the foot of a wild turkey. The
“R. P.” on a big oak remained for many years after and
fixed his claim.
The Henry L. Brown papers say:

“Details of Colonel Clark’s successes in Illinois as narrated by Captain
Montgomery at Williamsburg, and the presence of Captain Rocheblave
and other British prisoners, created a fever of excitement. The Virginia
legislature recognized the importance of the conquest by immediate and
unanimous vote of thanks to Colonel Clark and his soldiers.”

Five years later, the State, ceding the territory to the
general Government, reserved one hundred and fifty thou-
sand acres for officers and men engaged in the conquest of

~ Illinois.

E

This Virginia law granted one hundred and eight
acres to each soldier, and to Robert Patterson as sergeant,
two hundred and sixteen acres.*

An understanding prevailed in the Patterson family,
within the recollection of Jefferson Patterson and his sisters,
that this Indiana land was afterward given by Robert to

ou'ﬁﬁoaucalladfor 16 acres in Division 169 of Clark’s grant, as surveyed, and 200 acres in
Ddeo(Dividon



COL. ROBERT PATTERSON "185

William; possibly as one of the considerations in closing
their business affairs on separation in the year 1785, at which
time they owned in common a large herd of cattle and other
accumulations.

Upon recommendation of Colonel Clark, “ For daring serv-
ices in the advance through the wilderness, for the gallant
dash into Kaskaskia; for meritorious conduct in the capture
of Cahokia, and as Commander of the independent expedi-
tion to Post St. Vincent,” Sergeant Patterson was honored
with his first commission, that of ensign (second lieutenant)
in Capt. Levi Todd’s company at Harrodsburg, signed by
Patrick Henry, Governor of Virginia. William Patterson
was enrolled in the same company.

At the reénlistment for the Illinois expedition by Robert
Patterson and his men on Corn Island in June, 1778, to which
reference has been made, Clark had informed his command
for the first time of his intention to attack the British forts.
He then read the letter signed by G. Mythe, G. Mason and
Thomas Jefferson, giving their opinion that Virginia should
allow “each volunteer enlisting as a common soldier in this
expedition three hundred acres of land, and the officers in
the usual proportion, out of the land which may be conquered
in the country now in possession of the Indians, and for this
we think you may safely confide in the justice and generosity
of the Virginia Assembly.”” Had this been carried out, Rob-
ert Patterson’s certificate would have been for six hundred
acres.

While Robert was engaged in the Illinois campaign,
William had been raising corn at Harrod’s, the Kentucky
settlement having escaped molestation. Robert, as we
know, had other things in his mind besides Indians and
British. The home instinct, fostered by the memory of
Elizabeth Lindsay patiently awaiting her lover in Penn-
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sylvania, was stirring him to find a quiet habitation and to
establish himself permanently in the new country. The fall
of 1778 found the Patterson crops harvested and cribbed,
the live stock safely housed for the winter at Harrod’s; and
now the elder brother began to plan for a home with a wife
in it. But orders from the Government changed for a time
these plans. It was thought best to strengthen the frontier
with additional posts and in March, 1779, Patterson re-

ceived orders Virginia to establish a
garrison at so ible place north
of the Kentuck iver.

It was also to recognize
Patterson’s meritorious
conduct in the conquest
of Illinois and to give
him for the first time an
independent command
that these orders were
issued. Given the choice of
location for a military
post, which ~would ulti-
mately grow into a town,

what more nat
the new con
choose the

iral than that
ander should
e his own hat-

chet had marked a TYPE OF THE PIONEER claim and where his

own cabin and crops

OF THE EIGHTEENTH

of corn established

the title? The execution of the Government order resulted in
the actual founding of Lexington. Robert Patterson, with
twenty-five men (the nucleus of that famous regiment that he
commanded later), marched from Harrodsburg to the forks of
the Elkhorn and there began to make an extended clearing.
Robert Patterson nowhere gives the names of all his
associates in this enterprise, but Collins, in his “History of
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Kentucky,” states that among them were James Morrison,
Samuel Johnson, David Mitchell, Josiah Collins, James Par-
berry, Alexander and William McConnell, Hugh Shannon,
John Maxwell, James Masterson, James Duncan, and the
Lindsay brothers. These fourteen men and their companions
proceeded to build the beginnings of Lexington.

Trees were felled and split in halves to use in the stockade
walls. The whole logs were kept for the block-house. At
first the fort consisted of a single block-house surrounded
by a stockade, and for the first winter Patterson, John
Maxwell, James Masterson, William and Alexander Me-
Connell and the two Lindsays occupied the block-house.
The rest of the men sheltered themselves by bark coops
within the stockade. Ranck, in his “History of Lexington,”
says:

“The party reached its destination the last day of the month, and
encamped for rest and refreshment at the magnificent spring whose
grateful waters in unusual volume emptied into a stream nearby, whose
green banks were gemmed with the brightest flowers, and bright and
early the next day, April first, the axes of the stout pioneers were at work.
Trees were felled, a space cleared, and a block-house surrounded by a
stockade and commanding the spring was soon under headway. This
rude but powerful defense was quickly completed without unnecessary
labor. Logs for the walls were chopped with ports and the structure
raised. Long side clapboards rough rived with ax and firmly secured
by wooden pins, formed the roof; puncheon floor, heavy slab door, and
these with openings for light and to carry off the smoke, constituted the
block-house. .o

“The block-house was succeeded in 1788 by a frame; in 1807 by
what was then called a splendid two-story brick, and in 1871 the four-
story inn which still marks the spot where the settlement of Lex-
ington commenced. The spring near the block-house was the principal
one of the series of springs now concealed by a number of Main Street
buildings. When Lexington grew to he a ‘Station’ the spring was
embraced within the stockade, and supplied the garrison with water,
and when the fort was removed the spring was deepened and walled for

A}
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the benefit of the whole town; a large tank for horses receiving the sur-
plus of water, for years known far and wide as the ‘public spring’ of
Lexington.

* * * * * * *

“The block-house being completed was at once occupied by Ensign
Patterson and his company, including John Maxwell, James Masterson,
William and Alexander McConnell, James, Arthur and Joseph Lindsay,
who raised a crop of corn on the ground now covered by Cheapside, the

court house and part of
Main Street, and all other
preparations were made to
insure a permanent settle-
ment.”’

On the occasion of
the centennial celebra-
tion on April second,
1879, of the * Settle-
ment of Lexington,
Kentucky,” George W.

in his address, said:

‘“Here, in the heart of a Vir-

THE sTockapg - 18 wilderness, and by Kentucky

AND BLOCK-HOUSE pioneers, was erected the first

AT LEXINGTON monument ever raised on this

continent to the first dead of the

American Revolution, and here three years later, in the midst of a
revolution which has given hope to the world—in the center of a
country which Boone declared was a ‘second Paradise,’ and watching
with the rifle while they hewed with the axe, Robert Patterson, William
McConnell, John Maxwell, James Masterson, Joseph Lindsay, James
Lindsay, Alexander McConnell and their comrades erected and defended
that solitary spot around which the events of a century have clustered.
Patterson was the commander and leading spirit of the block-house,
conspicuous for his military talents and gallant services against the
common foe. He headed the desperate forays of its little garrison, and
was bullet-scarred and battle-gashed before the age of thirty. William
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McConnell, a Virginian, chief of McConnell’s Station in 1783, the
friend of Boone, and one of the most energetic and prominent
of the garrison, was the right hand man of commanding officer
Patterson. :

* * * * * * *

“The Lindsays [brothers-in-law of Robert Patterson] were among
the most noted and sagacious of the early scouts, doing inestimable
service for the settlers of the dark and bloody grounds, born as they
were for pioneer times and sudden emergencies, fighting with signal
ability and honor in most of the important expeditions against the Indians
and British. Alexander McConnell, known to every reader of Kentucky
history as the hero of one of the boldest and most thrilling exploits in
the annals of the West, was a brother of Ensign Patterson’s trusted sub-
altern, and was killed in the Battle of Blue Licks. Such were the men,
who with their dauntless companions guarded the Kentucky frontier and
made possible the homes of to-day.”

Only three months after the building of the Lexington fort
Patterson and detachment went five miles north of Lexington
to assist William Bryan and three brothers in building Bryan’s
Station, and while thus occupied were called away to form
a part of the command in the Bowman expedition of June,
1779, that first disastrous and mortifying defeat of the Ken-
tuckians at the hands of the Miami tribes. There were in
the expedition, as Patterson states, “one hundred and sixty
men accustomed to Indian fighting, well officered, except
in the person of the commander,” who started for the
Shawanoese villages on the Little Miami. The depredations
of these Indians had been incessant and it was judged wise,
upon consultation, to follow them to their homes and put an
end to their capacity for warfare. Colonel Bowman and
command reached the Indian villages * one night in July.
Sending Logan’s regiment half way around the village of
sleeping savages, the others were ordered to the opposite side
to signal a general attack when the columns should meet.
The accidental discharge of a rifle by one of Bowman’s

* The preeent site of Old Town, seventeon miles east of Dayton.
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men alarmed the village.* Logan, Todd, Patterson and
Harrod charged, and were fighting their way to victory
without Bowman or his men, when the latter astonished
them with a command to retreat.

It can be imagined with what reluctance this order was
obeyed. Under either Logan, Todd or Patterson the attack
would have been entirely successful; as it was, the regiment
withdrew, having captured one hundred and sixty horses
and a quantity of stores. Thus what might have been a
splendid victory remained a colossal blunder from which
the Kentuckians suffered during the months that followed.
The Indians, with their women and children, had collected

in the largest cabins, leaving thirty or forty
huts unprotected, which the Kentuckians im-
mediately burned. It was thought imprudent
to storm the defended cabins, as the
Indian forces outnumbered the whites.
Therefore all property was destroyed, and
the Kentuckians started homewards, Pat-
terson’s company defending the rear. For
eight or ten miles, as far as the present
site of Dayton, the Indians pursued and

" harassed them by scattering fire. Twice
Bowman formed his men into a square
and attempted an open engagement, but
the savages refused to meet them. As soon
as the march was resumed, the attack was
resumed. At length a determined rush was
made by the mounted officers, and the
Indians were routed. This was the first time,
but not the last, that Robert Patterson set
foot in the Miami Valley. It was this ex-
pedition of which George Rogers Clark com-
: { plained that it had invaded the Miami Valley

e * A portion of this battle-field came into possession of Robert
Rt Patterson twenty-four Jrears later, upon which was built a mill
operated by himself and son Franois for twenty-three years.
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instead of joining him in the Illinois country for a move-
ment up the Wabash to take Detroit.

This was the end of two years’ campaigning for Robert
Patterson. Although at the outset he was but just recovering
from wounds, not an hour of sickness or suffering had he
experienced, nor had he been off duty for any reason since
- returning from Pennsylvania. His crops being harvested
and many cabins around Lexington completed, he found
remunerative employment with the land commissioners and
surveyors sent out by Virginia to adjust claims. This gave
opportunity to fix the record of lands taken up for himself
and for his father and brothers, which preémptions aggre-
gated quite five thousand acres, at a cost, it is said, of forty
cents per acre.¥

The land which Patterson owned at that time,} embraced
all the southwest part of the present city of Lexington,
commencing at Locust (now Mexico) Street, and extending
southwest to and beyond the Fair Grounds; bounded on the
east by “Curd’s Road” (now South Broadway), and on
the north by “Scott’s Road ’ (now Versailles pike). Far-
ther south, across ‘“Davis Bottom,” now occupied by the
depots